CWI Tracts

. . . .

Managing Editors

K.R. Apt (CWI, Amsterdam) M. Hazewinkel (CWI, Amsterdam) J.K. Lenstra (Eindhoven University of Technology)

Editorial Board

W. Albers (Enschede)
P.C. Baayen (Amsterdam)
R.C. Backhouse (Eindhoven)
E.M. de Jager (Amsterdam)
M.A. Kaashoek (Amsterdam)
M.S. Keane (Delft)
H. Kwakernaak (Enschede)
J. van Leeuwen (Utrecht)
P.W.H. Lemmens (Utrecht)
M. van der Put (Groningen)
M. Rem (Eindhoven)
H.J. Sips (Delft)
M.N. Spijker (Leiden)
H.C. Tijms (Amsterdam)

CWI

P.O. Box 94079, 1090 GB Amsterdam, The Netherlands Telephone 31 - 20 592 9333, telex 12571 (mactr nl), telefax 31 - 20 592 4199

CWI is the nationally funded Dutch institute for research in Mathematics and Computer Science.

Stochastic processes and point processes of excursions

J.A.M. van der Weide

1991 Mathematics Subject Classification: 60G55, 60J25, 60J55, 60J65. ISBN 90 6196 438 5 NUGI-code: 811

Copyright $\textcircled{\mbox{\scriptsize opt}}$ 1994, Stichting Mathematisch Centrum, Amsterdam Printed in the Netherlands

.

Preface

In 1970 K. Itô published a paper which was titled: "Poisson point processes attached to Markov processes". In this paper he considers excursions from a given state a of a standard Markov process. He notes that a special role is played by the local time at a: labeled with the local time these excursions can be considered as the points of a Poisson point process. This tells us something about the randomness of the Markov process. In this paper, it is also remarked that the stochastic process can be reconstructed from the point process. In this book we will present a detailed discussion of excursions from the point of view of the theory of point processes and random measures. We also give the precise reconstruction of stochastic processes from point processes of excursions.

At this place I should like to thank Prof. dr. C.L. Scheffer for his help by the preparation of this book. I also should like to thank dr. J.G.M. Schoenmakers for his critical comments and dr. W.H. Penninx, who was able to solve all tex-problems. 2 .

2.

Contents

1 I	ntroduction	3
2 F	Point Processes	11
. 2	.1 Topological spaces of Borel measures	12
2	2 Poisson point processes	24
2	.3 Itô-Poisson point processes	28
3 E	Excursion Theory	41
_	.1 Ray processes	42
3	.2 Point processes of excursions	44
3	.3 Construction from point processes	56
4 A	Applications	79
	1 Point processes attached to Brownian motion	80
4	.2 Brownian motion with drift	83
4	.3 Feller's Brownian motions	85
4	.4 Brownian motion on an n -pod	88
4	.5 Blumenthal's construction	92
Α		95
A	A.1 The existence of an S-finite base for the topology \ldots	95
A	A.2 The Skorohod topology	96
А	A.3 Some results on real functions	98
	A.3.1 Result 1	98
	A.3.2 Result 2	99
	A.3.3 Result 3	100

4 .

CONTENTS

Chapter 1

Introduction

In his studies [35] and [36] of the sample paths of Brownian motion, Lévy developed the idea to decompose the time set $[0, \infty]$ in a part Z at which the process is in state 0 and intervals of time spent in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$. Throughout the years this has proved to be a very fruitful idea. On one hand the study of the set of zeros Z led Lévy to the description of local time as an occupation density (Lévy used in [35] the term "mesure du voisinage". See for occupation densities the survey article of Geman and Horowitz [14], who discuss connections between the behaviour of a (non-random) real-valued Borel function and the behaviour of its occupation density. Local times for general Markov processes were introduced by Blumenthal and Getoor in [3]). On the other hand Lévy's study of the behaviour of Brownian motion on zero-free intervals was the starting point of excursion theory. Lévy's theory was extended in Itô-McKean [27], (2.9) and (2.10). See also Chung's article [6], in which elementary derivations are given of a number of Lévy's results. This research led to many deep theorems about the behaviour of the paths of diffusions, see for instance Williams [58] and Walsh's discussion of Williams' results in [53]. Another important application of excursion theory can be found in the construction of those strong Markov processes, which behave outside a fixed state (or more generally outside a set D) as a given Markov process X. In this area the works of Dynkin [9], [10]and Watanabe [54], [55] are important. For excursions from a subset S, see the works of Maisonneuve [38], [39] and Getoor [16]. Getoor gives also an application to invariant measures, see also Kaspi [30] and [31]. Unlike occupation densities, which are also useful in the study of nonrandom functions, excursion theory takes its use from the Markov character of the random process. To make clear the ideas behind excursion theory, let $X = (X_n)_{n \ge 0}$ be a homogeneous Markov chain with state space E. Let

 $a \in E$ be a given state. Denote for k = 1, 2, ... by ν_a^k the time at which the Markov chain X visits the state a for the k^{th} time: $\nu_a^k = \infty$ if there are less than k visits to a. Suppose that a is a recurrent state, i.e. $\operatorname{IP}_a[\nu_a^1 < \infty] = 1$. Then the k^{th} excursion $V_k = (V_k(n))_{n \geq 0}$ from a of the Markov Chain X is defined as follows

$$V_k(n) = \begin{cases} X_{\nu_a^k + n} & \text{for } 0 \le n < \nu_a^{k+1} - \nu_a^k \\ a & \text{for } n \ge \nu_a^{k+1} - \nu_a^k \end{cases}$$

Let $V_0 = (V_0(n))_{n>0}$ be defined by

$$V_0(n) = \begin{cases} X_n & \text{for } n < \nu_a^1 \\ a & \text{for } n \ge \nu_a^1 \end{cases}$$

It follows from the strong Markov property that the sequence of excursions $(V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is independent and identically distributed. It is clear that the process X can be reconstructed pathwise from the sequence $(V_k)_{k\geq 0}$.

For Markov processes with continuous time parameter the situation is more complicated. As an example take standard Brownian motion $B = (B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and consider the excursions from state 0. Let Z be the set of zeros of B. The component intervals of $[0, \infty[\backslash Z \text{ are called excursion intervals.}]$ Since Z is a topological Cantor set of Lebesgue measure 0 (see Itô-McKean [27], problem 5, p.29), with probability 1 there is no first excursion interval. Let $I =]\alpha, \beta[$ be an excursion interval. The map $V_I : [0, \infty[\rightarrow \mapsto \mathbb{R}]$ defined by

$$V_I(t) = \begin{cases} B_{\alpha+t} & \text{for } 0 \le t < \beta - \alpha \\ 0 & \text{for } t \ge \beta - \alpha \end{cases}$$

is the excursion made by *B* from 0 corresponding to the excursion interval $I; \zeta = \beta - \alpha$ is called the length of the excursion. Put $\tau_I = \phi(\alpha)$, where ϕ is the local time of *B* at zero. Itô proved in [25] (see also Meyer [41]) that the random distribution of points (τ_I, V_I) in $[0, \infty[\times U, I]$ running through the excursion intervals and *U* being the space of excursions from 0, is a Poisson point process on $[0, \infty[\times U]$ whose intensity measure is the product of Lebesgue measure λ on $[0, \infty[$ and some σ -finite measure ν on *U*. This means that the number of points (τ_I, V_I) in a set $[u, v[\times U_0 \subset [0, \infty[\times U]]$ is Poisson distributed with expectation $(v - u)\nu(U_0)$ whilst the numbers of points (τ_I, V_I) in disjoint subsets of $[0, \infty[\times U]]$ are independent. Itô proved this result actually for excursions of a standard Markov process *X* from a regular point *a*, and he gave a characterization of the excursion law ν of a recurrent extension of *X*, i.e. a strong Markov process, which behaves as *X* until the first hitting of state *a*.

It is interesting to look at Itô's definition of a point process. Let (S, \mathcal{S}) be a measurable space. A point function $p:]0, \infty[\mapsto U$ is defined to be

a map from a countable set $D_p \subset]0, \infty[$ into U. Meyer in [41] considers a point function p as a map defined for all points in $]0, \infty[$ by putting $p(x) = \partial$ for $x \in]0, \infty[\setminus D_p$ where ∂ is an extra point added to U. Let now \prod be the space of all point functions: $]0, \infty[\mapsto U$. Denote for $p \in \prod$ and for $E \in \mathcal{B}(]0, \infty[) \otimes \mathcal{S}$ by N(E, p) the number of the time points $t \in D_p$ for which $(t, p(t)) \in E$. The Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\prod)$ on \prod is defined as the σ -algebra generated by the sets $\{p \in \prod : N(E, p) = k\}, E \in \mathcal{B}(]0, \infty[) \otimes \mathcal{S},$ $k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ Itô defined a point process as a $(\prod, \mathcal{B}(\prod))$ -valued random variable. For instance the point process of excursions from 0 of Brownian motion is the (stochastic) point function p defined by

$$D_p = \{\tau_I : I \text{ an excursion interval}\}$$
 and
 $p(t) = V_I, t = \tau_I \in D_p.$

This definition gives a clear picture of point processes such as they appear in excursion theory and that is presumably the reason why in studies about excursion theory this definition is always used, see for instance Watanabe [54] and Greenwood and Pitman [17]. Beside this definition of a point process as a stochastic point function, there exists a fairly general theory of point processes which views a point process as a discrete random measure. See Neveu [44], Jagers [29] and Krickeberg [34] for point processes on a locally compact space and Matthes, Kerstan and Mecke [40] for point processes on a complete, separable metric space. This measure-theoretical approach to excursions makes it possible to use some important results from this theory, such as e.g. the Palm-formula, which were up to now not used in the literature about excursion theory. An example of the use of the Palm-formula can be found in the construction of a Markov process from a Poisson point process of excursions. Itô only remarks in [25] that this can be done by reversing the procedure of deriving the excursion process from a Markov process. In Ikeda & Watanabe [22] Brownian motion is constructed from its excursion process using the general theory of stochastic processes (compensators and stochastic integrals). And in [2] Blumenthal gives a construction of which he claims that it is the construction Itô had in mind; this construction consists of a pathwise approximation of the Markov process. The most recent and complete work along these lines can be found in Salisbury [47] and [48]. The construction that we will give is based on an application of the Palm formula and on the so-called renewal property of a Poisson point process of excursions. This construction has in our opinion the advantage that it makes clear why the constructed process has the Markov property and it displays the role of local time in the construction. The same method can be used to write down a formula for the resolvent of the constructed process.

We continue with the definition of a point process as a discrete random measure. Let X be a topological space with Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(X)$. Roughly stated, a point process on X is a probability measure on the space of locally finite point measures on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$, or a random variable with values in the space of locally finite point measures on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ by which we identify a random variable with its distribution. From now on we will use the word point process only in this sense. In excursion theory the topological space X is the (topological) product of the set of nonnegative reals $[0, \infty]$ with the usual topology and the space of excursions U endowed with the Skorohod topology. For example the point process of excursions from 0 of Brownian motion is the random measure $\sum \{\delta_{(\tau_I, V_I)} : I \text{ an excursion interval}\}\$ where δ_x is the notation for the Dirac measure in x. Note that $X = [0, \infty[\times U$ is a polish space. The main reference on point processes on polish spaces is the book [40] of Matthes, Kerstan and Mecke. The theory which they develop depends essentially on a fixed metric d on X, chosen in advance, such that the metric topology coincides with the topology of X and (X, d)is a complete, separable metric space. A nonnegative Borel measure on X is locally finite if it is finite on the sets in $\mathcal{B}(X)$, which are bounded in the sense of the metric d. This theory is not directly applicable to excursion theory. The point measures which arises in excursion theory are finite on the sets $[a, b[\times [\zeta > \ell], \ell > 0]$, (remember that ζ is the length of the excursion) and the most interesting cases are those where the set $[a, b] \times U$ has infinite mass. Note that the set $[\zeta > \ell]$ is dense in U. Thus it is not clear how to choose a metric d on X for which the set of locally finite measure contains this family of point measures. Instead of trying to find such a metric, it seems more natural to define local finiteness directly in terms of the sets $[a, b] \times [\zeta > \ell]$. More general, let S be a family of Borel subsets of X. A nonnegative Borel measure μ on X is called S-finite if $\mu(A) < \infty$ for every $A \in S$ and a point process P is an S-finite point process if the probability measure Pis concentrated on the space of S-finite measures. The set of locally finite measures in the sense of Matthes, Kerstan and Mecke coincides then with the \mathcal{S} -finite measures, \mathcal{S} being the family of all open balls with finite radius. Point processes on locally compact spaces are probability measures on the set of Radon measures, which is the same as the set of S-finite measures with \mathcal{S} consisting of the compact subsets.

So far we did not discuss a measurable structure on the set $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ of \mathcal{S} finite measures, which is of course necessary for the definition of probability measures on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$. A σ -algebra on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ should at least measure the maps $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}) \mapsto \mu(A), A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$. In Matthes et al. [40] the σ -algebra on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ (\mathcal{S} being the family of open balls of finite radius) is defined in an abstract way as the σ -algebra \mathcal{A} generated by these maps. In the literature about point processes on locally compact spaces, on the other hand a σ -

algebra on the set of Radon measures is introduced in a topological way as the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+)$ corresponding to the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$. It turns out that $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+) = \mathcal{A}$ in this case, so we have a definition of \mathcal{A} as a Borel σ -algebra corresponding to a nice topology on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$, which makes it possible to use the apparatus of topological measure theory. In section (2.1) we will define a topology on the set $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ of \mathcal{S} -finite measures on an arbitrary polish space X. Let $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S}) = \{f \in C_b(X) :$ $\exists A \in \mathcal{S} : \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A\}$ and let $\tau(\mathcal{S})$ be the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}), \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S}))$ of pointwise convergence on $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$. If \mathcal{S} is a family of open subsets of Xfiltering to the right such that \mathcal{S} covers X and such that \mathcal{S} contains a countable, cofinal subset, then it will turn out that $(\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}), \tau(\mathcal{S}))$ is a Suslin space whilst the Borel σ -algebra on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ coincides with \mathcal{A} . At the end of the section we compare our results with the results of Harris in [19] and [20], who also defined a topology on some family of nonnegative Borel measures on a complete, separable metric space.

Section (2.2) contains standard results for S-finite point processes, in particular the Palm-formula which is now a direct consequence of a general theorem on disintegrations of measures from topological measure theory. Further \mathcal{S} -finite Poisson point processes and Cox processes are discussed. Section (2.3) is devoted to the study of a special class of \mathcal{S} -finite Poisson point processes on $X = [0, \infty[\times U, \mathcal{S}]$ being the family of subsets $I \times U_n$ of X where I is a bounded, open sub-interval of $[0, \infty]$ and $(U_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a sequence of open subsets of U, increasing to U. It is clear that S is a filtering family of open subsets of X which covers X and has a countable, cofinal subsequence. Denote by $\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S})$ the set of \mathcal{S} -finite point measures μ for which $\mu({t} \times U) \leq 1, t \geq 0$. An Itô-Poisson point process is a Poisson point process P on X with intensity measure $\lambda \otimes \nu, \lambda$ denoting Lebesgue measure on $[0,\infty)$ and $\nu \neq \sigma$ -finite measure on U satisfying $\nu(U_n) < \infty, n \ge 1$. We choose the name Itô-Poisson point process, because the point process of excursions, as constructed by Itô, is of this type. Following Itô, the measure ν is called the characteristic measure of P. Further $P(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S})) = 1$ for an Itô-Poisson point process P. The first important property of Itô-Poisson point processes is the renewal property which is treated here as a generalization of the property that a Poisson process is free from after-effects. The renewal property was already mentioned in Itô [25], but without a proof. We continue with Itô's characterization of Itô-Poisson point processes with a proof using "point process techniques". We end section (2.3)with a beautiful theorem of Greenwood and Pitman [17], which states that an Itô-Poisson point process P has an intrinsic time clock in the following sense: if $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S})$, denote by $\xi_{k1}(\mu), \xi_{k2}(\mu), \ldots$ the U_k -sequence of μ , i.e. $\operatorname{supp}(\mu) \cap ([0, \infty[\times U_k) = (\tau_{ki}(\mu), \xi_{ki}(\mu))_{i \geq 1})$ where the enumeration is such that the sequence $(\tau_{ki}(\mu))_{i>1}$ is increasing in the order of **R**. The sequence

 $\xi_k = (\xi_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$ is an i.i.d. sequence on the probability space $(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S}), P)$. The theorem of Greenwood and Pitman states that the time coordinates τ_{ki} can be reconstructed from the sequence $\xi_{k1}, \xi_{k2}, \ldots$ if $\nu(U) = +\infty$. We give a complete proof of a slightly more general version of this theorem, which was formulated in [17] as a theorem on stochastic point functions.

In chapter 3 excursion theory is treated for Ray processes. We have chosen to treat excursion theory for Ray processes, since this class is in some sense the most general class of strong Markov processes, see Getoor [15] and Wiliams [59]. After a brief survey of Ray processes in section (3.1), we construct in section (3.2) the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from a given state a of a Ray process Y. Since we want to include branchpoints in our discussion, we use a definition for excursions which differs a bit from Itô's definition, see also Rogers [45] who uses the same definition. We call excursion intervals the connected components of the complement in $[0, \infty]$ of the closed set of time points where the process hits or approaches the state a. Let $(r_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a decreasing sequence of positive real numbers and let $U_k = \{ u \in \overline{U} : \zeta_u > r_k \}$. Denote by V_{kn} the n^{th} excursion of Y with length exceeding r_k . The strong Markov property implies that the sequence $(V_{kn})_{n>1}$ is an independent, identically distributed sequence. Let $\tau_a = \inf\{t > 0 : Y_t = a \text{ or } Y_{t-} = a\}$. An application of the theorem of Greenwood and Pitman yields:

- If $\mathbb{P}_a[\tau_a = 0] = 1$ there exists and S-finite Itô-Poisson point process N defined on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$ whose $[\zeta > \ell]$ -subsequence is the sequence of excursions of Y of length greater than ℓ . The characteristic measure ν of N is the unique (modulo a multiplicative constant) measure on U of which the conditional distribution $\nu|_{U_j}$ is the probability distribution of $V_{j1}; \nu$ is a σ -finite measure with total mass $\nu(U) = +\infty$.
- In the remaining case where $\mathbb{P}_a[\tau_a = 0] = 0$ there exists an i.i.d. sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of U-valued random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$ whose $[\varsigma > \ell]$ -subsequence of excursions of Y of length greater than ell.

Note that it was not necessary for this construction to introduce explicitly a local time at state a. Local time at state a will be discussed in section (3.3), in which we construct Markov processes from an \mathcal{S} -finite Itô-Poisson point process. The basic idea is the following. If $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S})$, then $\operatorname{supp}(\mu)$ can be considered as a countable, ordered subset $(u_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in J(\mu)}$ of U where $J(\mu)$ denotes the projection on $[0, \infty[$ of $\operatorname{supp}(\mu)$ and where $u_{\sigma} = u$ iff $(\sigma, u) \in \operatorname{sup}(\mu)$. Note that $(u_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in J(\mu)}$ is not necessarily a totally ordered subset of U. Let $L : U \to [0, \infty[$ be a given, measurable function on U. Define for $\sigma \in [0, \infty[$

$$B(\sigma,\mu) = \sum \{L(u_{ au}) : au \in J(\mu) \cap [0,\sigma]\}$$

$$= \int \mu(d\tau du) \mathbb{1}_{[0,\sigma]}(\tau) L(u)$$

and

$$C(\mu) = U_{\sigma \in J(\mu)}[B(\sigma -, \mu), B(\sigma, \mu)].$$

If $T = C(\mu)$ then denote by $\tilde{\mu}$ the concatenation of the functions $u_{\sigma|[0,L(u_{\sigma})[}, \sigma \in J(\mu)]$, that is

$$\widetilde{\mu}: [0, \infty[\to E]$$

$$\widetilde{\mu}(s) = u_{\sigma}(s - B(\sigma -, \mu)) = \int \mu(d\tau dv)(v \mathbb{1}_{[0, L(v)]})(s - B(\tau -, \mu))$$

where $\sigma \in J(\mu)$ such that $s \in [B(\sigma -, \mu), B(\sigma, \mu)]$. In general we do not have that $[0,\infty] = C(\mu)$. If $B(\sigma,\mu)$ is strictly increasing as a function of σ , then $[0,\infty)$ is the disjoint union of $C(\mu)$ and the range of R of $B(.,\mu)$. Let now P be an S-finite Itô-Poisson point process with characteristic measure ν . We want to construct Markov processes, so we have to assume that ν satisfies the properties of the characteristic measures which arose by the construction of the Itô-Poisson point processes of excursions in section (3.2). But it is not necessary to assume that $\nu(U) = +\infty$. In this context it is more natural to consider a family $(P_x)_{x \in E}$ of point processes, where P_x is the S-finite Itô-Poisson point process P to which is added a first excursion corresponding to a start from x, taking in account the transition mechanism which is contained in the measure ν . For our construction we will follow the above described idea with the lifetime ζ in the role of L. Considered as a function of $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S}), B(\tau, \mu)$ is a random variable on the probability space $(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S}), P_x)$. The Poisson-property of the point process P_x implies that the stochastic process $(B(\tau))_{\tau>0}$ is a subordinator (i.e. the process $(B(\tau))_{\tau>0}$ has nondecreasing càdlàg realizations and stationary independent increments). In our construction we add a linear term $\gamma \tau$ to B(t), with γ a nonnegative real parameter, which gives us the general form of a subordinator with the same Lévy measure as $B(\tau)$. The simple Markov property for the constructed process is proved in theorem (2.3.6). In theorem (2.3.8) we give an expression for the resolvent and in theorem (2.3.9) the strong Markov property is proved under a weak extra condition. In theorem (2.3.10) we give an explicit formula for the Blumenthal-Getoor local time at state a. We end this section with an example of the construction of a stochastic process from a more general point process than an Itô-Poisson point process. This construction is based on a Cox process and leads to a strong Markov process which is killed exponentially in the local time at a.

In chapter 4 we give some applications of excursion theory. In the first two sections we derive explicit expressions for the characteristic measures

of the Itô-Poisson point processes of excursions from 0 attached to standard Brownian motion and Brownian motion with constant drift. A natural problem is to describe all strong Markov processes which behave like a given Ray process Y until the first hitting or approach of a given state a. As far as we know the only complete solution for this problem is given in Itô and McKean [26] for the case of reflecting Brownian motion on $[0, \infty]$. In section (4.3.) we given an interpretation in terms of excursion theory of the parameters which appear in its description. In section (4.4) we will construct a model for random motion on an n-pod E_n , that is a tree with one single vertex 0 and with n leggs having infinite length. This is the most simple example of random motion on a graph. We want to define a process on E_n which is Markovian with stationary transition probabilities. We should also like to have the process to behave like standard Brownian motion restricted to a half line, when restricted to a single leg. Using the results for reflecting Brownian motion from section (4.3) we are able to characterize all strong Markov processes which satisfy this description. Frank and Durham present in [12] for the first time an intuitive description of such a process for the case n=3. They considered the case of continuous entering from 0 in a leg, which was chosen according to some given probability distribution. The difficulty which arises in the construction of this process is that the process, when starting from 0, will visit 0 infinitely many times in a finite time interval. It is therefore not possible to indicate the leg which is visited first starting from 0. The construction that we will give is based on section (3.3); our model allows also jumping in a leg, stickiness at 0 and killing with a rate proportional to local time at 0. In section (4.5) we show how theory of section (3.3) can be applied to the construction of certain Markov processes with Blumenthal uses in [2] and for the construction of which he refers to Meyer [42]. In this book only excursions from a single state a are treated. Recently this approach has been generalized by J.G.M. Schoenmakers to the description of excursions from a finite set of states.

Chapter 2

Point Processes

A point process is a random distribution of points in some space X. The case where X is the real line, more generally a locally compact, second countable Hausdorff space or a separable metric space, has been studied extensively. One always assumes that there is a family S of subsets of X, each of which can contain only a finite number of points. If X is locally compact then S consists of the compact subsets, if X has a metrical structure then Sconsists of the bounded subsets of X.

Mathematically the concept of a point process is formalized as follows. Let X be a topological space and let S be a family of open subsets of X. To a distribution Z of points in X we assign the point measure $\sum_{z \in Z} \delta_z$, where δ_z is the Dirac measure in z. The description with measures on X has greater flexibility than the description with subsets of X and is mathematically more convenient because of the richer structure of the linear topological nature of the space of measures. Moreover in the case of point processes with multiple points the approach via measures is more natural. So let $\mathcal{M}^+ = \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$ be the set of all nonnegative Borel measures on X which are finite on the elements of S. Denote by A the smallest σ -algebra on \mathcal{M}^+ which measures the maps

$$\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(A), \ A \in \mathcal{B}(X).$$

Let $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet} = M^{\bullet\bullet}(S)$ be the subset of \mathcal{M}^+ consisting of the point measures on X. An S-finite point process on X is a probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{A})$ which is concentrated on $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$, or an $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ -valued random variable where we identify a random variable with its distribution. However, the measure-theoretic introduction of the σ -algebra \mathcal{A} is not quite satisfactory. There are several reasons to prefer a definition of \mathcal{A} as the Borel σ -algebra corresponding to some topological structure on \mathcal{M}^+ : a topology

on \mathcal{M}^+ , which induces the corresponding narrow topology on the space of measures on \mathcal{M}^+ , makes it possible to discuss weak convergence of point processes. Further, measurability properties of subsets of \mathcal{M}^+ (for example $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$) can be derived from topological properties and there is a powerful disintegration theorem for measures on topological spaces.

As an example, consider the set of nonnegative Borel measures on a locally compact, second countable Hausdorff space X. Then S is the set of all compact sets and \mathcal{M}^+ is the set of all Radon measures. Let \mathcal{C}_K be the set of all real-valued, continuous functions on X with compact support. Endow \mathcal{M}^+ with the vague topology $\tau = \sigma(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{C}_K)$ of pointwise convergence on the elements of \mathcal{C}_K : a net (μ_{α}) in \mathcal{M}^+ converges vaguely to $\mu \in \mathcal{M}$ ifff $\mu_{\alpha}(f) \mapsto \mu(f)$ for each $f \in \mathcal{C}_K$, where $\mu(f)$ is the functional-analytic notation for the integral of f with respect to μ . The vague topology renders \mathcal{M}^+ a polish space, i.e. the vague topology on \mathcal{M}^+ is metrizable with a complete metric. The Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{B} on (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) coincides with the σ -algebra \mathcal{A} generated by the maps $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(A), A \in \mathcal{B}$. The basic result on weak convergence is Prohorov's theorem, which gives a characterization of the relative compact subsets of (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) . The set of point measures $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ is a vaguely closed subset of \mathcal{M}^+ . See for proofs Bourbaki [5] and Krickeberg [34].

In the literature about point processes on complete, separable metric spaces (X, ρ) one studies always point processes which are finite on the family S of bounded Borel subsets of X In excursion theory we study point processes on a polish space U which are finite on some family S of open subsets. In this we cannot apply the theory of point processes on complete, separable metric spaces since it is not clear whether there exists a complete metric d for U such that S coincides with the family of d-bounded subsets of U. So, before we can study excursion theory we have to study the set $\mathcal{M}^+(S)$ of S-finite Borel measures on a polish space U, S being some family of open subsets.

2.1 Topological spaces of Borel measures

We will first introduce some notations. Let X be a Suslin space with Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(X)$, A Suslin space is a Hausdorff topological space which is the image of a polish space under a continuous map, see Schwartz[49], p.96. The space of nonnegative, bounded Borel measures on X will be denoted by $\mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$. To have a sufficient amount of continuous real-valued functions on X, we will assume that X is a completely regular space, i.e. for each $x_0 \in X$ and each open neighbourhood U of x_0 there is a continuous function $f : X \mapsto [0,1]$ such that $f(x_0) = 1$ and f is identical zero on $X \setminus U$. The

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

space of bounded continuous functions on X will be denoted by $\mathcal{C}_b(X)$.

To define a topology on the space of measures $\mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$, let \mathcal{F} be a class of real-valued functions. Assume that each $f \in \mathcal{F}$ is μ -integrable for each $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$. Then we will denote by $\sigma(\mathcal{M}_b^+(X), \mathcal{F})$ the coarsest topology on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$ for which the maps $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_b^+(X) \mapsto \mu(f), f \in \mathcal{F}$, are continuous. If we take $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{C}_b(X)$) we get the narrow topology $\sigma(\mathcal{M}_b^+(X), \mathcal{C}_b(X))$ on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$ which will be also denoted by $\tau_1(X)$. The topological space $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(X), \tau_1(X))$ is a Suslin space, see Bourbaki [5], p.6.

Let G be an open subset of X. Equipped with the relative topology, G is a completely regular Suslin space (Schwartz [49] theorem 3, p.96). If $f \in \mathcal{C}_b(X)$ then its restriction $f_{|G}$ to G is element of $\mathcal{C}_b(G)$. Define

$$\mathcal{H}(G) = \{ f_{|G} : f \in \mathcal{C}_b(X), \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset G \}.$$

Denote by $\tau_2(G)$ the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \mathcal{H}(G))$. It is clear that $\tau_2(G) \subset \tau_1(G)$. Note that equality does not necessarily hold. Indeed if (x_n) is a sequence in G converging to a point x in the boundary of G, then the sequence of Dirac measures (δ_{x_n}) converges in the space $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_2(G))$ while it diverges in the space $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_1(G))$.

Proposition 2.1.1 Let X be a completely regular Suslin space. If G is an open subset of X, then $(\mathcal{M}_{h}^{+}(G), \tau_{2}(G))$ is a Suslin space.

Proof. Since $\tau_2(G) \subset \tau_1(G)$ and $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_1(G))$ is a Suslin space, it follows that $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_2(G))$ is the image of a polish space under a continuous map. So we only have to prove that $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_2(G))$ is a Hausdorff space. For this it is sufficient that $\mathcal{H}(G)$ separates the points of $\mathcal{M}_b^+(G)$.

So let O be an open subset of G and let $x \in O$. Since G is completely regular, there exists an open neighbourhood V of x whose closure \overline{V} is contained in O and a continuous function $\phi_x : G \mapsto [0, 1]$ such that $\phi_x(x) = 1$ and ϕ_x is zero outside V. It is clear that

$$\phi_x \in \mathcal{H}(G), x \in O,$$

supp $(\phi_x) \subset \overline{V} \subset O \subset G$
and $1_O = \bigvee \phi_x.$

and

Since any Suslin space is a Lindelöf space, the family $\{\phi_x; x \in O\}$ has a countable subfamily $(\phi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ with the same upper envelope 1_O , see Schwartz [49], pp. 103 and 104. Define for $n \geq 1$

 $x \in O$

$$g_n = \bigvee_{1 \le i \le n} \phi_i.$$

It follows that (g_n) is an sequence in $\mathcal{H}(G)$, increasing to 1_O . Hence for $\nu_S \mu \in \mathcal{M}_b^+(G)$ we have

$$\forall f \in \mathcal{H}(G) : \nu(f) = \mu(f) \Longrightarrow \nu(O) = \mu(Q)$$

for all open subsets $O \subset G$. By a monotone class argument we may conclude that $\mathcal{H}(G)$ separates the points of $\mathcal{M}_{h}^{+}(G)$.

Corollary 2.1.2 Let X be a completely regular Suslin space. If G is an open subset of X, then $\mathcal{H}(G)$ separates the points of $\mathcal{M}^+(G)$.

Remark 2.1.3 A Hausdorff topological space X is said to be a Lusin space if it is the image of a polish space under a continuous bijection, see Schwarz [49] p.94. It is clear that any Lusin space is a Suslin space. If we assume that X is itself a polish space, then $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_1(G))$ is also polish and it follows that $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(G), \tau_2(G))$ is a Lusin space.

Definition 2.1.4 Let S be a family of subsets of X. S is filtering to the right with respect to inclusion if

$$\forall A, B \in \mathcal{S}, \exists C \in \mathcal{S} : A \subset C \text{ and } B \subset C.$$

Definition 2.1.5 Let S be a family of subsets of X. A subfamily \mathcal{D} of S is a cofinal subset if

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{S}, \exists D \in \mathcal{D} : A \subset D.$$

Definition 2.1.6 Let S be a family of measurable subsets of the measurable space X. A measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_b^+(X)$ is S-finite if $\mu(A) < \infty$ for all $A \in S$.

Let S be a family of open subsets of X, which is filtering to the right with respect to inclusion. The space of S-finite measures will be denoted by $\mathcal{M}^+ = \mathcal{M}^+(S)$. We continue with a precise description of the space \mathcal{M}^+ . Define for all pairs $A, B \in S, A \subset B$, the map π_{AB} by

$$\pi_{AB}: \mathcal{M}^+_b(B) \mapsto \mathcal{M}^+_b(A), \pi_{AB}(\mu) = {}_A\mu$$

where $_{A}\mu$ denotes the restriction of μ to A. Then

$$((\mathcal{M}_{h}^{+}(A), \tau_{2}(A)), \pi_{AB})_{A,B\in\mathcal{S}}$$

is a projective system of Suslin spaces. The projective limit

$$M = M(\mathcal{S}) = \lim \pi_{AB} \mathcal{M}_b^+(B)$$

is the subspace of the productspace $\prod_{A \in S} \mathcal{M}_b^+(A)$ whose elements $\mu = (\mu_A)$ satisfy the relation $\mu_A = \pi_{AB}(\mu_B)$ whenever $A \subset B$. If $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$, then

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

 $({}_{A}\mu)_{A\in\mathcal{S}}$ is an element of M. To describe the relation between the spaces \mathcal{M}^+ and M, define the map ϕ by

17

$$\phi: \mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto (_A \mu) \in M.$$

Proposition 2.1.7 Let X be a completely regular Suslin space and S be a family of open subsets of X, which is filtering to the right. If S is a covering of X, then ϕ is a bijection of \mathcal{M}^+ onto M.

Proof. Since S is filtering, $\bigcup_{A \in S} \mathcal{B}(A)$ is a ring of subsets of X. To show that every $(\mu_A)_{A \in S} \in M$ is ϕ -image of an element $\overline{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}_+$, we define the setfunction μ by

$$\mu: \bigcup_{A \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{B}(A) \mapsto \mathbb{R}, \ \mu(G) = \mu_A(G) \text{ if } G \in \mathcal{B}(A).$$

One easily verifies that μ is unambiguously defined. To see that μ is σ additive, let $(G_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a pairwise disjoint sequence in $\bigcup \mathcal{B}(A)$ with union
also contained in $\bigcup \mathcal{B}(A)$. Then $\bigcup G_n \in \mathcal{B}(C)$ for some $C \in \mathcal{S}$. Hence every $G_n \in \mathcal{B}(C)$. It follows that

$$\mu(\bigcup G_n) = \mu_C(\bigcup G_n) = \sum \mu_C(G_n) = \sum \mu(G_n).$$

So μ is a finite, σ -additive measure on $(X, \bigcup \mathcal{B}(A))$. Being an open cover of a Lindelöf space, \mathcal{S} has a countable subcover. It follows that $\mathcal{B}(X)$ is the σ -ring generated by the ring $\cup \mathcal{B}(A)$ and that a σ -additive measure μ on $\cup \mathcal{B}(A)$ has a unique extension to a σ -additive measure $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}^+$ on $\mathcal{B}(X)$, see Halmos [18], p. 54. It is clear that $\phi(\bar{\mu}) = (\mu_A)$ and that ϕ is one-toone.

On M we define the projective topology, the coarsest topology which makes all the projections

$$\pi_B: M \mapsto \mathcal{M}_b^+(B), \pi_B((\mu_A)) = \mu_B$$

continuous and is therefore the trace on M of the product topology on $\prod_{A \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{M}_b^+(A)$. Assume that \mathcal{S} covers X. Denote by $\tau = \tau(\mathcal{S})$ the coarsest topology on \mathcal{M}^+ which makes the bijection ϕ continuous. Define

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S}) = \{ f \in \mathcal{C}_b(X) \mid \exists A \in \mathcal{S} : \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A \}.$$

Then

$$\tau = \sigma(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})).$$

Let \mathcal{B} be the Borel σ -algebra on (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) . There are other natural definitions of σ -algebras on \mathcal{M}^+ : define

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \sigma[\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(B), B \in \mathcal{B}(X)]$$

 and

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \sigma[\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(f), f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})].$$

Theorem 2.1.8 Let X be a completely regular Suslin space and let S be a family of open subsets of X which

- is filtering to the right with respect to inclusion,
- covers X and
- has a countable cofinal subset.

Then

- (i) $(\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}), \tau(\mathcal{S}))$ is a Suslin space and
- (ii) $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+)$

Proof. Let \mathcal{D} be a countable cofinal subset of \mathcal{S} . It is clear that \mathcal{D} is also filtering to the right and covers X. Then $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$ and $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S})$, hence $\sigma(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{D})) = \sigma(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S}))$. Being a projective limit of of a countable family of Suslin spaces, $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{D})$ is a Suslin space, see Schwartz [49], p. 111. Hence $(\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{D}), \tau(\mathcal{D}))$ is a Suslin space and (i) follows. To prove (ii) we first remark that the family of continuous maps

$$\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(f), f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S}),$$

separates the points of \mathcal{M}^+ . Indeed, suppose that for $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{M}^+$

$$\mu(f) = \nu(f)$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$. Let $A \in \mathcal{S}$. Every $\phi \in \mathcal{H}(A)$ is the restriction to A of a function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$. Hence

$${}_A\mu(\phi) = \mu(f) = \nu(f) = {}_A\nu(\phi).$$

So by corollary (2.1.2) we have that $_{A}\mu = _{A}\nu$. It follows that $\mu = \nu$ since A was arbitrarily chosen in S. Since \mathcal{M}^+ is a Suslin space, there is a countable subfamily $(f_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of $\mathcal{H}(S)$ such that the points of $\mathcal{M}^+(S)$ are separated by the maps $\psi_n : \mu \in \mathcal{M}^+(S) \mapsto \mu(f_n)$. By Fernique's lemma, the sequence

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

 $(\psi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ generates \mathcal{B} , see Schwartz [49] p. 104, 105 and 108. It follows now that

 $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}_2$.

Let now $f \in \mathcal{H}(S)$ and let $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A, A \in S$. Since f is continuous, there exists a sequence of $\mathcal{B}(X)$ -stepfunctions, zero outside A and converging uniformly to f. Hence the map $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+(S) \mapsto \mu(f)$ is \mathcal{A}_1 -measurable and it follows that

$$\mathcal{A}_2 \subset \mathcal{A}_1$$

Let $A \in \mathcal{S}$ and let $O \subset A$ be open. As in the proof of proposition (2.1.1) we construct an increasing sequence $(f_n)_{n\geq 1}$ in $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$ with $\operatorname{supp}(f_n) \subset A$ and with supremum 1_O . It follows that the map $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}) \mapsto \mu(O)$ is \mathcal{B} -measurable. A monotone class argument yields the \mathcal{B} -measurability of the maps $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{S}) \mapsto \mu(G)$ for all $G \in \bigcup_{A \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{B}(A)$. Since \mathcal{S} has a countable cofinal subset, every Borel set in X can be written as a countable union of elements of $\bigcup_{A \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{B}(A)$ hence

 $\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \mathcal{B}$.

We may conclude that (ii) holds.

From now on we will assume that the space X is a polish space. Let d be a metric on X such that the metric topology is the topology of X and (X, d) is a complete metric space. Let S be a fixed family of open subsets of X satisfying the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Define

$$\mathcal{S}' = \{ G \in \mathcal{B}(X) : \exists A \in \mathcal{S} : G \subset A \}.$$

- **Remark 2.1.9 (i)** The topological space (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) of S-finite measures on X is a Lusin space, see Remark (2.1.3).
- (ii) Even for polish spaces it need not be true that a filtering family of open subsets, which covers the space, has a countable cofinal subset. For example, let X be the space of all pairs of non-negative integers with the discrete topology. Then X is a polish space. A set A is a member of the family S iff for all except a finite number of integers m the set $\{n : (m, n) \in A\}$ is finite. The family S is filtering to the right and covers X. But S does not have a countable cofinal subset. Indeed, let $(A_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a sequence of subsets of X contained in S. For every $k \geq 1$ we can choose an element $x_k = (m, n) \in X$ such that $n \geq k$ and $x_k \notin A_k$. The set $B = \{x_k : k \geq 1\}$ is an element of S and there is no A_k such that $B \subset A_k$.

Theorem 2.1.10 Let X be a polish space and let S be a family of open subsets of X satisfying the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Let (μ_{α}) be a net in \mathcal{M}^+ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $\mu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \mu \ in \ (\mathcal{M}^+, \tau);$
- (ii) $\limsup \mu_{\alpha}(F) \leq \mu(F)$ for all closed $F \in \mathcal{S}'$ and $\liminf \mu_{\alpha}(O) \geq \mu(O)$ for all open $O \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii)

Let F be a closed subset of X, $F \subset A$ for some $A \in S$ and let D be a countable dense subset of X. Define

$$I = \{(x,q) : x \in D, q \in \mathbb{Q}_+, B_x(q) \cap F = \emptyset\}$$

where

$$B_x = \{y : y \in X, d(x, y) \le q\}.$$

The set I is countable. For $i = (x,q) \in I$, the closed sets F and $A^c \cup B_x(q)$ are disjoint. Since X is a normal topological space, there are disjoint open sets U and V such that $F \subset U$ and $A^c \cup B_x(q) \subset V$. By Urysohn's lemma there is a continuous function $f_i : X \mapsto [0,1]$ which $\equiv 0$ on U^c and $\equiv 1$ on F. It is clear that $\operatorname{supp}(f_i) \subset U \cap V^c \subset A$, so $f_i \in \mathcal{H}(S)$. If $y \in F^c$, then there is an element $i = (x,q) \in I$ such that $y \in B_x(q)$, hence $f_i(y) = 0$. It follows that

$$1_F = \inf\{f_i : i \in I\}.$$

Define

$$g_n = \inf\{f_{i_1},\ldots,f_{i_n}\}, \ n \ge 1,$$

where $(i_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is an enumeration of *I*. It is clear that (g_n) is a decreasing sequence in $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{S})$ converging pointwise to 1_F . So for each $n\geq 1$

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(F) \leq \limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(g_n) = \mu(g_n),$$

hence

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(F) \leq \mu(F).$$

Let O be an open subset of X, $O \subset A$ for some $A \in S$. Let, as in proposition (2.1.1), (g_n) be an increasing sequence of bounded continuous functions such that $\operatorname{supp}(g_n) \subset A$ and $1_O = \sup g_n$. So for each $n \ge 1$

$$\liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(O) \ge \liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(g_n) = \mu(g_n),$$

hence

$$\liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(O) \ge \mu_{\alpha}(O).$$

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

This completes the proof of the implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii). (ii) \Rightarrow (i) Let f be a bounded poppedative continuous function on X

Let f be a bounded nonnegative continuous function on X with $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A$ for some $A \in \mathcal{S}$. Define for $k \geq 1$ the functions $u_k, v_k : X \mapsto \operatorname{I\!R}$ by

21

$$u_k = \sum_{i \ge 1} \frac{1}{k} \mathbb{1}_{[f < \frac{i}{k}] \cap A}$$

and

.

$$v_k = \frac{1}{k} 1_{\mathrm{supp}(f)} + \sum_{i \ge 1} \frac{1}{k} 1_{[f < \frac{i}{k}]},$$

the summations being finite summations since f is bounded. It is clear that $u_k \leq f \leq v_k$ for all $k \geq 1$ and that $u_k \uparrow f$ and $v_k \downarrow f$. Hence

$$\liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(u_{k}) \geq \sum_{i \geq 1} \frac{1}{k} \liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}([f < \frac{i}{k}] \cap A)$$
$$\geq \sum_{i \geq 1} \frac{1}{k} \mu([f < \frac{i}{k}] \cap A)$$
$$= \mu(u_{k})$$

and analogously

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(v_k) \leq \mu(v_k).$$

It follows that

$$\mu(u_k) \leq \liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(f) \leq \limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(f) \leq \mu(v_k)$$

Taking limits for $k \to \infty$ we get

$$\lim \mu_{\alpha}(f) = \mu(f)$$

which completes the proof of the implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i).

Definition 2.1.11 Let X and S be as in theorem (2.1.8). A measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$ is an S-finite point measure if

$$\forall G \in \mathcal{S}' : \mu(G) \in \mathbb{N}.$$

An S-finite point measure is called simple if

$$\forall x \in X, \mu_x = \mu(\{x\}) \in \{0, 1\}.$$

The set of S-finite point measures will be denoted by $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet} = M^{\bullet\bullet}(S)$ and the set of simple S-finite point measures by $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} = M^{\bullet}(S)$.

Proposition 2.1.12 Let X be a polish space and let S be a family of open subsets of X satisfying the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Then $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ is a closed subset of (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) .

Proof. Let (μ_{α}) be a net in $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ converging to $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Take $x \in \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$ and let U be an open neighbourhood of $x, U \in \mathcal{S}'$. Then by proposition (2.1.10)

$$0 < \mu(U) \leq \liminf \mu_{\alpha}(U)$$

Since $\mu_{\alpha}(U) \in \mathbb{N}$, it follows that

 $\liminf \mu_{\alpha}(U) \ge 1.$

Consider now a decreasing sequence $(U_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of open neighbourhoods of xin S' such that $U_n \downarrow \{x\}$ and $\overline{U}_{n+1} \subset U_n$ for every $n \geq 1$. From Urysohn's lemma follows the existence of a sequence (h_n) in $\mathcal{H}(S)$ such that for every $n \geq 1$

$$1_{\bar{U}_{n+1}} \le h_n \le 1_{U_n}$$

Then

$$\mu(h_n) = \lim_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(h_n) \geq \limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(\bar{U}_{n+1})$$

$$\geq \liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(U_{n+2}) \geq 1$$

 and

$$\mu_x = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(h_n) \ge 1$$

It follows that $supp(\mu)$ is a discrete set and therefore for n sufficiently large

$$\mu_x = \mu(U_n) = \mu(\bar{U}_n)$$

Proposition (2.1.10) implies that

$$\mu(U_n) \ge \limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(\bar{U}_n) \ge \limsup_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(U_n)$$
$$\ge \liminf_{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}(U_n) \ge \mu(U_n).$$

Hence for n sufficiently large

$$\mu_x = \lim_{\alpha} \mu_\alpha(U_n) \in \mathbb{N}$$

and it follows that $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet}$.

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

Let U_1, \ldots, U_n be a finite sequence of open subsets of X such that $U_1, \ldots, U_n \in S'$ and let $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in \mathbb{N}$. Define

23

$$V_{U_1,...,U_n;k_1,...,k_n} = \{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet} : \mu(U_i) = \mu(\bar{U}_i) = k_i, i = 1,...,n \}.$$

It follows from proposition (2.1.10) that the map

$$\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mu(G)$$

is lower semicontinuous (resp. upper semicontinuous) for each open (resp. closed) subset $G \subset X$ in S'. Hence

$$V_{U_1,...,U_n;k_1,...,k_n} = \mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet} \cap \{\mu : \mu(U_i) > k_i - \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } \mu(\bar{U}_i) < k_i + \frac{1}{2}, 1 \le i \le n\}$$

is open in $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$. Let \mathcal{U} be a countable base for the topology of X consisting of open subsets with closure in \mathcal{S}' (see Appendix A1) and let A_1, A_2, \ldots be an increasing, countable cofinal subfamily of \mathcal{S} . Define for $k.n \geq 1$

$$O_{k,n} = \cup V_{U_1,\dots,U_n;1,\dots,1}$$

where the union is taken over all finite sequences U_1, \ldots, U_n in \mathcal{U} whose elements are contained in A_k . It follows that $O_{k,n}$ is open in $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ and that the set

$$\{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet} : \mu(A_k) = n \} = \{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet} : \mu(A_k) > n - 1 \} \setminus \{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet} : \mu(A_k) > n \}$$

is a Borel subset of $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet}$. So

$$\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet} : \mu(A_k) = n \} \cap O_{k,n}$$

is also a Borel subset of $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ and we have derived the following proposition:

Proposition 2.1.13 Let X be a polish space and let S be a family of open subsets of X satisfying the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Then \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} is a Borel subset of (\mathcal{M}^{+}, τ) .

In chapter 3 we will be interested in a special class of point measures on a product space. Let X be the product $T \times U$ of the halfline $T = [0, \infty]$ with the usual topology and a polish space U. The space X with the product topology is a polish space. Let $(U_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be an increasing sequence of open subsets of U, $U_k \uparrow U$. Define

$$\mathcal{S} = \{I \times G : I \subset T \text{ open and bounded}, G \subset U \text{ open}\}$$

and $G \subset U_k$ for some $k \ge 1$.

This family S satisfies the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Denote by \mathcal{M}^+ the set of S-finite measures on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ and by \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} the set of simple S-finite point measures μ satisfying the condition

$$\forall t \in T : \mu(\{t\} \times U) \le 1.$$

Proposition 2.1.14 Let X be the product $T \times U$ of the halfline $T = [0, \infty[$ with the usual topology and a polish space U. Let

 $S = \{I \times G : I \subset T \text{ open and bounded, } G \subset U \text{ open}$

and $G \subset U_k$ for some $k \geq 1$.

Then \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} is a Borel subset of (\mathcal{M}_+, τ) .

Proof. The proof is analogous to the proof of proposition (2.1.12) and is therefore omitted.

- **Remark 2.1.15 (i)** If X is a locally compact, second countable Hausdorff space and S the family of compact subsets of X, then \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} is a dense G_{δ} set in $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet \bullet}$.
- (ii) Let (X, d) be a complete, separable metric space and let S be the family of all bounded open subsets of X. The family S satisfies the conditions of theorem (2.1.8): a countable cofinal subset of S is the sequence of open balls (B_n(z))_{n≥1} with radius n ∈ IN and center a fixed point z ∈ X. Matthes, Kerstan and Mecke define in [40], section (1.15) a metric ρ on M^{••}. It turns out that (M^{••}, ρ) is a complete, separable metric space and the metric topology on M^{••} coincides with the relative topology on M^{••} as a subspace of (M^{••}, τ).
- (iii) Let (X, d) be a complete, separable metric space and x_{∞} be a fixed point of X. Harris defines in [19] a (nonnegative Borel) measure μ on X to be x_{∞} -finite if
 - (a) $\mu(X \setminus V) < \infty$ for each open set V containing X_{∞} and
 - (b) $\mu(\{x_{\infty}\}) = 0.$

Let M be the class of x_{∞} -finite measures. Define for t > 0

$$E_t = \{x \in X : d(x, x_\infty) \ge \frac{1}{t}\}.$$

The sets E_t are closed and have disjoint boundaries. It is clear that

$$\mu \in M \iff \forall t > 0 : \mu(E_t) < \infty.$$

2.1. TOPOLOGICAL SPACES OF BOREL MEASURES

Harris introduced in [19] a topology on M, which we describe now. Denote for t > 0 by L_t^* the Levy-Prohorov distance on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t)$, that is a metric on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t)$ such that $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t), L_t^*)$ is a complete, separable metric space and the L_t^* -topology on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t)$ is the narrow topology $\sigma(\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t), C_b(E_t))$. If $\mu, \nu \in M$ put

$$L(\mu,\nu) = \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-t} L_t(\mu,\nu)}{1 + L_t(\mu,\nu)} dt,$$

where $L_t(\mu, \nu)$ denotes the L_t^* distance between the restrictions of μ and ν to E_t . The integral converges and L is a metric for M such that (M, L) is a complete, separable metric space.

Consider now the polish space $X \setminus \{x_{\infty}\}$. Let S be the family of open subsets

$$A_t = \{x \in X \setminus \{x_\infty\} : d(x, x_\infty) > \frac{1}{t}\}, t > 0.$$

Then S satisfies the conditions of theorem (2.1.8). Denote by $\bar{\mu}$ the restriction of $\mu \in M$ to $X \setminus \{x_{\infty}\}$. Then $\bar{\mu}$ is a S-finite measure on $X \setminus \{x_{\infty}\}$.

Proposition 2.1.16 The map

$$\chi: \mu \in M \mapsto \bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}^+$$

is a continuous bijection from (M, L) on (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) .

Proof. It is clear that χ is a bijection. To see that χ is continuous, let $f \in \mathcal{H}$ and let (μ_n) be a sequence in M converging to μ , i.e. $\lim_{n\to\infty} L(\mu_n,\mu) = 0$. Then $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A_t$ for all t sufficiently small. It follows that there exists a t > 0 such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset A_t$ and $\mu(\{x \in X : d(x, x_{\infty}) = \frac{1}{t}\}) = 0$. From Harris [19], theorem (2.2) we conclude that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_t \mu_n(f \mid_{A_t})$$
$$= A_t \mu(f \mid_{A_t}) = \mu(f).$$

So for each $f \in \mathcal{H}$ the map

$$\mu \in M \mapsto (\chi(\mu))(f)$$

is continuous, which implies the continuity of χ . If $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{M}^+$ put

$$d(\mu, \nu) = L(\chi^{-1}(\mu), \chi^{-1}(\nu)).$$

Then (\mathcal{M}^+, d) is a complete, separable metric space. Let τ_d denote the *d*-topology on \mathcal{M}^+ . From the foregoing proposition it follows that $\tau \subset \tau_d$.

Proposition 2.1.17 Let (μ_n) be a sequence in \mathcal{M}^+ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Then

$$\tau - \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n = \mu \Longleftrightarrow d - \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n = \mu$$

Proof. The implication (\Leftarrow) holds since $\tau \subset \tau_d$. So assume that

$$\tau - \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n = \mu.$$

If

$$u(\{x\in Xackslash\{x_\infty\}: d(x,x_\infty)=rac{1}{t}\})=0,$$

then $\mu(\partial E_t) = 0$, where ∂E_t is the boundary of E_t . Identifying μ and $\chi(\mu)$, it follows that the restrictions of (μ_n) to E_t converge in $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(E_t), L_t^*)$ to μ , see Topsoe [50], p.40. From Harris [19], theorem 2.2 we may conclude that $d - \lim \mu_n = \mu$.

So for the topologies τ and τ_d we have:

 (\mathcal{M}^+, τ_d) is a polish space,

$$\begin{aligned} \tau \subset \tau_d, \\ \mu_n \xrightarrow{\tau} \mu \Longleftrightarrow \mu_n \xrightarrow{\tau_d} \mu. \end{aligned}$$

One cannot conclude from this that $\tau = \tau_d$. Take for instance (X, τ) as in example E of Kelley [33], p.77 and take for τ_d the discrete topology on X. It is clear that τ and τ_d satisfy the above conditions and that $\tau \neq \tau_d$.

2.2 Poisson point processes

Let X be a polish space and let S be a family of open subsets of X which is filtering to the right with respect to inclusion. Assume that S has a countable cofinal subset and that S covers X. Denote by \mathcal{M}^+ the Lusin space of nonegative Borel measures on X which are finite on S. Let P be a probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+))$. For a finite sequence B_1, \ldots, B_m in $\mathcal{B}(X)$ the finite-dimensional distribution P_{B_1,\ldots,B_m} is defined as the image of P under the map

$$\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto [\mu(B_1), \dots, \mu(B_m)] \in ([0, \infty])^m.$$

2.2. POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Note that it is a consequence of theorem (2.1.8) that probability measures on \mathcal{M}^+ with the same finite-dimensional distributions are identical. The Laplace transform \hat{P} of P is defined by

$$\hat{P}(f) = \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} P(d\mu) \exp[-\int_X f(x)\mu(dx)]$$

where f runs through the cone $\mathcal{B}(X)_+$ of nonnegative, measurable functions. The momentgenerating functions of the finite-dimensional distributions P_{B_1,\ldots,B_m} are determined by \hat{P} as follows from

$$\int u_1^{x_1} \cdots u_m^{x_m} P_{B_1, \dots, B_m}(dx_1 \cdots x_m) = \hat{P}(-\sum_{i=1}^m \ln(u_i) 1_{B_i})$$

where $0 < u_i \leq 1, i = 1, ..., m$. So P is uniquely determined by its Laplace transform. The intensity measure $i = i_P$ of P is the Borel measure on X defined by

$$i(B) = \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} P(d\mu)\mu(B), B \in \mathcal{B}(X)$$

We say that P has S-finite intensity if $i \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Denote by ρ the Campbell measure of P, that is the measure on $\mathcal{M}^+ \times X$ defined by

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}^+\times X} F(\mu, x)\rho(d\mu, dx) = \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} P(d\mu) \int_X \mu(dx)F(\mu, x).$$

It is clear that ρ is a σ -finite measure if the intensity measure i_P is S-finite. The projection $\rho(\mathcal{M}^+ \times .)$ of ρ on X is the intensity measure i_P . If the intensity measure i_P is S-finite, then a general theorem on disintegrations of measures (see Bourbaki [5], section (2.7)) implies the existence of a measurable family of probability measures $(P_x)_{x \in X}$ on \mathcal{M}^+ such that

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}^+ \times X} F d\rho = \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} P(d\mu) \int_X \mu(dx) F(\mu, x)$$
$$= \int_X i(dx) \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} P_x(d\mu) F(\mu, x)$$

for every measurable, nonnegative function $F: \mathcal{M}^+ \times X \to \mathbb{R}$. This formula is called the Palm formula and the probability measures P_x on \mathcal{M}^+ are called the Palm measures of P. From the Palm formula it follows that P is completely determined by the intensity measure i_P and the Palm measures $(P_x)_{x \in X}$. A straightforward calculation yields a formula for the Laplace transforms of the Palm measures P_x . Let $f, g \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$, then

$$\int i_P(dx)\hat{P}_x(f)g(x) = -rac{d}{dt}\hat{P}(f+tg)\mid_{t=0}$$

Definition 2.2.1 A probability measure P on \mathcal{M}^+ will be called an S-finite point process with phase space X (or an S-finite point process on X or a point process if the phase space and the family S are clear from the context) if

$$P(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet\bullet}(\mathcal{S})) = 1.$$

A point process P is simple if

$$P(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{S})) = 1.$$

As usual in probability theory, an \mathcal{M}^+ -valued random variable N will also be called a (simple) point process if its distribution on \mathcal{M}^+ is so.

Definition 2.2.2 A point process is said to be free from after-effects if for every finite sequence B_1, \ldots, B_m in $\mathcal{B}(X)$ we have

$$P_{B_1,\ldots,B_m}=P_{B_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes P_{B_m}$$

where $P_{B_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes P_{B_m}$ is the product of the measures P_{B_i} on \mathbb{N} .

Definition 2.2.3 A Poisson point process with intensity measure ν is a point process P which is free from after-effects and whose one-dimensional distributions $P_B, B \in \mathcal{B}(X)$, are Poisson distributions with parameter $\nu(B)$, i.e. if $\nu(B) < \infty$

$$P_B(\{k\}) = \frac{[\nu(B)]^k}{k!} \exp(-\nu(B)), k \ge 0.$$

If $\nu(B) = \infty$ then $P_B = \delta_{\infty}$.

Proposition 2.2.4 Let P be a Poisson point process with S-finite intensity measure ν . Then the Laplace transform \hat{P} and the Palm-measures P_x are given by

$$\hat{P}(f) = \exp[-\int_X \nu(dx)(1 - e^{-f(x)})], f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$$

and

$$P_x = \delta_x * P,$$

where $\tilde{\delta}_x$ denotes the Dirac measure on \mathcal{M}^+ in the point δ_x .

Proof. Follows from standard calculations.

Proposition 2.2.5 For every $\nu \in \mathcal{M}^+(S)$ there exists a unique S-finite Poisson point process on X with intensity measure ν .

2.2. POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Proof. Let $A \in \mathcal{S}$. The restriction $_{A}\nu$ of ν to A is a finite measure on $(A, \mathcal{B}(A))$. So there is a unique $\{A\}$ -finite Poisson point process $_{A}P$ on A with intensity measure $_{A}\nu$, see Matthes et al. [40], section (1.7). The probability measure $_{A}P$ is defined on $(\mathcal{M}_{b}^{+}(A), \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}_{b}^{+}(A)))$, where $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}_{b}^{+}(A))$ is the Borel σ -algebra on $(\mathcal{M}_{b}^{+}(A), \tau_{2}(A))$, see section (2.1) for the definition of the topology τ_{2} .

Let $A, B \in S, A \subset B$ and let π_{AB} be the projection of $\mathcal{M}_b^+(B)$ on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(A)$ as defined in section (2.1). The image $\pi_{AB}(_BP)$ of $(_BP)$ is a probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(A), \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}_b^+(A)))$. A straightforward calculation gives $\pi_{AB}(_BP) = _A P$. So $\pi_{AB}(_BP) = _A P$ and it follows that

 $(\mathcal{M}_b^+(A), \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}_b^+(A)), P, \pi_{AB})$ is a projective system of probability spaces. Since \mathcal{S} has a countable cofinal subset, it is a consequence of Bochner's theorem (see Bochner [4], p. 120) that there exists a projective limit P, which is a probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+))$. An easy calculation yields that P is the \mathcal{S} -finite Poisson point process on X with intensity measure ν .

Denote by P_{ν} the S-finite point process on X with intensity measure $\nu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Note that P_{ν} is a simple point process iff the intensity measure ν is a diffuse measure (i.e. $\nu(\{x\}) = 0$ for every $x \in X$). The family of point processes $\{P_{\nu}; \nu \in \mathcal{M}^+\}$ is a measurable family, i.e. for every $G \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+)$ the map $\nu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto P_{\nu}(G)$ is measurable. Let V be a probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+))$ and let Q be the probability measure on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+))$ defined by

$$Q = \int_{\mathcal{M}^+} V(d\nu) P_{\nu}.$$

It is clear that Q is a point process on X, which is simple iff V is concentrated on the diffuse measures in \mathcal{M}^+ . Such a process is called a Cox process.

Proposition 2.2.6 Let Q be a Cox process as defined above. The intensity measure i_Q , the Laplace transform \hat{Q} and the Palm measures $(Q_x)_{x \in X}$ of Q are given by

$$\begin{aligned} &i_Q(B) &= i_V(B) &, B \in \mathcal{B}(X), \\ &\hat{Q}(f) &= \hat{V}(1 - e^{-f}) &, f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+, \\ &Q_x &= \tilde{\delta} * \int V_x(d\nu) P_\nu &, x \in X, \end{aligned}$$

where δ_x denotes the Dirac measure on \mathcal{M}^+ in the point δ_x .

Proof. The formulas for i_Q and \hat{Q} follow directly from the definitions. To prove the formula for Q_x , let $F : \mathcal{M}^+ \times X \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable,

nonnegative function. Then

$$\begin{split} \int Q(d\mu) \int \mu(dx) F(\mu, x) &= \int V(d\nu) \int P_{\nu}(d\mu) \int \mu(dx) F(\mu, x) \\ &= \int V(d\nu) \int \nu(dx) \int (\tilde{\delta} * P_{\nu})(d\mu) F(\mu, x) \\ &= \int i_{V}(dx) \int V_{x}(d\nu) \int P_{\nu}(d\mu) F(\mu + \delta_{x}, x) \\ &= \int i_{Q}(dx) \int (\tilde{\delta} * \int V_{x}(d\nu) P_{\nu})(d\mu) F(\mu, x) \end{split}$$

from which the result follows.

2.3 Itô-Poisson point processes

Let X be the product $T \times U$ of the halfline $T = [0, \infty[$ with the usual topology and a polish space U. The Borel σ -algebras on T and U will be denoted by \mathcal{B}_T and \mathcal{U} . Endowed with the product topology X is a polish space and its Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(X)$ is identical to the product σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}_T \otimes \mathcal{U}$. Let $(U_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be an increasing sequence of open subsets of \mathcal{U} which covers \mathcal{U} . Define

 $\mathcal{S} = \{A : A = I \times G, I \subset T \text{ open and bounded}, \\ G \subset U \text{open and } G \subset U_k \text{ for some } k \ge 1 \}.$

Then S is a family of open subsets of X which is filtering to the right with respect to inclusion, contains a countable cofinal subfamily and covers X. The topological space of S-finite measures on X will be denoted by (\mathcal{M}^+, τ) , see section (2.1). The Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{G} on \mathcal{M}^+ coincides with the σ -algebra generated by the family of maps $\{p_A : A \in \mathcal{B}(X)\}$, where p_A is the map $p_A : \nu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \nu(A)$. The family $(\mathcal{G})_{t\geq 0}$ of sub- σ -algebras of \mathcal{G} defined by

$$\mathcal{G}_t = \sigma(p_A, A \in \mathcal{B}(X), A \subset [0, t] \times U)$$

is a filtration on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{G})$. A measurable map $\psi : \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto T$ is called (\mathcal{G}_t) -adapted if $[\psi \leq t] \in \mathcal{G}_t$ for every $t \in T$.

Definition 2.3.1 Let U be a polish space and let $(U_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a sequence of open subsets increasing to U. Let $T = [0, \infty[$. An Itô-Poisson point process on U is an S-finite Poisson point process P with phase space $X = T \times U$ and intensity measure $\mu = \lambda \otimes \nu$ where λ denotes the Lebesgue measure on T and ν a nonnegative Borel measure on U, which is finite on the sequence (U_k) . Following Itô [25], ν is also called the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process P.

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Remember from section (2.1) that \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} is the (measurable) set of simple \mathcal{S} -finite point measures μ satisfying the condition

$$\forall t \in T; \mu(\{t\} \times U) \le 1.$$

Proposition 2.3.2 Let U be a polish space and P an S-finite Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic measure ν . Then

$$P(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}) = 1$$

Proof. Since the intensity measure $\mu = \lambda \otimes \nu$ of P is diffuse, P is a simple point process on X. Define the maps $\pi_k, k \geq 1$, by

$$\pi_k: \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \mapsto \mathcal{M}_T^{\bullet \bullet}, \pi_k(\mu) = [B \in \mathcal{B}_T \mapsto \mu(B \times U_k)],$$

where $\mathcal{M}_T^{\bullet\bullet}$ denotes the space of point measures on T which are finite on all bounded subintervals of T. The maps π_k are P-a.e. defined, measurable maps on \mathcal{M}^+ . The measure $P_k = \pi_k(P)$ is the Poisson point process on T with intensity measure $i_k = \nu(U_k)\lambda$. Since the intensity measure i_k is diffuse, the point process P_k is a simple point process. It follows that

$$P(\pi_k^{-1}(\mathcal{M}_T^{\bullet\bullet})) = P(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet}) = 1$$

 and

$$P(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}) = P(\bigcap_{k \ge 1} \pi_k^{-1}(\mathcal{M}_T^{\bullet})) = 1,$$

which completes the proof.

Let $\phi : \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto T$ be a measurable map. Define the transformation $R_\phi : \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mathcal{M}^+$ by

$$\int_{T \times U} R_{\phi}(\mu)(d\sigma, du) f(\sigma, u) = \int_{T \times U} \mu(d\sigma, du) f(\sigma, u) \mathbb{1}_{[0, \phi(\mu)]}(\sigma), f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_{+}.$$

For $\sigma \in T$ we define the map t_{σ} by

$$t_{\sigma}: (\tau, v) \in]\sigma, \infty[\times U \mapsto (\tau - \sigma, v) \in X.$$

Finally we define the transformation $T_{\phi}: \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mathcal{M}^+$ by

$$\begin{split} \int_{T \times U} T_{\phi}(\mu)(d\sigma, du) f(\sigma, u) &= \int_{T \times U} \mu(d\sigma, du) f \circ t_{\phi(\mu)}(\sigma, u) \mathbf{1}_{]\phi(\mu), \infty[}(\sigma) \\ &= \int_{T \times U} \mu(d\sigma, du) f(\sigma - \phi(\mu), u) \mathbf{1}_{]\phi(\mu), \infty[}(\sigma). \end{split}$$

We will write simply R_s and T_s if ϕ is the constant map $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto s$.

Lemma 2.3.3 Let $\phi : \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto T$ be a measurable map. The above defined maps R_{ϕ} and T_{ϕ} are both measurable.

Proof. Define for $k, n = 1, 2, \ldots$

$$A_{kn} = \{\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+; k2^{-n} \le \phi(\mu) < (k+1)2^{-n}\}$$

and

$$\phi_n = \sum_k (k+1) 2^{-n} \mathbf{1}_{A_{kn}}.$$

The sequence of measurable stepfunctions $(\phi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a strictly decreasing sequence, which converges pointwise to ϕ . It is clear that for every bounded continuous function $f: X \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ with support contained in some element of S and for every $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} (T_{\phi_n} \mu)(f) = (T_{\phi} \mu)(f)$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (R_{\phi_n} \mu)(f) = (R_{\phi} \mu)(f).$$

It follows that the sequences $(T_{\phi_n})_{n\geq 1}$ and $(R_{\phi_n})_{n\geq 1}$ converge pointwise to T_{ϕ} and R_{ϕ} . Let $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. Since

$$(R_{\phi_n}\mu)(A) = \sum_k 1_{A_{kn}}(\mu)\mu(A \cap [0, (k+1)2^{-n}[\times U)]$$

and

$$(T_{\phi_n}\mu)(A) = \sum_k 1_{A_{kn}}(\mu)\mu((t_{(k+1)2^{-n}})^{-1}(A)),$$

it is clear that the maps $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto (R_{\phi_n}\mu)(A)$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto (T_{\phi_n}\mu)(A)$ are measurable maps which implies the measurability of the transformations R_{ϕ_n} and T_{ϕ_n} .

Theorem 2.3.4 (Renewal property). Let $\phi : \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto T$ be a measurable map and let P be an Itô-Poisson point process with characteristic measure ν . If ϕ is (\mathcal{G}_t) -adapted, then R_{ϕ} and T_{ϕ} are independent \mathcal{M}^+ -valued random variables on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{G}, P)$ and $T_{\phi}(P) = P$.

Proof. Consider first the case that ϕ is a stepfunction, say

$$\phi = \sum_{i \ge 1} s_i \mathbf{1}_{A_i}, A_i \in \mathcal{G}_{s_i}.$$

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Since P is free from after-effects

$$\int P(d\mu) \exp[-(R_{\phi}\mu)(f) - (T_{\phi}\mu)(g)]$$

= $\sum_{i} \int P(d\mu) \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}}(\mu) \exp[-(R_{s_{i}}\mu)(f) - (T_{s_{i}}\mu)(g)]$
= $\sum_{i} \int P(d\mu) \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}}(\mu) \exp(-(R_{s_{i}}\mu)(f)) \int P(d\mu) \exp(-(T_{s_{i}}\mu)(g))$

for $f, g \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$. Also for every $s \ge 0$ we have:

$$\int P(d\mu)e^{-(T_s\mu)(g)} = \exp\left[-\int_s^\infty d\sigma \int \nu(d\mu)(1-e^{-g(\sigma-s,\mu)})\right]$$
$$= \exp\left[-\int_0^\infty d\sigma \int \nu(d\mu)(1-e^{-g(\sigma,\mu)})\right]$$
$$= \hat{P}(g).$$

Hence

.

$$\int P(d\mu) \exp[-(R_{\phi}\mu)(f) - (T_{\phi}\mu)(g)] = \int P(d\mu) e^{-(R_{\phi}\mu)(f)} \hat{P}(g)$$

which completes the proof of the theorem for stepfunctions. The general case will follow by approximating ϕ from above by a sequence of stepfunctions as in the proof of lemma (2.3.3).

Remark 2.3.5 Without further assumptions, it is not possible to say more about R_{ϕ} . As an example, let P be an Itô-Poisson point process on X with S-finite characteristic measure ν . Let $U_0 \in S$ be a subset of U such that $\nu(U_0) > 0$. Define the map $\phi : \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} \mapsto T$ by

$$\phi(\mu) = \min\{t \in T : \mu(\{t\} \times U_0) = 1\}.$$

Since

$$\{\mu\in\mathcal{M}^ullet_1:\phi(\mu)\leq t\}=\{\mu\in\mathcal{M}^ullet_1:\mu([0,t] imes U_0)\geq 1\},$$

 μ is a (\mathcal{G}_t) -adapted map on \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} . For $f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$

$$(R_{\phi}(P))^{\circ}$$

= $\int P(d\mu)e^{-(R_{\phi}\mu)(f)}$
= $\int P(d\mu)\int \mu(d\tau d\nu)\mathbf{1}_{[\phi(\mu)=\tau]}e^{-(R_{\tau}\mu)(f)}$

CHAPTER 2. POINT PROCESSES

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{U} \nu(dv) \int P(d\mu) \mathbf{1}_{[\phi(\mu+\delta_{(\tau,v)})=\tau]} e^{-(R_{\tau}(\mu+\delta_{(\tau,v)}))(f)}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{U} \nu(dv) \int P(d\mu) \{\mathbf{1}_{[\phi(\mu)=\tau]} + \mathbf{1}_{[\phi(\mu)>\tau]} \mathbf{1}_{U_{0}}(v)\} e^{-(R_{\tau}\mu)(f) - f(\tau,v)}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{U_{0}} \nu(dv) \int P(d\mu) \mathbf{1}_{[\mu([0,\tau]\times U_{0})=0]} e^{-\mu(\mathbf{1}_{[0,\tau]\times U\setminus U_{0}}f) - f(\tau,v)}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{U_{0}} \nu(dv) e^{-\tau\nu(U_{0}) - f(\tau,v)} \int P(d\mu) e^{-\mu(\mathbf{1}_{[0,\tau]\times U\setminus U_{0}}f)}.$$

Let Q_{τ} be the image of the probability measure $\nu(. \mid U_0)$ under the map $u \in U \mapsto \delta_{(\tau,u)} \in \mathcal{M}^+$. It is clear that for $f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$

$$\hat{Q}_{\tau}(f) = rac{1}{
u(U_0)} \int_{U_0}
u(dv) e^{-f(\tau,v)}.$$

Let S_{τ} be the image of the probability measure P under the map $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mathbb{1}_{[0,\tau] \times U \setminus U_0} \mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$. It is easy to see that S_{τ} is the Poisson point process with intensity measure $\mathbb{1}_{[0,\tau] \times U \setminus U_0} \times (\lambda \otimes \nu)$. It follows that

$$(R_{\phi}(P))(f) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \nu(U_{0}) e^{-\tau \nu(U_{0})} \hat{Q}_{\tau}(f) \hat{S}_{\tau}(f)$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \nu(U_{0}) e^{-\tau \nu(U_{0})} (Q_{\tau} * S_{\tau})(f)$$

and

$$R_{\phi}(P) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \nu(U_0) e^{-\tau \nu(U_0)} (Q_{\tau} * S_{\tau})$$

Definition 2.3.6 A measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^+$ is called recurrent if

$$\forall t > 0, \forall k \ge 1 : \mu([t, \infty[\times U_k) > 0.$$

A point process P is called recurrent if $P(\mathcal{M}_{\Gamma}) = 1$ where \mathcal{M}_{Γ} is the set of recurrent measures.

Note that an Itô-Poisson point process with characteristic measure ν is recurrent if $\nu(U_k) > 0$ for every $k \ge 1$.

Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} \cap \mathcal{M}_{\Gamma}$. For every $k \geq 1$ the support of the restriction $_k\mu$ of μ to $T \times U_k$ is a countable infinite set whose projection on T has finite intersections with bounded subintervals of T. So we can write

$$\operatorname{supp}(_k\mu) = ((t_{ki}, u_{ki}))_{i \ge 1}$$

 $\mathbf{34}$

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

where $t_{ki} \in T$, $t_{ki} < t_{k,i+1}$ and $u_{ki} \in U_k$, $i \ge 1$. For i, k = 1, 2, ... define the maps τ_{ki}, ξ_{ki} and σ_{ki} on $\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} \cap \mathcal{M}_{\Gamma}$ by $\tau_{ki}(\mu) = t_{ki}$,

All these maps are measurable. Denote by σ_k and ξ_k the vectors $(\sigma_{k1}, \sigma_{k2}, \ldots)$ and $(\xi_{k1}, \xi_{k2}, \ldots), k \ge 1$.

Theorem 2.3.7 (Itô). Let U be a polish space and $(U_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a sequence of open subsets increasing to U. Let P be an S-finite, recurrent, simple point process on $X = T \times U$ and let ν be a measure on (U, U) such that

$$0 < \nu(U_k) < \infty, k \geq 1$$

Then, P is the Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic measure ν iff for each $k \ge 1$

(i) $(\xi_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$ is a sequence of iid variables with distribution

$$P[\xi_{ki} \in A] = \frac{\nu(A \cap U_k)}{\nu(U_k)}, A \in \mathcal{U};$$

(ii) $(\sigma_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$ is a sequence of iid variables with distribution

$$P[\sigma_{ki} > t] = e^{-t\nu(U_k)}, t > 0;$$

(iii) σ_k and ξ_k are independent vectors.

Proof. Let P be the Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic measure ν . Then for $k \geq 1, \lambda > 0$ and $A \in \mathcal{U}$ we have

$$\int P(d\mu)(e^{-\lambda\sigma_{k1}}1_{A}(\xi_{k1}))(\mu)$$

$$= \int P(d\mu) \int \mu(d\sigma du)1_{\sigma_{k1}(\mu)\times(A\cap U_{k})}(\sigma, u)e^{-\lambda\sigma}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\mu)1_{\{\sigma_{k1}(\mu+\delta_{(\sigma,u)})\}\times(A\cap U_{k})}(\sigma, u)e^{-\lambda\sigma}$$
by an application of the Palm formula and proposition (2.2.4)
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\mu)1_{A\cap U_{k}}(u)1_{\{\sigma_{k1}>\sigma\}}e^{-\lambda\sigma}$$

$$= \nu(A\cap U_{k}) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma e^{-\sigma\nu(U_{k})-\lambda\sigma}$$

$$= \frac{\nu(A\cap U_{k})}{\nu(U_{k})} \frac{\nu(U_{k})}{\lambda+\nu(U_{k})}.$$

CHAPTER 2. POINT PROCESSES

Let now $k, n \geq 1, \lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n > 0$ and $A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathcal{U}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \int P(d\mu) \prod_{i=1}^{n} (e^{-\lambda_{i}\sigma_{ki}} 1_{A_{i}}(\xi_{ki}))(\mu) \\ &= \int P(d\mu) (e^{-\lambda_{1}\sigma_{k1}} 1_{A_{1}}(\xi_{k1}))(R_{\sigma_{k1}}\mu) \prod_{i=2}^{n} (e^{-\lambda_{i}\sigma_{k,i-1}} 1_{A_{i}}(\xi_{k,i-1}))(T_{\sigma_{k1}}\mu) \\ &= \int P(d\mu) (e^{-\lambda_{1}\sigma_{k1}} 1_{A_{1}}(\xi_{k1}))(\mu) \int P(d\mu) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} (e^{-\lambda_{i+1}\sigma_{ki}} 1_{A_{i+1}}(\xi_{ki}))(\mu) \\ &\text{by an application of theorem (2.3.4)} \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \int P(d\mu) (e^{-\lambda_{i}\sigma_{k1}} 1_{A_{i}}(\xi_{k1}))(\mu) \\ &\text{by mathematical induction} \end{split}$$

$$=\prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\nu(A\cap U_k)}{\nu(U_k)} \frac{\nu(U_k)}{\lambda_i + \nu(U_k)}.$$

It follows that (i), (ii) and (iii) hold. To prove the converse, let $f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+$.

$$\begin{split} \hat{P}(f) &= \int P(d\mu)e^{-\int f d\mu} \\ &= \lim_{k,t \to \infty} \int P(d\mu)e^{-\int_{[0,t] \times U_{k}} f d\mu} \\ &= \lim \{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{\{\tau_{kn} \le t < \tau_{k,n+1}\}} P[\xi_{ki} \in du_{i}, \tau_{ki} \in dt_{i}, 1 \le i \le n] \\ &= \inf \{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{\{\tau_{kn} \le t < \tau_{k,n+1}\}} P[\tau_{k1} > t] \} \\ &= \lim \{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-\nu(U_{k})t} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \int_{t_{1}}^{t} dt_{2} \cdots \int_{t_{n-1}}^{t} dt_{n} \int_{U_{k}} \nu(du_{1}) \\ &\cdots \int_{U_{k}} \nu(du_{n}) \exp[-\sum_{1}^{n} f(t_{i}, u_{i})] + e^{-\nu(U_{k})t} \} \\ &= \lim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \{\int_{0}^{t} d\sigma \int_{U_{k}} \nu(du)e^{-f(\sigma, u)}\}^{n} e^{-\nu(U_{k})\tau} \\ &= \exp(-\int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du)(1 - e^{-f(\sigma, u)})). \end{split}$$

36

.

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Hence P is the Itô-Poisson process with characteristic measure ν .

Theorem 2.3.8 (Greenwood & Pitman). Let N be an \mathcal{M}^+ -valued random variable defined on some probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. Let N be an Itô-Poisson point process with characteristic measure ν . If $0 < \nu(U_n) < \infty, n \geq 1$, and $\nu(U) = \infty$ then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\nu(U_n)} N([0, t] \times U_n) = t$$

uniformly on bounded t-intervals IP-a.e..

Proof. Fix $t \ge 0$ and define for $n \ge 1$

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma(\omega \in \Omega \mapsto N_{\omega}([0,t] \times U_k), k \ge n).$$

The random variables $N([0,t] \times U_k)$ are integrable with expectations given by

$$\operatorname{IE} N([0,t] \times U_k) = t\nu(U_k).$$

A straightforward calculation yields

$$\mathbb{E}(N([0,t]\times U_n\mid \mathcal{F}_{n+1}) = \frac{\nu(U_n)}{\nu(U_{n+1})}N([0,t]\times U_{n+1}).$$

Therefore $(\frac{1}{\nu(U_n)}N([0,t]\times U_n), \mathcal{F}_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a reversed martingale on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{IP})$. It follows that $(\frac{1}{\nu(U_n)}N([0,t]\times U_n)$ converges a.s. and in L_1 to a limit which is a random variable measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F}_{\infty} = \bigcap_{n\geq 1} \mathcal{F}_n$. See Neveu [43]. Since for $\lambda > 0$ as $n \to \infty$

$$\exp(-\lambda \frac{1}{\nu(U_n)} N([0,t] \times U_n)) = \exp\{t\nu(U_n)(1 - e^{-\frac{\lambda}{\nu(U_n)}})\} \to e^{-\lambda t},$$

we may conclude

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\nu(U_n)} N([0,t] \times U_n) = t \text{ a.s. and in } L^1.$$

The statement of the theorem now follows from a general lemma on the convergence of positive non-decreasing functions for which we refer to Appendix A3.

Let N be as in theorem (2.3.8). For $\omega \in \Omega$ such that $N_{\omega} \in \mathcal{M}_{1}^{\bullet} \cap \mathcal{M}_{\Gamma}$ we write $\tau_{ki}(\omega), \xi_{ki}(\omega)$ and $\sigma_{ki}(\omega)$ for $\tau_{ki}(N_{\omega}), \xi_{ki}(N_{\omega})$ and $\sigma_{ki}(N_{\omega})$, see the definitions preceeding theorem (2.3.7). Denote for k > j by $T_{kji}(\omega)$ the index at which the ith point of type U_{j} in the vector $\xi_{k}(\omega) = \xi_{k}(N_{\omega})$. If N is an Itô-Poisson point process, then $\tau_{ki}(\omega), \xi_{ki}(\omega)$ and $\sigma_{ki}(\omega)$ are IP-a.e. defined random variables.

CHAPTER 2. POINT PROCESSES

Corollary 2.3.9 Under the assumptions of theorem (2.3.8) we have

Proof. By definition of $T_{kji}(\omega)$ we have

$$N_{\omega}([0, \tau_{ji}(\omega)] \times U_k) = T_{kji}(\omega).$$

The corollary implies that an Itô-Poisson point process N can be constructed from (U_k, ξ_k) whenever $\nu(U) = +\infty$; the times τ_{ki} at which the ξ_{ki} occur, are already determined by (U_k, ξ_k) . We will put this in a more general framework.

Let $V_k = (V_{kj})_{j \ge 1}$ be a sequence of U_k -valued random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{IP})$, k = 1, 2, ...

Definition 2.3.10 The sequence $(U_k, V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is called a nested array if

- (i) V_k is an iid sequence, and
- (ii) for j < k, V_j is the U_j -subsequence of V_k consisting of those terms which are in U_j .

See Greenwood & Pitman [17].

From theorem (2.3.7) it is clear that $(U_k, \xi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is an example of a nested array. If μ is a measure on (U, \mathcal{U}) and if $E \in \mathcal{U}$ is such that $0 < \mu(E) < \infty$, then $\mu \mid_E$ denotes the measure on U defined by

$$\mu \mid_E (A) = \frac{\mu(A \cap E)}{\mu(E)}, A \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Proposition 2.3.11 If $(U_k, V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is a nested array on the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, then there exists a unique measure ν on (U, \mathcal{U}) such that

$$\nu(U_1) = 1 \text{ and } \nu \mid_{U_j} = \nu_j,$$

where ν_j denotes the probability distribution of V_{j1} .

Proof. Let j < k. Define S_{kji} as the index at which the i^{th} point of type U_j occurs in the sequence V_k . For $A \in \mathcal{U}$

$$\nu_{j}(A) = \mathbb{P}(V_{j1} \in A)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}(V_{ki} \in A, S_{kj1} = i)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \{\mathbb{P}(V_{k1} \notin U_{j}\}^{i-1} \mathbb{P}(V_{k1} \in A \cap U_{j})$$

$$= \nu_{k} \mid_{U_{j}} (A).$$

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

Substitution of $A = U_1$ yields

$$\nu_j(U_1) = \frac{\nu_k(U_1)}{\nu_k(U_j)}.$$

It follows that for j < k and $A \in \mathcal{U}$

$$\frac{\nu_j(A \cap U_j)}{\nu_j(U_1)} = \frac{\nu_k(A \cap U_j)}{\nu_k(U_1)}.$$

Define

$$\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{j} \{ A \in \mathcal{U} : A \subset U_j \}.$$

The collection \mathcal{R} is a ring of subsets of U, and the σ -ring generated bu \mathcal{R} is \mathcal{U} . From the above it follows that we can define consistently a setfunction $\bar{\nu}$ on \mathcal{R} by putting for $A \in \mathcal{R}, A \subset U_j, j \geq 1$,

$$\bar{\nu}(A) = \frac{\nu_j(A)}{\nu_j(U_1)}.$$

The setfunction $\bar{\nu}$ is a σ -finite measure on \mathcal{R} . Hence $\bar{\nu}$ has a unique extension ν to a measure on (U, \mathcal{U}) , see Halmos [18]. From the construction it is clear that ν has the claimed properties. Define for $k \geq 1$

$$p_k = \operatorname{IP}(V_{k1} \in U_1) = \frac{1}{\nu(U_k)}.$$

Then $(p_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is a decreasing sequence of positive real numbers:

$$\nu(U) = \infty \Leftrightarrow \lim_{k \to \infty} p_k = 0.$$

In the next theorem we associate an Itô-Poisson point process N to a given nested array (U_k, V_k) in such a way that V_k is the U_k -subsequence $(\xi_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$ of N.

Theorem 2.3.12 (Greenwood & Pitman). Let $(U_k, V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a nested array on the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. If

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}p_k=0,$$

then for \mathbb{P} -a.e ω the limits

$$t_{jn}(\omega) = \lim_{k \to \infty} p_k S_{kjn}(\omega)$$

CHAPTER 2. POINT PROCESSES

exist for all n, j = 1, 2, ... where $S_{kjn}(\omega)$ is the index at which the n^{th} point of type U_j occurs in the sequence V_k . The sequence of limitpoints $(t_{nj}(\omega))_{n\geq 1}$ is a strictly increasing sequence of positive real numbers. The **P**-a.e. defined random variable

$$\omega \in \Omega \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n: V_{jn}(\omega) \notin U_{j-1}} \delta_{(t_{jn}(\omega), V_{jn}(\omega))}$$

is an Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic measure ν as defined in proposition (2.3.11).

Proof Define for $k > j, n \ge 1$,

$$D_{kj1} = S_{kj1},$$

$$D_{kj,n+1} = S_{kj,n+1} - S_{kjn},$$

 and

$$D_{kj} = (D_{kjn})_{n>1}.$$

Then for measurable sets $A_1, \ldots, A_m \subset U_j$ and $d_1, \ldots, d_m \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\mathbf{P}(D_{kji} = d_i + 1, V_{ji} \in A_i, i = 1, ..., m)
= \{\mathbf{P}(V_{k1} \notin U_j)\}^{d_1 + \cdots d_m} \prod_{i=1}^m \mathbf{P}(V_{k1} \in A_i)
= (1 - \nu_k(U_j))^{d_1 + \cdots d_m} \nu_k(A_1) \cdots \nu_k(A_m)
= (1 - \frac{p_k}{p_j})^{d_1 + \cdots d_m} (\frac{p_k}{p_j})^m \nu_j(A_1) \cdots \nu_j(A_m)$$

since $\nu_j = \nu_k |_{U_j}$, see the proof of proposition (2.3.11). So D_{kj} and V_j are independent sequences of random variables. The random variables $(D_{kji})_{i\geq 1}$ form an iid sequence of random variables, geometrically distributed with expectation $\frac{p_j}{p_k}$. Define the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_j)_{j\geq 1}$ by

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \sigma(V_1, \ldots, V_j).$$

Then for l > k > j and $n \ge 1$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}(S_{ljn} \mid \mathcal{F}_k) = \mathbb{E}(\sum_{i=1}^{S_{kjn}} D_{lki} \mid \mathcal{F}_k) = \frac{p_k}{p_l} S_{kjn}.$$

So $(p_k S_{kjn}, \mathcal{F}_k)_{k \ge j}$ is a martingale on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{IP})$, and it follows that outside a set of \mathbb{IP} -measure 0 the sequence $(p_k S_{kjn})_{k \ge j}$ converges for all $n, j \ge 1$ to a finite limit

$$t_{jn}(\omega) = \lim_{k \to \infty} S_{kjn}(\omega).$$

2.3. ITÔ-POISSON POINT PROCESSES

It is clear that $0 \leq t_{j1}(\omega) \leq t_{j2}(\omega) \leq \ldots$ Since $p_k \to \infty$, we have for $i, j \geq 1$

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{E}(e^{-\lambda p_k D_{kji}}) = \frac{\frac{p_k}{p_j} e^{-\lambda p_k}}{1 - (1 - \frac{p_k}{p_j}) e^{-\lambda p_k}} = \frac{\frac{1}{p_j}}{\frac{1}{p_j} + \lambda}.$$

It follows that the random variables $t_{j1}, t_{j,n+1} - t_{j,n}, n \ge 1$ are independent and exponentially distributed with expectation p_j . So IP-a.s. the sequence $(t_{jn}(\omega))_{n\ge 1}$ is strictly increasing. Theorem (2.3.7) implies that

$$\omega \in \Omega \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n: V_{jn}(\omega) \notin U_{j-1}} \delta_{(t_{jn}(\omega), V_{jn}(\omega))}$$

is a Poisson point process on $T \times U$ with intensity measure $\lambda \otimes \nu$.

Let $N': \Omega \mapsto \mathcal{M}^+$ be an Itô-Poisson point process with characteristic measure ν' such that the U_k -subsequence $(\xi'_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$ of N' is V_k . Using the notations and definitions of theorem (2.3.13) we get:

Corollary 2.3.13 There exists a positive constant c such that for $j, n \ge 1$

$$u' = c\nu \text{ and } \tau'_{jn} = \frac{1}{c}t_{jn}$$

Proof. Since

$$\mathbf{IP}(\xi'_{k_1} \in U_1) = p_k \text{ but also } \mathbf{IP}(\xi'_{k_1} \in U_1) = \frac{\nu'(U_1)}{\nu'(U_k)},$$

it follows that

$$\nu'(U_k) = \frac{1}{p_k}\nu'(U_1).$$

Hence for $A \in \mathcal{U}, A \subset U_k, k \geq 1$

$$\nu'(A) = \nu'(U_k) \mathbb{P}(\xi'_{k1} \in A) = \frac{\nu'(U_1)}{p_k} \frac{\nu(A)}{\nu(U_k)} = \nu'(U_1)\nu(A).$$

So $\nu' = c\nu$ on the ring $\bigcup \mathcal{B}(U_k)$, where $c = \nu'(U_1)$. Finally for $j, n \ge 1$

$$\tau'_{jn} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{\nu'(U_k)} S'_{kjn} = \frac{1}{c} \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{p_k} S_{kjn} = \frac{1}{c} t_{jn}.$$

Corollary 2.3.14 Let $(U_k, V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a nested array on the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. If

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}p_k>0,$$

CHAPTER 2. POINT PROCESSES

then for IP-a.e ω the limits

$$\xi_n(\omega) = \lim_{k \to \infty} V_{kn}(\omega)$$

exist for every $n \ge 1$. The sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\ge 1}$ is an iid sequence of random variables,

$$\operatorname{IP}(\xi_n \in A) = \frac{\nu(A)}{\nu(U)}, A \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Further the (U_k) -subsequence of the sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is \mathbb{P} -a.s. equal to $(V_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$.

Proof. Since $\lim_{k\to\infty} p_k > 0$, it follows from the proof of theorem (2.3.13) that $\lim_{k\to\infty} S_{kjn}(\omega)$ exists IP-a.es.. So for every $n \ge 1$, and for k sufficiently large, say $k > K_n$, the term S_{k1n} is constant. It follows that $(V_{k1}, \ldots, V_{kM_n})$ is constant for $k > K_n$, where $M_n = \lim_{k\to\infty} S_{k1n} \ge n$. Define for $n \ge 1$: $\xi_n = \lim_{k\to\infty} V_{kn}$. It is clear that the sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\ge 1}$ is an iid sequence of random variables. Let $A \in \mathcal{U}$, then

$$\mathbb{P}(\xi_n \in A) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}(V_{kn} \in A) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\nu(A \cap U_k)}{\nu(U_k)} = \frac{\nu(A)}{\nu(U)}.$$

Finally, it is clear that the (U_k) -subsequence of the sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is IP-a.s. equal to $(V_{ki})_{i\geq 1}$.

Chapter 3

Excursion Theory

Let Y be a standard Markov process with state space S and let $a \in S$ be a given state, which is recurrent for Y. In [25] Itô defined the excursion process of Y with respect to \mathbb{IP}_a in the following way: let S(t) be the inverse local time of Y at a. If t is such that S(t-) < S(t), then the function u_t defined by

$$u_t(s) = \begin{cases} Y(S(t-)+s) & , 0 \le s < S(t) - S(t-) \\ a & , s \ge S(t) - S(t-) \end{cases}$$

is called the excursion of Y in]S(t-), S(t)[. Itô proved that the random distribution of the points $(t, u_t), t \in \{s : S(s-) < S(s)\}$, is a Poisson point process on $[0, \infty[\times U]$, where U denotes the space of all excursions. In the first part of this chapter we will study the excursions of a Ray process Y in the maximal components of $[0, \infty[\setminus Z],$ where $Z = \{t \in [0, \infty[: Y_t = a \text{ or } Y_{t-} = a\}$. The strong Markov property implies that the sequence of excursions in the intervals of length greater than a given positive real number r, is an iid sequence with respect to \mathbb{P}_a . Using the the theorem of Greenwood & Pitman (see section (2.3)) one can construct the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions without the explicit introduction of the local time; the characteristic measure ν is determined by the sub-Markov semigroup $(K_t)_{t>0}$ defined by

$$K_t(x, dy) = \mathbb{IP} - x[Y_t \in dy : Y_s, Y_{s-} \neq a \text{ for all } s \leq t]$$

and an entrance law for the semigroup (K_t) . If the state *a* is regular for *Y*, the total mass of ν is ∞ .

In the last part of the chapter we construct stochastic processes from Itô-Poisson point processes. Let P be an Itô-Poisson point process with

characteristic measure ν determined by the semigroup (K_t) and an entrance law $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ for the semigroup (K_t) such that $\eta(\{a\}) = 0$ for every s > 0 and

$$\int_U (1-e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du)<\infty.$$

The stochastic process Y constructed by concatenation of the excursions of P will turn out to have the simple Markov property: the proof of this property is based on an application of the renewal property of Itô-Poisson point processes and an application of the Palm formula. Of course, the assumptions about ν are necessary to get a Markov evolution of the process inside an excursion. We will give sufficient conditions for the process Y to be a Ray process. A simple calculation based on the Palm formula will give a formula for the resolvent of Y. Further we will give a formula for the Blumenthal-Getoor local time of Y at state a. Finally we will give an example of the construction of a Markov process from a Cox point process.

3.1 Ray processes

This section contains a summary of some important properties of Ray processes. For proofs we refer to the books of Getoor [15] and Williams [59]. Let E denote a compact metric space with Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{E} .

Definition 3.1.1 Let C(E) be the space of continuous functions on E. A family $(R_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ of kernels on (E, \mathcal{E}) is called a Ray resolvent if

- (i) $\forall \lambda > 0 : \lambda R_{\lambda} 1 \leq 1$, (sub-Markov property),
- (ii) $\forall \lambda, \mu > 0 : R_{\lambda} R_{\mu} + (\lambda \mu)R_{\lambda}R_{\mu} = 0$ (resolvent equation),
- (iii) $\forall \lambda > 0 : R_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}(E)) \subset \mathcal{C}(E),$
- (iv) $\bigcup_{\alpha>0} CSM^{\alpha}$ separates the points of E (Ray property),

where CSM^{α} is the family of continuous α -supermedian functions relative to (R_{λ}) .

There is a standard construction to change a Ray resolvent (R_{λ}) into a Markov Ray resolvent (i.e. $\lambda R_{\lambda} 1 = 1$ for every $\lambda > 0$) on a space E' which arises from E by adjoining an isolated point. So assume that $(R_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ is a Markov resolvent on E. The construction of the Ray process with resolvent (R_{λ}) goes via a Markov semigroup $(P_t)_{t\geq 0}$ whose existence and uniqueness is guaranteed by a theorem of Ray.

3.1. RAY PROCESSES

Theorem 3.1.2 (Ray). Let (R_{λ}) be a Markov Ray resolvent on a compact metric space E. Then there exists a unique Markov semigroup $(P_t)_{t\geq 0}$ satisfying for $f \in C(E)$ and $x \in E$

(i) $t \mapsto P_t f(x)$ is right continuous on $[0, \infty]$,

(ii)
$$\forall \lambda > 0; R_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} P_{t}f(x) dt.$$

Proof. See Williams [59], p.187.

We continue with a brief description of the construction of the canonical realization of the Markov process with transition semigroup (P_t) . The sample space Ω will be the space $D_{[0,\infty[}(E)$ of càdlàg functions from $[0,\infty[$ to E. Let $Y = (Y_t)_{t>0}$ be the coordinate process on Ω :

$$Y_t(\omega) = \omega(t)$$
 for $\omega \in \Omega, t \ge 0$.

Let \mathcal{F}_t° be the σ -algebra $\sigma(Y_s, 0 \leq s \leq t)$ on Ω generated by the maps $Y_s, s \leq t$, and $\mathcal{F}^{\circ} = \sigma(Y_t, t \geq 0)$. For every probability measure μ on $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$, there exists a unique probability measure \mathbb{IP}_{μ} on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\circ})$ such that for $0 \leq t_1 \leq \ldots \leq t_n$

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{IP}_{\mu}(Y_{0} \in dx_{0}, Y_{t_{i}} \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n) \\ & = \int \mu(dx) P_{0}(x, dx_{0}) P_{t_{1}}(x_{0}, dx_{1}) P_{t_{2}-t_{1}}(x_{1}, dx_{2}) \cdots P_{t_{n}-t_{n-1}}(x_{n-1}, dx_{n}). \end{aligned}$$

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\mu}, \{\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_t\})$ be the usual \mathbb{P}_{μ} -augmentation of $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\circ}, \{\mathcal{F}^{\circ}_t\})$, where \mathcal{F}^{μ} is the \mathbb{P}_{μ} -completion of \mathcal{F}° and \mathcal{F}^{μ}_t the σ -algebra generated by $\mathcal{F}^{\circ}_{t+} = \bigcap_{s>t} \mathcal{F}^{\circ}_s$ and the class of all \mathbb{P}_{μ} -null sets in \mathcal{F}^{μ} . Then

$$Y = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\mu}, \{\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_t\}, (Y_t)_{t \ge 0}, \mathbb{P}_{\mu})$$

is a strong Markov process, this means that for every $\{\mathcal{F}_t^{\mu}\}$ -stopping time T and every bounded \mathcal{F}^{μ} -measurable random variable η on Ω

$$\mathbb{E}[\eta \circ \theta_T \mathbb{1}_{[T < \infty]} \mid \mathcal{F}_T^{\mu}] = \mathbb{E}_{Y(T)}[\eta] \mathbb{1}_{[T < \infty]} \mathbb{I}_{\mu}\text{-a.s.},$$

see Getoor [15], p.24. Let D be the set of $x \in E$ such that $P_0(x, .) = \delta_x$. The set D is a Borel subset of E. Points in $B = E \setminus D$ are called branchpoints. For every μ we have

$$\mathbb{P}_{\mu}[Y_t \in D, \forall t \ge 0] = 1.$$

So the paths $t \in [0, \infty[\mapsto Y_t(\omega)]$ are a.s. right continuous functions with values in D and left limits in E.

Theorem 3.1.3 Let μ be a probability measure on E and let

$$Y = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\mu}, \{\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_t\}, (Y_t)_{t \ge 0}, \mathbb{P}_{\mu})$$

be as above. Let (τ_n) be an increasing sequence of $\{\mathcal{F}_t^{\mu}\}$ - stopping times. Let $\tau = \sup \tau_n$ and $\Lambda = [\tau < \infty \text{ and } \forall n : \tau_n < \tau]$. If f is a bounded universally measurable function on E, then \mathbb{P}_{μ} -a.s. we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mu}[f \circ Y_{\tau} 1_{[\tau < \infty]} | \bigvee_{n \ge 1} \mathcal{F}_{\tau_n}^{\mu}] = f \circ Y_{\tau} 1_{[\tau < \infty]} 1_{\Lambda^c} + P_0 f(Y_{\tau-}) 1_{\Lambda}.$$

Proof. See Getoor [15], p.25.

Definition 3.1.4 Let (R_{λ}) be a Markov Ray resolvent on the compact metric space E. The canonical realization of the Ray process associated with the resolvent (R_{λ}) is the collection of quintuples

$$Y = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}^{\mu}, \{\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_t\}, (Y_t)_{t>0}, \mathbb{IP}_{\mu})$$

where μ runs through the set of probability measures on (E, \mathcal{E}) .

We will need the following notations

$$\mathcal{F} = \bigcap_{\mu} \mathcal{F}^{\mu} ext{ and } \mathcal{F}_t = \bigcap_{\mu} \mathcal{F}_t^{\mu}.$$

Note that $Y = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}, (Y_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbb{P}_{\mu})$ has also the strong Markov property.

3.2 Point processes of excursions

Let Y be the canonical realization of the Ray process with Ray resolvent $(R_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ on the compact metric state space E. We will use the notations introduced in section (3.1). Let a be a given state. The polish space of càdlàg functions $f : [0, \infty[\mapsto E \text{ will be denoted by } U$, see appendix A2. The Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{U} on U coincides with the σ -algebra generated by the coordinate evaluations. For $f \in U$, let Z(f) be the closed set of points at which f approaches or hits the state a:

$$Z(f) = \{t \in [0, \infty[: f(t) = a \text{ or } f(t-) = a\}.$$

The connected components of $[0, \infty[\backslash Z(f)]$ are called excursion intervals from a of f. Let I =]D, T[be an excursion interval of f. The map $V_I(f) :$ $[0, \infty[\mapsto E]$ defined by

$$V_I(f)(t) = \begin{cases} f(D+t) & \text{if } 0 \le t \le T - D \\ a & \text{if } t \ge T - D \end{cases}$$

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

is called the excursion of the function f from point a on the excursion interval I. If it is clear from which point the excursions are considered, we will speak simply of excursions and excursion intervals of f. The map $\zeta : f \in U \mapsto \zeta_f \in [0, \infty[$ defined by

$$\zeta_f = \inf(Z(f) \setminus \{0\})$$

is a lower semi-continuous function, see appendix A2. If $inf(Z(f)\setminus\{0\}) > 0$, then ζ_f is the first time after zero at which f hits or approaches the state a. The length (or the duration) of the excursion $V_I(f)$ is defined by $\zeta(V_I(f) = T - D)$. Let r be a positive real number. We will now study the excursions of length greater than r of the realizations of the Ray process Y. Denote by $(]D_n(\omega), T_n(\omega)]_{n\geq 1}$ the sequence of all excursion intervals of $Y(\omega)$ with length exceeding r, enumerated in such a way that $D_n(\omega) < D_{n+1}(\omega), n \geq 1$. This sequence is at most countable, and it is also possible that there are only finitely many excursion intervals of length exceeding r. The excursion corresponding to the excursion interval $]D_n(\omega), T_n(\omega)[$ will be denoted by $V_n(\omega)$. Note that $V_n : \omega \in \Omega \mapsto V_n(\omega) \in U$ is a partially defined, U-valued random variable. Define $T_n(\omega) = +\infty$ if there are less than n excursion intervals of length exceeding r. Note that the mappings T_n are (\mathcal{F}_t) -stopping times. With the above introduced definitions and notations we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2.1 Let Y be a Ray process on $E, a \in E$ and r > 0.

- (i) The sequence of excursion intervals from a of lenght greater than r is \mathbb{P}_a -a.s. an infinite sequence if and only if $\mathbb{P}_a[T_1 < \infty] = 1$.
- (ii) If $\mathbb{P}_a[T_1 < \infty] = 1$, then the sequence $(V_n)_{n \ge 1}$ of excursions from a of length greater than r is an iid sequence of U-valued random variables.

Proof. We start with the construction of a sequence $(\tau_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of (\mathcal{F}_t°) -stopping times which increase to T_1 . Let $(\delta_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a sequence of positive real numbers, strictly decreasing to zero: $\delta_n \downarrow 0(n \to \infty)$. Define for $n \geq 1$:

$$\tau_n = \inf\{t > r : Y_t \in B_a(\delta_n) \text{ and } Y_s, Y_{s-} \neq a, s \in [t-r, t]\}$$

where $B_a(\delta_n)$ is the open ball in E with center a and radius δ_n . Define

$$au = \sup au_n$$

and

$$\Lambda = [\tau < \infty; \forall n \ge 1 : \tau_n < \tau].$$

Let $\omega \in \Omega$ and let t be such that $Y_t(\omega)$ or $Y_{t-}(\omega) = a$ and $Y_s(\omega), Y_{s-}(\omega) \neq a$ for all $s \in [t-r, t[$. If $Y_t(\omega) = a$, then $\tau_n \leq t$ for all $n \geq 1$. If $Y_{t-}(\omega) = a$,

then for every $n \geq 1$ there exists a positive real number ϵ_n such that $Y_r(\omega) \in B_a(\delta_n)$ for all $r \in]t - \epsilon_n, t[$. Since $Y_{(t-r)-}(\omega) \neq a$ there exists an $\eta > 0$ such that $Y_s(\omega), Y_{s-}(\omega) \neq a$ for all $s \in [t - r - \eta, t - r]$. Hence $\tau_n(\omega) \leq t - \min(\epsilon_n, \eta) \leq t$. Consequently in both cases we have $\forall n \geq 1 : \tau_n(\omega) \leq t$. It follows that

$$\tau(\omega) \leq T_1(\omega).$$

To prove the converse inequality we consider first the case that $\omega \in \Lambda$. Since $Y_{\tau_n}(\omega) \in \overline{B_a(\delta_n)}$, it follows that $Y_{\tau_n}(\omega) = a$. Further, it is clear that

$$\forall s \in [\tau(\omega) - r, \tau(\omega)[: Y_s(\omega), Y_{s-}(\omega), \neq a.$$

Hence $\tau(\omega)$ is the right-hand endpoint of an excursion interval of length greater than r and it follows that $T_1(\omega) \leq \tau(\omega)$ for $\omega \in \Lambda$.

Suppose now that $\omega \notin \Lambda$ and $\tau(\omega) < \infty$. For k sufficiently large, $\tau_k(\omega) = \tau(\omega)$. This implies that $Y_{\tau(\omega)}(\omega) = a$ and

$$\forall s \in [\tau(\omega) - r, \tau(\omega)] \colon Y_s(\omega), Y_{s-}(\omega) \neq a.$$

It follows that for every $\omega \in \Omega$

 $T_1(\omega) \leq \tau(\omega).$

Hence

$$T_1 \equiv \tau.$$

To prove (i) let $A_n = [T_n < \infty]$ be the event that there are at least n excursions of length greater than r and let A be the event that there is an infinite sequence of excursions of length greater than r.

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}_{a}(A_{n+1}) &= \mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{1}_{[T_{1} < \infty]} \mathbb{1}_{A_{n}} \circ \theta_{T_{1}}) \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{1}_{[T_{1} < \infty]} \mathbb{P}_{Y(T_{1})}(A_{n})) \text{ (strong Markov property)} \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{1}_{[T_{1} < \infty]} \mathbb{P}_{Y(T_{1})}(A_{n}) \mid \bigvee \mathcal{F}_{\tau_{n}})) \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{1}_{[T_{1} < \infty]} \mathbb{P}_{Y(T_{1})}(A_{n})\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda^{\circ}} + \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda} \int P_{0}(Y_{T_{1-}}, dy) \mathbb{P}_{y}(A_{n})) \end{split}$$

by an application of theorem (3.1.3). It is clear that $Y_{T_1} = a$ on $[T_1 < \infty] \cap \Lambda^c$ and $Y_{T_{1-}} = a$ on Λ . Hence

$$\mathbb{P}_a(A_{n+1}) = \mathbb{E}(\mathbb{1}_{T_1 < \infty}]\mathbb{P}_a(A_n)) = \mathbb{P}_a(A_1)\mathbb{P}_a(A_n)$$

and by mathematical induction

$$\mathbb{P}_a(A_n) = (\mathbb{P}_a[T_1 < \infty])^n.$$

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

It follows that

.

$$\mathbb{IP}_{a}(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (\mathbb{IP}_{a}[T_{1} < \infty])^{n} = 1 \iff \mathbb{IP}_{a}[T_{1} < \infty] = 1.$$

This completes the proof of (i).

To prove (ii) let $n \ge 2$ and let $(f_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ be a finite sequence of bounded measurable functions on U. An application of the strong Markov property yields

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{a}[\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(V_{i})] &= \mathbf{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(V_{i-1}\circ\theta_{T_{1}})] \\ &= \mathbf{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})\mathbf{E}_{Y(T_{1})}(\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(V_{i-1}))] \\ &= (*) \end{split}$$

Consider first the case that a is a branch point. Then

$$\mathbb{IP}_a(\Lambda^c) \le \mathbb{IP}_a[Y_\tau = a] = 0.$$

Hence $Y_{\tau-} = a(\mathbb{IP}_a$ -a.s.). So the sequence (τ_n) foretells $\tau = T_1$ and T_1 is predictable. It follows that

$$\mathcal{F}_{T_1-} = \bigvee \mathcal{F}_{\tau_n}$$

An application of Galmarino's test (see Dellacherie & Meyer [7], p.149) yields the \mathcal{F}_{T_1-} -measurability of $f_1(V_1)$. So

$$\begin{aligned} (*) &= \mathbb{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})\mathbb{E}_{a}(\mathbb{E}_{Y(\tau)}(\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(V_{i-1}) \mid \bigvee \mathcal{F}_{\tau_{n}})] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})\int P_{0}(Y_{\tau-},dy)\mathbb{E}_{y}(\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(V_{i-1}))] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})\int P_{0}(a,dy)\mathbb{E}_{y}(\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(V_{i-1}))] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})]\mathbb{E}_{a}[\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(V_{i-1})]. \end{aligned}$$

If a is not a branch point, then by theorem (3.1.3)

$$\mathbb{P}_{a}[Y(T_{1}) = a] = \mathbb{E}_{a}[1_{\{a\}} \circ Y_{T_{1}} 1_{\Lambda^{c}} + \mathbb{E}_{a}[1_{\Lambda} \int P_{0}(Y_{T_{1}-}, dy) 1_{\{a\}}(y)] = 1.$$

So in both cases we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{a}[\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(V_{i})] = \mathbb{E}_{a}[f_{1}(V_{1})]\mathbb{E}_{a}[\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(V_{i-1})].$$

An induction argument completes the proof of (ii).

We introduce some more notation and definitions. Define the maps

$$\begin{split} \rho_a &: \Omega \mapsto [0,\infty], \rho_a(\omega) = \sup\{t \ge 0 : Y_s(\omega) = a \text{ for every } s \le t\},\\ \sigma_a &: \Omega \mapsto [0,\infty], \sigma_a(\omega) = \inf\{t \ge 0 : Y_t(\omega) = a \text{ or } Y_{t-}(\omega) = a\},\\ \tau_a &: \Omega \mapsto [0,\infty], \tau_a(\omega) = \inf\{t > 0 : Y_t(\omega) = a \text{ or } Y_{t-}(\omega) = a\}. \end{split}$$

The maps σ_a and τ_a are stopping times.

Definition 3.2.2 The state $a \in E$ is called a holding point for the Ray process Y if

$$\mathbf{IP}_a[\rho_a > 0] > 0.$$

Define for $t \geq 0$ the kernel K_t on (E, \mathcal{E}) by

$$K_t(x,A) = \operatorname{IP}_x[Y_t \in A, \sigma_a > T], x \in E, A \in \mathcal{E}.$$

The family $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a sub-Markov semigroup on (E, \mathcal{E}) . Define for $s \geq r$ the measure e_s on (E, \mathcal{E}) by

$$e_s(A) = \operatorname{IP}_a[Y_{D_1+s} \in A, D_1+s < T_1 < \infty], A \in \mathcal{E}.$$

Let μ be the \mathbb{P}_a -distribution of V_1 ; μ is a finite measure on (U, \mathcal{U}) . With the above introduced notations and definitions we have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.2.3 Let r be a given positive real number.

(i)
$$\forall s \geq r, \forall t \geq 0 : e_s K_t = e_{s+t}$$
.

(ii) For $0 \leq t_1 \leq \ldots \leq t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in E \setminus \{a\}$

$$\mu[u(r+t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n] \\= e_{r+t_1}(dx_1) K_{t_2-t_1}(x_1, dx_2) \cdots K_{t_n-t_{n-1}}(x_{n-1}, dx_n).$$

(iii) $IP_a[\tau_a = 0] = 0 \text{ or } 1.$

50

.

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

Proof. Note that $D_1 + s$ is for $s \ge r$ a stopping time. Let $A \in \mathcal{E}, s \ge r$ and $t \ge 0$, then

$$e_{s}K_{t}(A) = \int \mathbb{P}_{a}[Y_{D_{1}+s} \in dx, D_{1}+s < T_{1} < \infty]\mathbb{P}_{x}[Y_{t} \in A, \sigma_{a} > t]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}_{a}(1_{[D_{1}+s < T_{1} < \infty]}\mathbb{E}_{Y_{D_{1}+s}}[1_{A}(Y_{t}); \sigma_{a} > t])$$

$$= \mathbb{E}_{a}(1_{[D_{1}+s < T_{1} < \infty]}1_{[\sigma_{a} \circ \theta_{D_{1}+s} > t]}1_{A}(Y_{D_{1}+s+t})]$$

$$= e_{s+t}(A).$$

This completes the proof of the first part of the lemma. Let $0 \le t_1 \le \ldots \le t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in E \setminus \{a\}$,

$$\begin{split} \mu[u(r+t_i) &\in dx_i, i=1,\dots,n] \\ &= \mathbb{P}_a[D_1+r < T_1 < \infty, \sigma_a \circ \theta_{D_1+r} > t_n, Y_{t_i} \circ \theta_{D_1+r} \in dx_i, i=1,\dots,n] \\ &= \int e_r(dx) \mathbb{P}_x[Y_{t_i} \in dx_i, i=1,\dots,n, \sigma_a > t_n]. \end{split}$$

by an application of the strong Markov property on stopping time $D_1 + r$. A repeated application of the simple Markov property yields

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathbb{P}_{x}[Y_{t_{i}} \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, \sigma_{a} > t_{n}] \\ & = K_{t_{1}}(x, dx_{1}) K_{t_{2}-t_{1}}(x_{1}, dx_{2}) \cdots K_{t_{n}-t_{n-1}}(x_{n-1}, dx_{n}). \end{aligned}$$

An application of (i) completes the proof of (ii).

The third statement is a consequence of Blumenthal's 0-1 law, see Williams [59], p.126.

Let X be the product $T \times U$ of the halfline $T = [0, \infty[$ with the usual topology and the polish space U of càdlàg functions $f : [0, \infty[\mapsto E]$. Let $a \in E$ and let S be the family of open subsets of X defined by

$$\mathcal{S} = \{A \subset X : A = I \times [\zeta > t], I \subset T \text{ open and bounded}, t > 0\},\$$

where ζ is the first time after zero at which f hits or approaches a. The elements of $U_{\infty} = \{u \in U : \zeta_u > 0\}$ will be called excursions. Let Y, σ_a and K_t be defined as above and let \overline{Y} be the process defined by

$$\bar{Y}_t = \begin{cases} Y_t & \text{if } t < \sigma_a \\ a & \text{if } t \ge \sigma_a. \end{cases}$$

Denote by $\alpha_x, x \in E$, the \mathbb{P}_x -distribution of \overline{Y} . Then α_x is a probability measure on U and the finite-dimensional distributions of α_x are given by

$$\alpha_x[u(t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n] = K_{t_1}(x, dx_1) K_{t_2-t_1}(x_1, dx_2) \cdots K_{t_n-t_{n-1}}(x_{n-1}, dx_n),$$

where $0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in E \setminus \{a\}$. The shift operator on U will also be denoted by θ_t , so for $t \ge 0$ and $u \in U$, $\theta_t u$ is the element of U defined by

$$(\theta_t u)(s) = u(s+t), s \ge 0.$$

With the above introduced notations and definitions we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2.4 Let Y be a Ray process and $a \in E$. Assume that a is not a holding point and

$$\exists r > 0 : \mathbf{IP}_a[T_1^r < \infty] = 1$$

where T_1^r denotes the endpoint of the first excursion of length greater than r. Then there are two cases possible.

A. $I\!P_a[\tau_a = 0] = 0.$

In this case there exists an iid sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$ of U_{∞} -valued random variables whose $[\zeta > l]$ -subsequence is the sequence of excursions of Y of length exceeding l.

B. $IP_a[\tau_a = 0] = 1.$

In this case there exists an S-finite Itô-Poisson point process N defined on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$ whose $[\zeta > l]$ -subsequence is the sequence of excursions of Y of length exceeding l. The characteristic measure ν of N is a σ -finite measure on U_{∞} having the following properties:

(i) ν is concentrated on

$$\{u \in U_{\infty} : \forall s \ge \zeta_u : u(s) = a\},\$$

(ii) for each $f \in b\mathcal{F}_{\infty}$, t > 0 and $\Lambda \in \sigma(u \in U_{\infty} \mapsto u(r), r \leq t)$ we have

$$\int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} f(\theta_t u) \nu(du) = \int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} \alpha_{u(t)}(f) \nu(du),$$

(iii) $\forall t > 0 : \nu([\zeta > t]) < \infty.$

Proof. Let $(r_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a strictly decreasing sequence of positive real numbers, such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} r_k = 0$ and $\mathbb{P}_a[T_{11} < \infty] = 1$, where T_{11} is the endpoint of the first excursion of length exceeding r_1 . For k, n = 1, 2... denote by $]D_{kn}(\omega), T_{kn}(\omega)[$ resp. $V_{kn}(\omega)$ the n^{th} excursion interval of the realization $Y(\omega)$ with length exceeding r_k . Since $T_{k1} \leq T_{11}$, it follows that

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

 $\mathbb{P}_a[T_{k_1} < \infty] = 1$, and the sequence $(V_{kn})_{n \geq 1}$ of excursions of length exceeding r_k is an iid sequence of U-valued random variables, see theorem (3.2.1). Define for k = 1, 2, ...

53

$$\begin{split} U_k &= \{ u \in U : \zeta_u > r_k \}, \\ V_k &= (V_{k1}, V_{k2}, \ldots), \\ \nu_k &= V_{k1}(\mathbb{IP}_a) \text{ and } \\ p_k &= \nu_k(U_1). \end{split}$$

Then $(U_k, V_k)_{k \ge 1}$ is a nested array on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$, see section (2.3) for the definition of a nested array.

Suppose that we are in case A. Since

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} 1_{U_1}(V_{k1}(\omega)) = 1_{[\tau_a > r_1]}(\omega) \text{ on } [\tau_a > 0],$$

it follows that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} p_k = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}_a[V_{k1} \in U_1] = \mathbb{P}_a[\tau_a > r_1] > 0.$$

By corollary (2.3.15) there exists an iid sequence $(\xi_n)_{n>1}$ of random variables whose U_k -subsequence is \mathbb{I}_a -a.s. equal to $(V_{kn})_{n>1}$.

Suppose that we are in case B. Since a is not a holding point we have

$$\mathbb{P}_a(\{\omega: \exists K_{\omega}, \forall k \geq K_{\omega}: V_{k1}(\omega) \notin U_1\}) = 1.$$

Hence in case B

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} p_k = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{P}_a[V_{k1} \in U_1] = 0.$$

It follows from theorem (2.3.12) that \mathbb{P}_a -a.s. for $n, j = 1, 2, \ldots$ the limits

$$t_{jn} = \lim_{k \to \infty} p_k S_{kjn}$$

exist, where $S_{kjn}, k > j$ denotes the index of the n^{th} excursion of length greater than r_j in the sequence $(V_{kn})_{n\geq 1}$. The \mathbb{P}_a -a.s. defined random variable \sim

$$N:\omega\in\Omega\mapsto\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{n:V_{jn}(\omega)\notin U_{j-1}}\delta_{(t_{jn}(\omega),V_{jn}(\omega))}$$

is an S-finite Itô-Poisson point process on U_{∞} with characteristic measure ν determined by

$$\nu(U_1) = 1 \text{ and } \nu_{|U_j|} = \nu_j.$$

Further the U_k -subsequence of N is the sequence $(V_{kn})_{n\geq 1}$ which implies that for every l > 0 the $[\zeta > l]$ -subsequence of N is the sequence of excursions of Y of length exceeding l. If $(r'_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is another strictly decreasing sequence of positive real numbers with the same properties as the sequence $(r_k)_{k\geq 1}$, then the Itô-Poisson point process N' constructed as above starting from the sequence (r'_k) has a characteristic measure ν' wich differs only by a multiplicative constant from ν , see corollary (2.3.14). To prove property (ii), fix t > 0 and choose k such that $r_k \leq t$. Let for $0 \leq t_1 < \ldots t_l \leq t, 0 \leq s_1 < \ldots s_n, A_1, \ldots, A_l \in \mathcal{E}$ and $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in b\mathcal{E}$

$$\Lambda = [u(t_i) \in A_i, i = 1, \dots, l]$$

and for $u \in U$

$$f(u) = \prod_{j=1}^n f_j(u(s_j)).$$

Then by definition of ν

A standard monotone class argument completes the proof of (ii). For the proof of (i), first note that the set

$$W = \{ u \in U_{\infty} : \forall s \ge \zeta_u : u(s) = a \}$$

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

is a measurable subset of U_{∞} . It is clear that

$$\forall x \in E : \alpha_x(1_W) = 0.$$

So (ii) implies

$$\int_{[\zeta>t]} 1_W(\theta_t u)\nu(du) = \int_{[\zeta>t]} \alpha_{u(t)}(1_W)\nu(du) = 0.$$

On the other hand

$$\zeta_u > t \Longrightarrow 1_W(\theta_t u) = 1_W(u).$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{U_{\infty}} \mathbf{1}_{W}(u)\nu(du) &= \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \int_{[\zeta>t]} \mathbf{1}_{W}(u)\nu(du) \\ &= \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \int_{[\zeta>t]} \mathbf{1}_{W}(\theta_{t}u)\nu(du) = 0, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of (i). Finally,

$$\forall t > 0 : \nu([\zeta > t]) = \eta_t(E) < \infty,$$

which implies (iii).

Definition 3.2.5 A family of finite measures $(\epsilon_s)_{s>0}$ on (E, \mathcal{E}) will be called an entrance law for the (sub-Markov) semigroup $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ whenever

$$\forall s, t \ge 0 : \epsilon_s K_t = \epsilon_{s+t}.$$

Theorem 3.2.6 There is a one-to-one correspondence between σ -finite measures m on (U_{∞}, U_{∞}) satisfying properties (i), (ii) and (iii) of theorem (3.2.4) and entrance laws $(\epsilon_s)_{s>0}$ for the semigroup (K_t) satisfying $\epsilon_s(a) = 0$ for every s > 0.

Proof. Let us first assume that m is a σ -finite measure on $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$ satisfying properties (i), (ii) and (iii) of theorem (3.2.4). Define for s > 0 and $A \in \mathcal{E}$

$$\epsilon_s(A) = m(\{u \in U_\infty : u(s) \in A, \zeta_u > s\}).$$

Then $(\epsilon_s)_{s>0}$ is a family of finite measures on (E, \mathcal{E}) satisfying $\epsilon_s(a) = 0$ for every s > 0. For $A \in \mathcal{E}$, denoting $A \setminus \{a\}$ by A',

$$\epsilon_s K_t(A) = \int m(u(s) \in dx, \zeta_u > s) \mathbb{E}_x[1_{A'}(Y_t); \sigma_a > t]$$

$$= \int_{[\zeta_u > s]} m(du) \mathbb{E}_{u(s)}[1_{A'}(Y_t)]$$

$$= \int_{[\zeta_u > s]} m(du) \alpha_{u(s)}[1_{A'}(u(t))]$$

$$= \int_{[\zeta_u > s]} m(du) 1_{A'}(u(s+t)) \text{ (by property (ii))}$$

$$= \int_{[\zeta_u > s+t]} m(du) 1_{A'}(u(s+t)) \text{ (by property (i))}$$

$$= \epsilon_{s+t}(A') = \epsilon_{s+t}(A).$$

So $(\epsilon_s)_{s>0}$ is an entrance law, which proves the first half of the theorem. To prove the second half of the theorem, let $(\epsilon_s)_{s>0}$ be an entrance law for the semigroup (K_t) satisfying $\epsilon_s(a) = 0$ for every s > 0. Define for t > 0

$$\mathcal{G}_t = \{ B \subset U_\infty : \exists A \in \mathcal{U}_\infty : B = [\zeta > t] \cap \theta_t^{-1}(A) \}.$$

The sets

$$\{u \in U_{\infty} : \zeta_u > t, u(t+s_i) \in F_i, i = 1, \dots, n\}$$

where $n \geq 1, 0 \leq s_1 \leq \ldots \leq s_n$ and $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{E}$, generate the σ algebra \mathcal{F}_t . If r < t, then $\mathcal{U}_{\infty} \supset \mathcal{G}_r \supset \mathcal{G}_t$. Indeed, let $B \in \mathcal{G}_t$, say $B = [\zeta > t] \cap \theta_t^{-1}(A)$ with $A \in \mathcal{U}_{\infty}$. Then

$$B = [\zeta > r] \cap \theta_r^{-1}([\zeta > t - r]) \cap \theta_{t-r}^{-1}(A) \in \mathcal{G}_r.$$

Note that $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathcal{G}_t$ is a ring generating \mathcal{U}_{∞} . The setfunction μ_t defined on \mathcal{G}_t by

$$\mu_t([\zeta > t] \cap \theta_t^{-1}(A)) = \int \epsilon_t(dx) \alpha_x(A), A \in \mathcal{U}_{\infty},$$

is a finite measure on the ring \mathcal{G}_t , whilst for r < t

$$\mu_r([\zeta > t] \cap \theta_t^{-1}(A)) = \int \epsilon_r(dx) \alpha_x[\zeta > t - r, 1_A \circ \theta_{t-r}]$$

$$= \int \epsilon_r(dx) \mathbb{E}_x[1_{[\sigma > t-r]} \times 1_A \circ Y(\theta_{t-r})]$$

$$= \int \epsilon_r(dx) \int K_{t-r}(x, dy) \alpha_y(A)$$
(by the simple Markov property)
$$= \int \epsilon_t(dy) \alpha_y(A)$$

$$= \mu_t([\zeta > t] \cap \theta_t^{-1}(A)).$$

3.2. POINT PROCESSES OF EXCURSIONS

It follows that we can define a set function μ on $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathcal{G}_t$ by putting

$$\mu(B) = \mu_t(B)$$
 if $B \in \mathcal{G}_t$.

Since the setfunction μ is a σ -finite measure on the ring $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathcal{G}_t$, it has a unique extension to a σ -finite on $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$. From standard monotone class arguments it follows that for $f \in b\mathcal{U}_{\infty}$ and t > 0

$$\int_{[\zeta > t]} \mu(du) f(\theta_t u) = \int \epsilon_t(dx) \alpha_x(f).$$

Fix t > 0 and define for $0 \le r_1 < \cdots < r_l \le t$ and $A_1, \ldots A_l \in \mathcal{E}$

$$\Lambda = [u(r_i) \in A_i, i = 1, \dots, l].$$

For $0 < r < r_1$ and $f \in b\mathcal{U}_{\infty}$

.

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} \mu(du) f(\theta_{t}u) \\ &= \int \epsilon_{r}(dx) \int \alpha_{x}(du) \prod_{i=1}^{l} \mathbb{1}_{[u(r_{i}-r) \in A_{i}]}(u) \times \mathbb{1}_{[\zeta > t-r]}(u) f(\theta_{t-r}u) \\ &= \int \epsilon_{r}(dx) \int \alpha_{x}(du) \prod_{i=1}^{l} \mathbb{1}_{[u(r_{i}-r) \in A_{i}]}(u) \times \mathbb{1}_{[\zeta > t-r]}(u) \alpha_{u(t-r)}(f) \\ & \text{by an application of the simple Markov property} \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{[\zeta > r]} \mu(du) \prod_{i=1}^{l} \mathbb{1}_{[u(r_i+r) \in A_i]}(\theta_r u) \times \mathbb{1}_{[\zeta > t-r]}(\theta_r u) \alpha_{\theta_r u(t-r)}(f)$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} \mu(du) \alpha_{u(t)}(f).$$

This proves the formula

$$\int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} f(\theta_t u) \nu(du) = \int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} \alpha_{u(t)}(f) \nu(du)$$

for elementary sets Λ . From a standard monotone class argument it follows that this formula is true for all $\Lambda \in \sigma(u \in U_{\infty} \mapsto u(r), r \leq t)$. As in the proof of theorem (3.2.4) it now follows that ν is concentrated on the set

$$\{u \in U_{\infty} : \forall s \ge \zeta_u : u(s) = a\}.$$

From the definition of ν it is clear that

$$\forall t > 0 : \nu([\zeta > t]) < \infty,$$

which completes the proof.

Remark 3.2.7 (i) In theorem (3.2.4) the excursions of Y are considered on the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_a)$. On a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_x)$ we have to add to the Itô-Poisson point process (or to the iid sequence $(\xi_n)_{n\geq 1}$) a first excursion describing the process up to time σ_a . Let $x \in E, x \neq a$. The map $W : \Omega \mapsto U$ defined by

$$(W\omega)(t) = \begin{cases} Y_t(\omega) & \text{for } t < \sigma_a(\omega) \\ a & \text{for } t \ge \sigma_a(\omega) \end{cases}$$

is a U_{∞} -valued random variable, describing the process Y up to time σ_a . As in the proof of theorem (3.2.4), let $(r_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a strictly decreasing sequence of positive real numbers, $r_k \downarrow 0$ as $k \to \infty$. Denote for $k, n = 1, 2, \ldots$ by $V_{kn}^x(\omega)$ the n^{th} excursion from a with length exceeding r_k of the realization $Y(\theta_{\sigma_a}\omega)$. So $V_{kn}^x(\omega) = V_{kn}(\theta_a\omega)$. Define the vector $V_k^x = (V_{k1}^x, V_{k2}^x, \ldots)$. As in lemma (3.2.3) we can prove that for every $x \in E \setminus \{a\}$ the sequence $(V_k^x, U_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is a nested array on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_x)$ and

$$\mathbf{IP}_{x}[W \in B, V_{ki}^{x} \in A_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] \\
= \mathbf{IP}_{x}[W \in B]\mathbf{IP}_{a}[V_{ki} \in A_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n]$$

for every $n \ge 1, B, A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathcal{U}$. When $\mathbb{P}_a[\tau_a = 0] = 1$, we define the point processes N^x and Q^x by

$$N^{x}: \omega \in \Omega \mapsto N(\theta_{\sigma_{a}}\omega),$$

N as in theorem (3.2.4), and

$$Q^x:\omega\in\Omega\mapsto\delta_{(0,W(\omega))}.$$

It follows that the point processes N^x and Q^x defined on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{IP}_x)$ are independent and as in theorem (3.2.4) the point process N^x is an Itô-Poisson point process with the same characteristic measure ν as N.

(ii) If state a is a holding point for Y, then there exists an iid sequence (ξ_n)_{n≥1} on (Ω, F, ℙ_a) of U_∞-valued random variables whose [ζ > l]-subsequence is the sequence of excursions of Y of length greater than l. Between two consecutive excursions the process Y remains in the state a. These time intervals are exponentially distributed.

3.3 Construction from point processes

Let (E, ρ) be a compact metric space with Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{E} and $a \in E$ some given point of E. The space of càdlàg functions defined on $T = [0, \infty]$ with

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

values in E will be denoted by U. Endowed with the Skorohod topology, U is a polish space. The Borel σ -algebra on U will be denoted by \mathcal{U} ; this σ -algebra is also generated by the coordinate evaluations on U. The map $\zeta: U \mapsto [0, \infty]$ is defined by

59

$$\zeta(u) = \zeta_u = \inf\{t > 0 : u(t) = a \text{ or } u(t-) = a\}.$$

For $u \in U_{\infty} = [\zeta > 0]$ the number ζ_u is the first "time" after zero that u hits or approaches a. The map ζ is lower semi-continuous.

On the space (E, \mathcal{E}) there will be given a Markov semigroup of kernels $(\bar{P}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ such that for every $x \in E$ there exists a probability measure α_x on (U, \mathcal{U}) which is concentrated on the set $\{u \in U : \forall t \geq \zeta_u : u(t) = a\}$ and which has finite-dimensional distributions given by

$$\alpha_x[u(t_i \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ = \bar{P}_{t_1}(x, dx_1)\bar{P}_{t_2-t_1}(x_1, dx_2)\cdots \bar{P}_{t_n-t_{n-1}}(x_{n-1}, dx_n)$$

where $0 \le t_1 \le \cdots \le t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in E$. For $t \ge 0$ the kernel K_t on (E, \mathcal{E}) is defined by

$$K_t(x, dy) = \alpha_x[u(t) \in dy, \zeta_u > t].$$

The family $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a sub-Markov semigroup of kernels on $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$. On $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$ there will also be given a family of finite measures $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ which is an entrance law for the semigroup $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with $\eta_s(\{a\}) = 0$ for every s > 0. By theorem (3.2.6) there is a unique measure ν on $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$ having the three properties

- (i) ν is concentrated on $\{u \in U_{\infty} : \forall s \ge \zeta_u : u(s) = a\},\$
- (ii) $\forall f \in b\mathcal{U}_{\infty}, \forall t > 0, \forall \Lambda \in \sigma(u \in U_{\infty} \mapsto u(r), r \leq t)$:

$$\int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} f(\theta_t u) \nu(du) = \int_{\Lambda \cap [\zeta > t]} \alpha_{u(t)}(f) \nu(du),$$

(iii) $\forall t > 0 : \nu([\zeta > t]) < \infty.$

It follows that

$$\forall s > 0 : \eta_s(dx) = \nu([\zeta_u > s, u(s) \in dx]).$$

We will always consider ν as a measure on U by putting $\nu(U \setminus U_{\infty}) = 0$. The product topological space $T \times U$, where T is equipped with the usual topology will be denoted by X and \mathcal{M}^+ is the space of nonnegative Borel

measures on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ which are finite on the family S consisting of the subsets $I \times [\zeta > t]$ where I runs through the bounded subintervals of T and t > 0. The S-finite Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic measure ν will be denoted by P. (The existence and unicity of P follows from proposition (2.2.5).) By proposition (2.3.2) $P(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}) = 1$, where \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} is the set of S-finite point measures μ with $\mu(\{t\} \times U) \leq 1$ for every $t \geq 0$. Measures $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet}$ have a countable support. For $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}$ the projection $J(\mu)$ of $\supp(\mu)$ on T is an ordered subset. If $\sigma \in J(\mu)$, there is a $u \in U$ such that $(\sigma, u) \in \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$. We will write u_{σ} for u. Let $L : U \mapsto [0, \infty]$ be a given, measurable function. Define for $\sigma \in T$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}$

$$\begin{array}{ll} B(\sigma,\mu) &=& \sum \{L(u_{\tau}):\tau\in J(\mu) \text{ and } \tau<\sigma\}\\ &=& \int \mu(d\tau d\nu) \mathbb{1}_{[o,\sigma]}(\tau) L(\nu) \end{array}$$

and

$$C(\mu) = \bigcup_{\sigma \in J(\mu)} [B(\sigma -, \mu), B(\sigma, \mu)].$$

If $T = C(\mu)$ then denote by

 $\tilde{\mu}: T \mapsto E$

the concatenation of the functions $u_{\tau \mid [0, L(u_{\tau})]}, \tau \in J(\mu)$, that is

$$\tilde{\mu}(s) = u_{\sigma}(s - B(\sigma -, \mu)) = \int \mu(d\tau dv)(v \times 1_{[0, L(v)]})(s - B(\tau -, \mu))$$

with

$$\sigma \in J(\mu)$$
 such that $s \in [B(\sigma -, \mu), B(\sigma, \mu)]$

The function u_{σ} is called the excursion straddling s. So, if Q is an S-finite point process with phase space X such that

$$Q(\{\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} : T = C(\mu)\}) = 1,$$

then for $s \ge 0$ the maps

$$Y_s: \mu \in \{\mu \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}: T = C(\mu)\} \mapsto \tilde{\mu}(s)$$

are Q-a.e. defined random variables on the probability space $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+), Q).$

In this section we want to consider a construction of this kind for the Itô-Poisson point process P. With an extra assumption about the characteristic measure ν of P it will turn out that the process $Y = (Y_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

Markov process. So it is natural to consider a family of probability measures $(P_x)_{x \in E}$ on $(\mathcal{M}^+, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+))$, where P_x will be the distribution of the process Y starting in x. To this end we add a first point to P corresponding to a start from x taking in account the given transition probabilities (\bar{P}_t) . Consider the map

$$u \in U \mapsto \delta_{(0,u)} \in \mathcal{M}^+.$$

For $x \neq a$, Q_x denotes the image of the probability measure α_x under this map. Then Q_x is a point process with phase space X; its intensity measure i_{Q_x} , its Palm measures $(Q_x)_{(\tau,v)}$ and its Laplace transform \hat{Q}_x are given by

$$\begin{array}{lll} i_{Q_x} & = & \delta_0 \otimes \alpha_x, \\ (Q_x)_{(\tau,v)} & = & \delta_{\delta_{(\tau,v)}}, & (\tau,v) \in X \\ \hat{Q}_x(f) & = & \int \alpha_x(du) e^{-f(0,u)}, & f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+. \end{array}$$

Define the family of point processes $(P_x)_{x \in E}$ by

$$P_x = \begin{cases} Q_x * P & if x \in E \setminus \{a\} \\ P & if x = a. \end{cases}$$

Some important properties of the point processes P_x are collected in the following lemma, whose straightforward proof is deleted.

Lemma 3.3.1 For $x \neq a$, the intensity measure i_{P_x} , the Palm measures $(P_x)_{(\tau,v)}$ and the Laplace transform \hat{P}_x of the point process P_x are given by

$$\begin{split} i_{P_x} &= i_{Q_x} + i_P, \\ (P_x)_{(\tau,v)} &= \begin{cases} P_x * \delta_{\delta_{(\tau,v)}} & \text{for } v \in U \text{ and } \tau > 0 \\ \delta_{\delta_{(0,v)}} * P & \text{for } v \in U \text{ and } \tau = 0, \end{cases} \\ \hat{P}_x(f) &= \int \alpha_x(du) e^{-f(0,u)} \exp[-\int (1 - e^{-f}) d\lambda \otimes \nu], f \in \mathcal{B}(X)_+. \end{split}$$

Further

$$P_x(\mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}) = 1.$$

Let $\Omega = \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet}$ and \mathcal{F} the trace of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}^+)$ on Ω . Our basic family of probability spaces will be $(\Omega \mathcal{F}, P_x), x \in E$. Define for $\omega \in \Omega$ and $\tau \geq 0$

$$A(au,\omega)=\int_X\omega(d\sigma du)1_{]o, au]}(\sigma)\zeta_u$$
 .

The random variable $A(\tau)$ is the sum of the excursions up to and including time τ , leaving out the excursion at time 0. As a function of τ , $A(\tau, \omega)$ is a non-decreasing càdlàg function on $[0, \infty]$ for every $\omega \in \Omega$. The Laplace transform of $A(\tau)$ is given by

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{-\lambda A(\tau)} dP_x = \exp[-\tau \int_U (1 - e^{\lambda \zeta_u}) \nu(du)], \lambda > 0, x \in E.$$

From now on we will assume that

$$\int_U (1-e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du)<\infty.$$

Then $A(\tau)$ is P_x -a.s. finite for every $\in E$. Note that the family of random variables $(A(\tau))_{\tau \geq 0}$ is a subordinator whose Lévy measure is the ζ -image $\zeta(\nu)$ of the measure ν . See for subordinators Itô [24]. Addition to $A(\tau)$ of a linear term $\gamma\tau, \gamma \geq 0$, gives the general form of a subordinator with Levy measure $\zeta(\nu)$. Define for $\tau \geq 0$ and $\omega \in \Omega$

$$\sigma_a(\omega) = \int \omega (d\sigma du) \mathbb{1}_{\{0\}}(\sigma) \zeta_u$$

and

$$B(\tau,\omega) = \sigma_a(\omega) + A(\tau,\omega) + \gamma\tau.$$

It follows from a straightforward calculation that the Laplace transform of the random variable $B(\tau)$ is given by

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{-\lambda B(\tau)} dP_x = \int e^{-\lambda \sigma_a} dP_x \times \exp[-\tau (\lambda \gamma + \int_U (1 - e^{\lambda \zeta_u}) \nu(du))].$$

For $\omega \in \Omega$, denote by $R(\omega)$ the range of $B(., \omega)$;

$$R(\omega) = \{s \in [0, \infty[: \exists \tau : s = B(\tau, \omega)\}\$$

and let $\phi(.,\omega)$ be the right continuous inverse of $B(.,\omega)$:

$$\phi(s,\omega) = \inf\{\tau : B(\tau,\omega) > s\}, s \ge 0.$$

It follows from the definition of ϕ that

$$\forall s \ge 0 : B(\phi(s,\omega) - , \omega) \le s \le B(\phi(s,\omega), \omega)$$

with $B(0-,\omega) = 0$. Let $J(\omega)$ be the projection of the support of the measure ω on T:

$$J(\omega) = \{ \sigma \in T : \omega(\{\sigma\} \times U) = 1 \}.$$

Note that $J(\omega)$ is P_x -a.s. a discrete subset of T if $\nu(U) < \infty$, and a countable, dense subset of T if $\nu(U) = \infty$. Define for $\omega \in \Omega$

$$C(\omega) = \bigcup_{\sigma \in J(\omega)} [B(\sigma -, \omega), B(\sigma, \omega)].$$

With the above introduced definitions and notations we have the following lemma.

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

Lemma 3.3.2 Let $x \in E$. Then P_x -a.s.

$$T = \begin{cases} R(\omega) + C(\omega) & \text{if } \nu(U) = \infty & \text{or } \gamma > 0\\ C(\omega) & \text{if } 0 < \nu(U) < \infty & \text{and } \gamma = 0 \end{cases}$$

63

Proof. Assume that $\nu(U) = \infty$ or $\gamma > 0$. The function $B(.,\omega)$ is P_x -a.s. strictly increasing, $B(\tau,\omega) \uparrow \infty$ as $\tau \to \infty$. The assertion in the lemma follows from appendix (A3.3). We continue with the case $0 < \nu(U) < \infty$ and $\gamma = 0$. In this case $J(\omega)$ is P_x -a.s. a discrete set, which can be written as $J(\omega) = (\sigma_n(\omega))_{n\geq 1}$ with $\sigma_1(\omega) < \sigma_2(\omega) < \ldots$ Further $\sigma_n(\omega) \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Since $\gamma = 0$, $B(\sigma_n(\omega) - , \omega) = B(\sigma_{n-1}(\omega), \omega)$ and the assertion of the lemma follows.

Let $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \geq 0$. Let $t \in C(\omega)$. If there is some $\tau \geq 0$ such that $t \in [B(\tau -, \omega), B(\tau, \omega)]$, and if u is such that $\omega_{(\tau, u)} = 1$, then u is the excursion (in ω) straddling t. Note that $\tau = \phi(t, \omega)$ and that $\zeta_u = B(\phi(t, \omega), \omega) - B(\phi(t, \omega) -, \omega)$. With $\omega \in \Omega$ we associate a function $\tilde{\omega}: T \mapsto E$ defined by

$$\tilde{\omega}(t) = \begin{cases} u(t - B(\phi(t, \omega) - , \omega)) & \text{if } t \in C(\omega) \\ a & \text{if } t \neq C(\omega) \end{cases}, t \in T,$$

where u is the excursion straddling t. Note that for $t \in C(\omega)$

$$\tilde{\omega}(t) = \int \omega (d\sigma du) (u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega)))$$

and

$$1_{C(\omega)}(t) = \int \omega(d\sigma du) 1_{[0,\zeta_u[}(t - B(\sigma -, \omega)).$$

It follows that the map

$$\omega \in (\Omega, \mathcal{F}) \mapsto \tilde{\omega} \in (E^T, \mathcal{E}^T)$$

is measurable. Denote the coordinate evaluations on E^T by $Y_t, t \ge 0$, i.e.

$$Y_t: f \in E^T \mapsto f(t) \in E,$$

and the image of the probability measure P_x under the map $\omega \mapsto \tilde{\omega}$ by \mathbb{P}_x . Then, $Y = \{Y_t : t \geq 0\}$ is an *E*-valued stochastic process on the probability space $(E^T, \mathcal{E}^T, \mathbb{P}_x)$. We continue with the calculation of the finite-dimensional distributions of the process Y. From the definition of the measure ν it follows that for s, l > 0

$$\nu([u(s) \in dx, \zeta_u > s+l]) = \eta_s(dx)\overline{P}_l(x, E \setminus \{a\}).$$

Writing β_x for the α_x -distribution of ζ ,

$$\beta_x(dl) = \alpha_x[\zeta \in dl] = d\bar{P}_l(x, \{a\}),$$

we get for s, l > 0

$$u([u(s) \in dx, \zeta_u - s \in dl]) = \eta_s(dx)\beta_x(dl).$$

Proposition 3.3.3 Let $f \in b\mathcal{E}$ such that f(a) = 0.

A. $x \neq a$.

$$\mathbf{E}_{x}[f(Y_{t})] = \begin{cases} \int K_{t}(x,dy)f(y) + \int_{0}^{t} \beta_{x}(dt)\mathbf{E}_{a}[f(Y_{t-1})] & \text{if } t > 0\\ \int K_{0}(x,dy)f(y) + \beta_{x}(\{0\})\mathbf{E}_{a}[f(Y_{0})] & \text{if } t = 0 \end{cases}$$

B. x = a.

For t > 0*:*

$$\mathbb{E}_{a}[f(Y_{t})] = \int P(d\omega) \int_{0}^{t} d\phi(q,\omega) \int \eta_{t-q}(dy) f(y)$$

For t = 0 we have to consider two cases:

(i) $\nu(U) = \infty \text{ or } \gamma > 0.$

$$\operatorname{I\!E}_a[f(Y_0)] =: 0$$

(ii) $0 < \nu(U) < \infty$ and $\gamma = 0$.

$$\mathbb{E}_a[f(Y_0)] = \frac{1}{\nu(U)} \int \nu(du) f[u(0)].$$

Proof. The proof is based on an application of the Palm formula, see section (2.2). We start with case B. Let t > 0.

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{a}[f(Y_{t})] &= \int P(d\omega)\mathbf{1}_{C(\omega)}(t) \int \omega(d\sigma du)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega))) \\ &= \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega))) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}))) \\ &= \int P(d\omega) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \eta_{t - B(\sigma -, \omega)}(dy) f(y) \\ &= \int P(d\omega) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\phi(q, \omega) \int \eta_{t - q}(dy) f(y) \end{split}$$

64

.

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

where in the last step we have used an integration formula for right continuous inverses, see appendix A3.

Let t=0. If $0<\nu(U)<\infty$ and $\gamma=0,$ then the formula for ${\rm I\!E}_a[f(Y_0)]$ follows from theorem (2.3.7). If $\nu(U)=\infty$ or $\gamma>0$, then

$$P[0 \in C(\omega)] = P[B(0,\omega) > 0]$$

= $P[\omega(\{0\} \times U] = 0$

since $\lambda \otimes \nu(\{0\} \times U) = 0$. It follows that $\mathbb{P}_a[Y_0 = a] = 1$, hence $\mathbb{IE}_a[f(Y_0)] = 0$.

We continue with case A. Let t > 0.

. •

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{x}[f(Y_{t})] &= \int Q_{x} * P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega))) \\ &= \int Q_{x}(d\omega') \int \omega'(d\sigma du)\mathbf{1}_{[0]}(\sigma)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t)) \\ &+ \int Q_{x}(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \\ \mathbf{1}_{]0,\infty[}(\sigma)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega + \omega'))) \\ &= \int \alpha_{x}(du)\mathbf{1}_{[\zeta_{u} > t]}f(u(t)) \\ &+ \int \alpha_{x}(dv) \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du)(f \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega) - \zeta_{v})) \\ &= \int K_{t}(x, dy)f(y) + \int_{0}^{t} \beta_{x}(dt)\mathbf{E}_{a}[f(Y_{t-1})]. \end{split}$$

For t = 0 we only have to note that

$$\int \alpha_x(dv) \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) (f \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(0 - B(\sigma -, \omega) - \zeta_v))$$

= $\alpha_x[\zeta_v = 0] \times \mathbb{E}_a[f(Y_0)]$
= $\beta(\{0\}) \times \mathbb{E}_a[f(Y_0)].$

Define the measure Φ on $[0,\infty[$ by

$$\Phi(dq) = \int_{\Omega} P(d\omega) d\phi(q,\omega).$$

Define the kernels $(S_t)_{t>0}$ on (E, \mathcal{E}) by:

$$S_t(x, dy) = \begin{cases} (\Phi * \eta)_t(dy) & \text{for } x = a, y \neq a \\ K_t(x, dy) + \int_0^t \beta_x(dl)(\Phi * \eta)_{t-l}(dy) & \text{for } x, y \neq a \end{cases}$$

$$S_t(x, \{a\}) = 1 - S_t(x, E \setminus \{a\}).$$

Define the kernel S_0 on (E, \mathcal{E}) by:

(i) If $\nu(U) = \infty$ or $\gamma > 0$ then

$$S_0(x,dy) = \left\{egin{array}{cc} 0 & ext{for } x=a,y
eq a \ K_0(x,dy) & ext{for } x,y
eq a, \end{array}
ight.$$

(ii) If $0 < \nu(U) < \infty$ and $\gamma = 0$ then

$$S_0(x, dy) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\nu(U)} \nu[u(0) \in dy, \zeta_u > 0] & \text{for } x = a, y \neq a\\ K_0(x, dy) + \frac{\beta_x(\{0\})}{\nu(U)} \nu[u(0(\in dy, \zeta_u > 0]) & \text{for } x, y \neq a. \end{cases}$$

In both cases (i) and (ii)

$$S_0(x, \{a\}) = 1 - S_0(x, E \setminus \{a\}).$$

The kernels $(S_t)_{t\geq 0}$ are a family of Markov kernels om (E, \mathcal{E}) . The statement of proposition (3.3.3) can be written as

$$\operatorname{I\!E}_{\boldsymbol{x}}[f(Y_t)] = S_t f(\boldsymbol{x}), t \ge 0, f \in b\mathcal{E}.$$

Define for $t \geq 0$ the map $\psi_t : \Omega \mapsto \Omega$ by

$$\psi_t(\omega) = \begin{cases} T_{\phi(t)}(\omega) & \text{if } t \in R(\omega) \\ \delta_{(0,\theta_{t-B}(\phi^{(t,\omega)}, \omega)^u)} + T_{\phi(t)}(\omega) & \text{if } t \notin R(\omega) \end{cases}$$

where u is the excursion straddling t and where T_{ϕ} is defined as in section (2.3). The meaning of the map ψ_t is explained in the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.4 For $s,t \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \Omega$ we have

$$\phi(s+t,\omega) = \phi(t,\omega) + \phi(s,\psi_t\omega)$$

and

$$Y_s[(\psi_t \omega)] = Y_{s+t}(\tilde{\omega}).$$

Proof. First note that $\sigma_a(\psi_t \omega) = B(\phi(t, \omega), \omega) - t$. Indeed, if $t \in R(\omega)$ then

$$\sigma_{a}(\psi_{t}\omega) = \sigma_{a}(T_{\phi(t)}\omega)$$

$$= \int (T_{\phi(t)}\omega)(d\sigma du)1_{\{0\}}(\sigma)\zeta_{u}$$

$$= \int \omega(d\sigma du)1_{]\phi(t,\omega),\infty[}(\sigma)1_{\{0\}}(\sigma - \phi(t,\omega))\zeta_{u}$$

$$= 0$$

66

.

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

and the result follows, as $B(\phi(t,\omega),\omega) = t$ for $t \in R(\omega)$. If $t \notin R(\omega)$ then

$$\sigma_a(\psi_t \omega) = \sigma_a(\delta_{(0,\theta_{t-B(\phi(t,\omega)-,\omega)}u)}) + \sigma_a(T_{\phi(t)}\omega)$$

= $\zeta_u - (t - B(\phi(t,\omega)-,\omega))$
= $B(\phi(t,\omega)-,\omega) - t$

since u is the excursion straddling t. We continue with the calculation of $B(\tau, \psi_t \omega)$.

$$B(\tau, \psi_t \omega) = \sigma_a(\psi_t \omega) + A(\tau, \psi_t \omega) + \gamma \tau$$

= $B(\phi(t, \omega), \omega) - t + \int \omega (d\sigma du) \mathbf{1}_{]\phi(t,\omega),\phi(t,\omega)+\tau]}(\sigma)\zeta_u + \gamma \tau$
= $B(\phi(t,\omega),\omega) - t + B(\phi(t,\omega) + \tau,\omega) - B(\phi(t,\omega),\omega)$
= $B(\phi(t,\omega) + \tau,\omega) - t.$ (*)

Hence

$$\begin{split} \phi(s,\psi_t\omega) &= \inf\{\tau: B(\tau,\psi_t\omega) > s\} \\ &= \inf\{\tau: B(\phi(t,\omega) + \tau,\omega) + \tau > s + t\} \text{by formula (*)} \\ &= -\phi(t,\omega) + \phi(s+t,\omega), \end{split}$$

which proves the first part of the lemma. For the second part, suppose first that $s \in R(\psi_t \omega)$. Then, for some $\tau \ge 0$

$$B(\tau,\psi_t\omega)=s,$$

hence by formula (*)

.

$$B(\phi(t,\omega)+ au,\omega) = t + B(au,\psi_t\omega) = t + s_t$$

and it follows that $s + t \in R(\omega)$. So

$$Y_s((\psi_t\omega)) = Y_{s+t}(\tilde{\omega}) = a$$

by definition of Y.

Suppose now that $s \notin R(\psi_t \omega)$. Let

$$s < \sigma_a(\psi_t \omega) = B(\phi(t, \omega), \omega) - t.$$

Then $\phi(s+t,\omega) = \phi(t,\omega)$ and there is one excursion, say u, (in ω) straddling both t and s+t, so

$$Y_s((\psi_t \omega)) = u(s+t-B(\phi(t,\omega)-,\omega))$$

= $u(s+t-B(\phi(t+s,\omega)-,\omega))$
= $Y_{s+t}(\tilde{\omega}).$

For

68

$$s > \sigma_a(\psi_t \omega)$$

we have $B(0, \psi_t \omega) < s$, so $\phi(s, \psi_t \omega) > 0$. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi_t \omega)_{(\phi(s,\psi_t \omega),u)} &= (T_{\phi(t)} \omega)_{(\phi(s+t,\omega)-\phi(t,\omega),u)} \\ &= \omega_{(\phi(s+t,\omega),u)} \end{aligned}$$

and the excursion straddling s in $\psi_t \omega$ is the same as the excursion straddling s + t in ω . From

$$B(\phi(s,\psi_t\omega)-,\psi_t\omega) = \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} B(\phi(s,\psi_t\omega)-\epsilon,\psi_t\omega)$$

=
$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} B(\phi(s+t,\omega)-\phi(t,\omega)-\epsilon,\psi_t\omega)$$

=
$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} B(\phi(s+t,\omega)-\epsilon,\omega)-t \text{ by formula (*)}$$

=
$$B(\phi(s+t,\omega)-,\omega)-t,$$

it follows that

$$Y_s((\psi_t\omega)) = u(s - B(\phi(s,\psi_t\omega) - ,\psi_t\omega))$$

= $u(s + t - B(\phi(t + s,\omega) - ,\omega))$
= $Y_{s+t}(\tilde{\omega}),$

where u is the excursion straddling s in $\psi_t \omega$.

Theorem 3.3.5 Let $n \geq 2$, $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in b\mathcal{E}$, $0 \leq t_1 \cdots \leq t_n$ and $x \in E$ then

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}\left[\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}})\right]$$

= $\int S_{t_{1}}(x, dy_{1}) \int S_{t_{2}-t_{1}}(y_{1}, dy_{2}) \cdots \int S_{t_{n}-t_{n-1}}(y_{n-1}, dy_{n}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(y_{i}).$

Proof. We will only consider the case $x \neq a$ and $t_1 > 0$. The proof for the remaining cases is analogous and is therefore deleted. Let \bar{f}_1 be defined on E by

$$\bar{f}_1(x) = f_1(x) - f(a).$$

Then

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}[\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}})] = \mathbb{E}_{x}[\bar{f}_{1}(Y_{t_{1}})\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}})] + f_{1}(a)\mathbb{E}_{x}[\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}})].$$

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

Since
$$\bar{f}_1(a) = 0$$
, we have

$$\mathbb{E}_x[\bar{f}_1(Y_{t_1})\prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i})]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}_x[\mathbf{1}_C(t_1)\bar{f}_1(Y_{t_1})\prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i})]$$

$$= \int P_x(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du)(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1 - B(\sigma -, \omega)))$$

$$\prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})((\psi_{t_1}\omega))$$

$$= \int Q_x(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int (\omega + \omega')(d\sigma du)$$

$$(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times \mathbf{1}_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1) - B(\sigma -, \omega + \omega')) \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\psi_{t_1}(\omega + \omega'))$$

$$= \int Q_x(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int \omega'(d\sigma du) \cdots$$

$$+ \int Q_x(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \cdots$$

$$= \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II}.$$

We first calculate I.

.

$$\int Q_x(d\omega') \int \omega'(d\sigma du)(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1))$$
$$\int P(d\omega) \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\psi_{t_1}(\omega + \omega'))$$
$$= \int \alpha_x(du)(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1))$$
$$\int P(d\omega) \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\psi_{t_1}(\omega + \delta_{(0,u)})).$$

From

 $\zeta_u > t_1 \Longrightarrow \forall \tau \ge 0 : B(\tau, \omega + \delta_{(0,u)}) = B(\tau, \omega) + \zeta_u > t_1$

it follows that

$$\phi(t_1, \omega + \delta_{(0,u)}) = 0$$
 and $t_1 \notin R(\omega + \delta_{(0,u)})$.

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

Hence *P*-a.s.

$$\psi_{t_1}(\omega + \delta_{(0,u)}) = \delta_{(0,\theta_{t_1}u)} + T_0(\omega + \delta_{(0,u)}) = \delta_{(0,\theta_{t_1}u)} + \omega.$$

So

$$I = \int \alpha_{x}(du)(\bar{f}_{1} \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t_{1}) \int P(d\omega) \prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})((\delta_{(0,\theta_{t_{1}}u)} + \omega))$$

$$= \int K_{t_{1}}(x,dy)\bar{f}_{1}(y) \int \alpha_{y}(du) \int P(d\omega) \prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})((\delta_{(0,u)} + \omega))$$

$$= \int K_{t_{1}}(x,dy)\bar{f}_{1}(y)\mathbb{E}_{y}[\prod_{i=2}^{n} f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})];$$

We continue with the calculation of II.

$$\int \alpha_x(dv) \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du)$$

$$(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma -, \omega)))$$

$$\times \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i - t_1})((\psi_{t_1}(\delta_{(0,v)} + \omega)))$$

$$= \int \alpha_x(dv) \int_0^\infty d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega)$$

$$(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma -, \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)})))$$

$$\times \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i - t_1})((\psi_{t_1}(\delta_{(0,v)} + \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}))))$$

by an application of the Palm formula, see section (2.2). Since

$$t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma -, \omega) \implies B(\sigma -, \omega + \delta_{(0,v)} + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}) > t_1$$
$$\implies \phi(t_1, \omega + \delta_{(0,v)} + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}) \le \sigma$$

and

$$0 \le t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma, \omega) \implies B(\sigma, \omega + \delta_{(0,v)} + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}) \le t_1$$
$$\implies \phi(t_1, \omega + \delta_{(0,v)} + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}) \ge \sigma,$$

it follows that

$$\phi(t_1,\omega+\delta_{(0,v)}+\delta_{(\sigma,u)})=\sigma,$$

70

. •

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

and

$$t_1 \notin R(\omega + \delta_{(0,v)} + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}),$$

hence P-a.s.

. •

$$\psi_{t_1}(\delta_{(0,v)} + \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}) = \delta_{(0,\bar{u})} + T_{\sigma}(\delta_{(0,v)} + \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)})$$
$$= \delta_{(0,\bar{u})} + T_{\sigma}(\omega),$$

where $\bar{u} = \theta_{t_1 - B(\sigma -, \omega) - \zeta_v} u$. So

$$\begin{aligned} \text{II} &= \int \alpha_x(dv) \int_0^\infty d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega) \\ &(\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma -, \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)}))) \\ &\times \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\delta_{(0,\bar{u})} + T_\sigma(\omega)) \\ &= \int \alpha_x(dv) \int_0^\infty d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega) \\ &\bar{f}_1 \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_u[})(t_1 - \zeta_v - B(\sigma -, \omega + \delta_{(\sigma,u)})) \\ &\int P(d\omega') \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\delta_{(0,\bar{u})} + \omega') \\ &\text{by an application of the renewal property} \\ &= \int \alpha_x(dv) \int (\Phi * \eta)_{t_1-\zeta_v}(dy) \bar{f}_1(y) \int \alpha_y(du) \\ &\int P(d\omega') \prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})(\delta_{(0,\bar{u})} + \omega') \\ &= \int_0^1 \beta_x(dl) \int (\Phi * \eta)_{t_1-l}(dy) \bar{f}_1(y) \mathbb{E}_y[\prod_{i=2}^n f_i(Y_{t_i-t_1})]. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{x}[\prod_{i=1}^{n}f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}})] \\ &= \int_{E\setminus\{a\}}S_{t_{1}}(x,dy)\bar{f}_{1}(y)\mathbf{E}_{y}[\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})] + f_{1}(a)\mathbf{E}_{a}[\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})] \\ &= \int_{E}S_{t_{1}}(x,dy)f_{1}(y)\mathbf{E}_{y}[\prod_{i=2}^{n}f_{i}(Y_{t_{i}-t_{1}})] \end{split}$$

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

An induction argument completes the proof of the theorem.

As a consequence of theorem (3.3.5), $(S_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a Markov semigroup on (E, \mathcal{E}) and Y is the canonical representation of the Markov process with this transition semigroup. Let $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ be the resolvent of the semigroup $(S_t)_{t\geq 0}$, i.e. the operator on $b\mathcal{E}$ defined by

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} S_t f(x) dt = \mathbb{E}_x \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} f(Y_t) dt, x \in E.$$

Denote the resolvent of the semigroup $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ by $(G_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$. Define for $\lambda > 0$ and $f \in b\mathcal{E}$

$$\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} \int_{E} \eta_t(dx) f(x).$$

This integral converges because of the assumption

$$\int (1-e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du) = \hat{\eta}_1(1) < \infty.$$

Define for $\lambda > 0$ and $x \in E$

$$z_{\lambda}(x) = \int lpha_x(du) e^{-\lambda\zeta_u}.$$

In the next lemma we prove some relations between $(G_{\lambda}), (\hat{\eta}_{\lambda})$ and z_{λ} .

Lemma 3.3.6 Let $\lambda, \mu > 0$ and $f \in b\mathcal{E}$, then

(i)
$$(\mu - \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(G_{\mu}f) = \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) - \hat{\eta}_{\mu}(f),$$

- (ii) $z_{\lambda} = 1 \lambda G_{\lambda} 1$,
- (iii) $(\mu \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(z_{\lambda}) = \mu\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(1) \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1).$

Proof.

(i)

$$\begin{aligned} (\mu - \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(G_{\mu}f) &= (\mu - \lambda)\int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} \int \eta_{t}(dx)\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu s}K_{s}f(x)ds \\ &= (\mu - \lambda)\int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu s}\eta_{s+t}(f)ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} ds e^{-\mu s}\eta_{s}(f)\int_{0}^{s} (\mu - \lambda)e^{-(\mu - \lambda)t}dt \\ &= \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) - \hat{\eta}_{\mu}(f). \end{aligned}$$

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

73

(ii)

•

$$z_{\lambda}(x) = \int \alpha_{x}(du)e^{-\lambda\zeta_{u}}$$

=
$$\int \alpha_{x}(du)\int_{0}^{\infty} 1_{]\zeta_{u},\infty[}(s)\lambda e^{-\lambda s}ds$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s}(1-K_{s}1(x))ds$$

=
$$1-\lambda G_{\lambda}1(x).$$

(iii)

$$(\mu - \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(z_{\lambda}) = (\mu - \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(1 - \lambda G_{\lambda}1) \text{ (by (iii))}$$

= $(\mu - \lambda)\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(1) + \lambda(\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(1) - \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)) \text{ (by (i))}$
= $\mu\hat{\eta}_{\mu}(1) - \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1).$

We continue with a theorem which gives an expression for the resolvent $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$.

Theorem 3.3.7 Let $\lambda > 0$ and $f \in b\mathcal{E}$. Then

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = G_{\lambda}f(x) + z_{\lambda}(x)V_{\lambda}f(a)$$

where

$$V_\lambda f(a) = rac{\hat{\eta}_\lambda(f) + \gamma f(a)}{\lambda \gamma + \lambda \hat{\eta}_\lambda(1)}.$$

Proof. Let $x \in E \setminus \{a\}$. Let $f \in b\mathcal{E}$ and $\overline{f}(.) = f(.) - f(a)$.

$$\begin{split} V_{\lambda}f(x) &= \int P_{x}(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} (f \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega)) dt \\ &+ \int P_{x}(d\omega) \int_{0}^{\infty} 1_{C^{\circ}(\omega)}(t) e^{-\lambda t} f(a) dt \\ &= \int P_{x}(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} (\bar{f} \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t - B(\sigma -, \omega)) dt \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda} f(a) \\ &= \int \alpha_{x}(dv) \int_{0}^{\zeta_{v}} e^{-\lambda t} \bar{f}(v(t)) dt + \int \alpha_{x}(dv) \int_{\zeta_{v}}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \mathbb{E}_{a}[\bar{f}(Y_{t-\zeta_{v}})] dt \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda} f(a) \end{split}$$

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

$$= \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t \bar{f}(x) dt + \int \alpha_x (dv) e^{-\lambda \zeta_v} V_\lambda \bar{f}(a) + \frac{1}{\lambda} f(a)$$

$$= \int 0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t f(x) dt + (1 - \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t 1(x) dt) \times V_\lambda f(a)$$

We continue with a calculation of $V_{\lambda}f(a)$:

$$\begin{aligned} V_{\lambda}f(a) &= \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} (\bar{f} \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t-B(\sigma-,\omega))dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}f(a)) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega) e^{-\lambda B(\sigma-,\omega)} \int_{0}^{\zeta_{u}} e^{-\lambda t} \bar{f}(u(t))dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}f(a) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \exp[-\sigma(\lambda\gamma + \int (1-e^{-\lambda\zeta_{w}})\nu(dw))] \\ &\times \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \bar{f}(u(t))1_{[\zeta_{u}>t]}dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}f(a) \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda\gamma + \int (1-e^{-\lambda\zeta_{w}})\nu(dw)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \int \nu(du)\bar{f}(u(t))1_{[\zeta_{u}>t]}dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}f(a). \end{aligned}$$

Note that

$$\int (1 - e^{-\lambda \zeta_w}) \nu(dw) = \lambda \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \int \nu(du) \bar{f}(u(t)) \mathbb{1}_{[\zeta_u > t]} dt = \hat{\eta}_\lambda(\bar{f}).$$

Hence

.

$$V_{\lambda}f(a) = rac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) + \gamma f(a)}{\lambda \gamma + \lambda \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}.$$

The rest of the theorem follows from the following observation

$$1 - \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t 1(x) dt = \int_0^\infty \lambda e^{-\lambda t} (1 - K_t 1(x)) dt$$
$$= \int \alpha_x (du) \int_0^\infty \lambda e^{-\lambda t} 1_{[\zeta_u \le t]} dt$$
$$= \int \alpha_x (du) e^{-\lambda \zeta_u}.$$

The next theorem states that the resolvent (V_{λ}) inherits the Ray property of the resolvent (G_{λ}) if the following extra condition

$$\forall x \neq a : z_{\lambda}(x) < 1$$

74

.

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

is satisfied.

Theorem 3.3.8 If $z_{\lambda}(x) < 1$ for every $x \neq a$ and if (G_{λ}) is a Ray resolvent, then the same is true for (V_{λ}) . In this case the process Y has càdlàg paths \mathbb{P}_{x} -a.s. and is therefore a strong Markov process.

75

Proof. If (G_{λ}) is a Ray resolvent, then the same reasoning as in Rogers [] can be used to prove the Ray property for the resolvent (V_{λ}) . By construction, Y is the canonical representation of the Markov process corresponding to (V_{λ}) . So \mathbb{IP}_x -a.s. the limits

$$X_t = \lim_{q \in \mathrm{IQ} \sqcup \bot t} Y_q$$

exist for all $t \ge 0$. The process $X = (X_t)_{t\ge 0}$ is a càdlàg version of the process Y which has the strong Markov property, see Williams [], ch.III. So it is sufficient to show that the processes X and Y are \mathbb{P}_x -equal. It is clear that

$$\forall t \in C(\omega) : X_t(\omega) = Y_t(\omega).$$

So there is nothing to prove in the case $\gamma = 0$ and $0 < \nu(U) < \infty$, since in this case $T = C(\omega)$, see lemma (3.3.2). So let $\gamma > 0$ or $\nu(U) < \infty$. Suppose that $t \in R(\omega)$, say $t = B(r, \omega)$.

If $\nu(U) < \infty$, then there is a first interval $[B(\sigma -, \omega), B(\sigma, \omega)]$ following t, i.e.

$$t < B(\sigma -, \omega)$$
 and $[t, B(\sigma -, \omega)] \subset R(\omega)$,

and it is clear that $X_t(\omega) = a = Y_t(\omega)$.

If $\nu(U) = \infty$, there is no first interval $[B(\sigma -, \omega), B(\sigma, \omega)]$ following t, since this would imply that

$$\exists \sigma > r : \omega([r, \sigma[\times U) = 0]$$

which is impossible. So for every $\epsilon > 0$, the interval $[t, t + \epsilon]$ contains an excursion interval. Since we can choose in each interval a rational number q so that $Y_q(\omega)$ is in a arbitrary small neighbourhood of a, it follows that $X_t(\omega) = a = Y_t(\omega)$.

In the next theorem we give an explicit formula for the Blumenthal-Getoor local time for Y at a, see Blumenthal&Getoor []. Consider the map $\phi(t)$ defined on \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} as a \mathbb{P}_x -a.s. defined map on the sample space E^T of the process Y, which is possible since the map

$$\omega \in \mathcal{M}_1^{\bullet} \mapsto \tilde{\omega} \in E^T$$

is an injection.

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

Theorem 3.3.9 Under the same assumptions as in theorem (3.3.7), the Blumenthal-Getoor local time $L = (L_t)_{t\geq 0}$ at the state a of the process Y is given by

$$L_t = [\gamma + \int (1 - e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du)] \times \phi(t)$$

Proof. Let σ_a be the first time that Y hits or approaches the state a.

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{x}(e^{-\sigma_{a}}) &= \int P_{x}(d\omega)e^{-B(0,\omega)} \\ &= \int Q_{x}(d\omega')\int P_{x}(d\omega)e^{-B(0,\omega+\omega')} \\ &= \int Q_{x}(d\omega')e^{-B(0,\omega')}. \end{split}$$

Note that

 $B(0, \omega + \omega') = B(0, \omega')$ for P almost every ω

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$B(\tau, \omega') = B(0, \omega')$$
 for Q_x almost every ω' .

So for $t > B(0, \omega')$

$$\begin{split} \phi(t,\omega+\omega') &= \inf\{\tau:B(\tau,\omega+\omega')>t\}\\ &= \inf\{\tau:B(\tau,\omega)+B(0,\omega')>t\}\\ &= \phi(t-B(0,\omega'),\omega). \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\int P_x(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} d\phi(t,\omega)$$

$$= \int P_x(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \mathbb{1}_{[B(0,\omega),\infty[}(t) d\phi(t,\omega))$$

$$= \int Q_x(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \mathbb{1}_{[B(0,\omega+\omega'),\infty[}(t) d\phi(t,\omega+\omega'))$$

$$= \int Q_x(d\omega') \int P(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \mathbb{1}_{[B(0,\omega'),\infty[}(t) d\phi(t-B(0,\omega'),\omega))$$

$$= \int Q_x(d\omega') e^{-B(0,\omega')} \times \int P(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} d\phi(t,\omega).$$

Since

$$\int P(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} d\phi(t,\omega) = \int_0^\infty dt \int P(d\omega) e^{-B(t,\omega)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\gamma + \int (1 - e^{-\zeta_u}) \nu(du)}$$

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

we get

$$\operatorname{I\!E}_a(e^{-\sigma_a}) = [\gamma + \int (1 - e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du)] \int P_x(d\omega) \int_0^\infty e^{-t} d\phi(t,\omega).$$

Since the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from a can be reconstructed from Y, it follows that $\phi(t)$ is measurable with respect to the σ -algebra $\sigma(Y_t : t \ge 0)$ generated by the process Y. An application of Galmarino's test, see Dellacherie&Meyer [], yields that the process $(\phi(t))_{t\ge 0}$ is adapted to the filtration of the process Y. Finally, it follows from lemma (3.3.4) that the functional $(\phi(t))_{t\ge 0}$ is additive, which completes the proof of the theorem.

We conclude this section by a short description of the process Y^{δ} , which is the process Y, constructed as above from the family of point processes (P_x) , with killing on state a at a rate δ proportional to the local time. This is also an example of the construction of a stochastic process from a more general point process. Let for $s \geq 0$ the point process P^s be defined as the image of P under the map

$$\omega \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \mathbb{1}_{[0,s] \times U} \omega \in \mathcal{M}^+.$$

It is clear that P^s is a Poisson point process on X with intensity measure $1_{[0,s]}\lambda \otimes \nu$ where ν is the characteristic measure of P. Let for $\delta > 0$ the point process S^{δ} be the Cox process on X defined by

$$S^{\delta} = \int_0^\infty \delta e^{-\delta s} P^s ds$$

and let for $x \in E$ the family of point processes S_x^{δ} be defined by

$$S_x^{\delta} = \begin{cases} Q_x * S^{\delta} & \text{for } x \neq a \\ S^{\delta} & \text{for } x = a. \end{cases}$$

where the point process Q_x is defined as in the beginning of this section. Define the map

$$\kappa : \omega \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mapsto \inf\{\tau : \omega([\tau, \infty[\times U) = 0\} \in [0, \infty])\}$$

and define

$$B(\tau,\omega) = \begin{cases} \int \omega (d\sigma du) \mathbb{1}_{[0,\tau]}(\sigma) \zeta_u + \gamma \tau & \text{for } \tau \leq \phi(\omega) \\ B(\phi(\omega),\omega) & \text{for } \tau > \phi(\omega) \end{cases}$$

where γ is a positive constant. The process Y^{δ} is now constructed from the family of point processes (S_x^{δ}) in the following way. Until time $B(\infty, \omega)$ the

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

construction is the same as for the process Y associated with the family (P_x) . At time $B(\infty,\omega)$ the process Y is killed. It can be shown that Y^{δ} has the simple Markov property. We will only give an expression for the resolvent of the process Y^{δ} . Let $(V_{\lambda}^{\delta})_{\lambda>0}$ be the resolvent of the process Y^{δ} : for $x \in E, \lambda > 0$ and $f \in b\mathcal{E}$

$$V^{\delta}_{\lambda}f(x) = \operatorname{I\!E}_x \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} f(Y^{\delta}_t) dt.$$

Theorem 3.3.10 Let $x \in E, \lambda > 0$ and $f \in b\mathcal{E}$. Then

.

$$V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(x) = G_{\lambda}f(x) + z_{\lambda}(x)V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a)$$

where

$$V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a)=rac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f)+\gamma f(a)}{\delta+\lambda\gamma+\lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}$$

Proof. We only calculate $V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a)$. The rest of the proof is analogous to the proof of theorem (3.3.7). Suppose first that f(a) = 0.

$$\begin{split} V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a) &= \int S^{\delta}(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} (f \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t-B(\sigma-,\omega)))dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \delta e^{-\delta s} \int P(d\omega) \int \omega(d\sigma du) 1_{[0,s]}(\sigma) \\ &\int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} (f \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t-B(\sigma-,\omega))) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \delta e^{-\delta s} \int_{0}^{s} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega) \\ &\int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} (f \circ u \times 1_{[0,\zeta_{u}[})(t-B(\sigma-,\omega))) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \int \nu(du) \int P(d\omega) e^{-\delta \sigma - \lambda B(\sigma-,\omega)} \int_{0}^{\zeta_{u}} dt e^{-\lambda t} f(u(t)) \\ &= \frac{1}{\delta + \lambda \gamma + \int (1-e^{-\lambda \zeta_{w}}) \nu(dw)} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} \int \nu(du) f(u(t)) 1_{[\zeta_{u}>t]} \\ &= \frac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f)}{\delta + \lambda \gamma + \lambda \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}. \end{split}$$

Further

$$V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a) = \int S^{\delta}(d\omega) \int_{0}^{B(\infty,\omega)} dt e^{-\lambda t}$$

3.3. CONSTRUCTION FROM POINT PROCESSES

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \delta e^{-\delta s} \int P(d\omega) \int_{0}^{B(s,\omega)} dt e^{-\lambda t}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \delta e^{-\delta s} [1 - e^{-s(\lambda\gamma + \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1))}]$$
$$= \frac{\gamma + \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}.$$

So for $f \in b\mathcal{E}$

.

$$V_{\lambda}^{\delta}f(a) = [V_{\lambda}^{\delta}(f - f(a) \times 1)](a) + f(a)V_{\lambda}^{\delta}1(a)$$

$$= \frac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f - f(a) \times 1) + (\gamma + \hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1))f(a)}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}$$

$$= \frac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) + \gamma f(a)}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}.$$

CHAPTER 3. EXCURSION THEORY

80

.

Chapter 4

Applications

In chapter 3 we saw how to construct for a Ray process Y the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from a recurrent state a, which is not a holding point and for which $\mathbb{P}_a[\tau_a = 0] = 1$ where τ_a is the infimum of the times t > 0 at which Y hits or approaches state a. In the first section of this chapter we will show how one can get an explicit formula for the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero for standard Brownian motion using the elementary calculations of the distribution of Brownian excursions in Chung [6]. By means of adjunction of a Radon-Nikodym factor we get from this result an explicit formula for the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero for standard Brownian motion with constant drift. This will be done in section (4.2). A well-known problem which can be treated with excursion theory is to describe all strong Markov processes which behave like a given strong Markov process outside a given state a (or more generally outside some given subset of states D). We will consider the problem to describe all Ray processes on $[0, \infty]$ which behave otside zero like Brownian motion. This problem was first treated by Feller [11] using theory of differential equations. Feller's solution was that the infinitesimal generator of such a process is the differential operator

$$\mathcal{G} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2}{dx^2}$$

with domain

$$D = C_2([0,\infty[) \cap \{u: p_1u(0) - p_2u'(0) + p_3u''(0) = \int p_4(dx)[u(x) - u(0)]\}$$

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

where p_1, p_2 and p_3 are nonnegative real numbers and p_4 a σ -finite measure on $]0, \infty[$ such that

$$p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + \int p_4(dx)(1 - e^{-x}) = 1.$$

Itô and McKean constructed in [26] the sample paths of these processes, which they called Feller's Brownian motions, from the reflecting Brownian motion and its local time and (independent) exponential holding times and differential processes. Rogers derived in [45] Feller's result using resolvent identities. We will give in section (4.3) an interpretation of the parameters p_1, p_2, p_3 and the measure p_4 by means of excursion theory. In section (4.4) we will use these results to construct a model for a random motion on an *n*-pod E_n , that is a tree with one single vertex 0 and with *n* legs having infinite length. This model can be used to describe the movement of nutrients in the root system of a plant, also there is a possible application to the description of the spread of pollutants in a stream system and to the analysis and desgn of circulatory systems, see Frank and Durham [12]. We will construct all strong Markov processes which behave like standard Brownian motion restricted to a halfline, when restricted to a single leg. In the last section we will construct a Markov process on $[0,\infty]$ which behaves as follows: starting at a point $x \in]0, \infty[$ it evolves like a given strong Markov process until reaching 0 where it waits a length of time having

an exponential distribution with parameter α after which time it jumps independently to a new position in $]0, \infty[$ according to a given probability measure η and then proceeds as before.

4.1 Point processes attached to Brownian motion

In this section we will apply the results of section (3.2) to Brownian motion. In particular, we will derive an explicit formula for the characteristic measure ν of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero. The derivation is based on theorem (3.2.4) and on the following elementary calculations of the distribution of Brownian excursions in Chung [6].

Let $B = (B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a standard one-dimensional Brownian motion on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_0)$. Let r > 0 and let V_1 be the first excursion from zero with length greater than r. Following Chung [6], we introduce

4.1. POINT PROCESSES ATTACHED TO BROWNIAN MOTION 83

the following notations:

.

$$egin{array}{lll} eta(r) &= \inf\{t > r: B_t = 0\}, \ \gamma(r) &= \sup\{t < r: B_t = 0\}, \ L(r) &= eta(r) - \gamma(r). \end{array}$$

So $]\gamma(r), \beta(r)[$ is the excursion interval containing r. As $\mathbb{P}_0[B_r = 0] = 0$ and B has continuous realizations, L(r) > 0, \mathbb{P}_0 -a.s.. Denote as in section (3.2), the first excursion interval of length greater than r by $]D_1, T_1[$. Let $n \ge 1, 0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}_{0}[V_{1}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ & = \mathbb{P}_{0}[V_{1}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) \leq r] \\ & + \mathbb{P}_{0}[V_{1}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) > r] \\ & = \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I}\mathbb{I}. \end{split}$$

It is clear that

$$[L(r) \le r] = [D_1 \ge \beta(r)]$$

and that

$$D_1 = \beta(r) + D_1 \circ \theta_{\beta(r)}$$
 on $[D_1 \ge \beta(r)]$.

It follows that

$$I = \mathbb{P}_0[V_1(t_i) \circ \theta_{\beta(r)} \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n, \beta(r) - \gamma(r) \le r]$$

=
$$\mathbb{P}_0[\beta(r) - \gamma(r) \le r]\mathbb{P}_0[V_1(t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n]$$

by an application of the strong Markov property on stopping time $\beta(r)$. It is also clear that

$$[L(r) > r] = [T_1 = \beta(r), D_1 = \gamma(r)].$$

It follows that

$$II = IP_0[B_{\gamma(r)+t_i} \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) > \max(t_n, r)].$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}_{0}[V_{1}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ & = \frac{\mathbb{P}_{0}[B_{\gamma(r)+t_{i}} \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) > \max(t_{n}, r)]}{\mathbb{P}_{0}[L(r) > r]} \end{split}$$

A simple calculation using Chung [6], formula (2.20) results in

$$\operatorname{IP}_0[L(r) \ge r] = \frac{2}{\pi}$$

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

and the same reasoning as in Chung [6], theorem 6 yields for $l > \max(t_n, r)$

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}_0[\gamma(r) \in ds, B(\gamma(r) + t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) \in dl] \\ &= p(s; 0, 0)g(t_1; 0, x_1)q(t_2 - t_1; x_1, x_2) \cdots \\ &\quad q(t_n - t_{n-1}; x_{n-1}, x_n)g(l - t_n; 0, x_n)dsdx_1 \cdots dx_ndl \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{array}{ll} p(t;x,y) &= \exp[-\frac{(x-y)^2}{2t}],\\ g(t;0,y) &= \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi t}}\frac{|y|}{t}\exp[-\frac{y^2}{2t}],\\ q(t;x,y) &= p(t;x,y) - p(t;x,-y). \end{array}$$

The probabilistic interpretations of p, q and g are as follows

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}_x[B(t) \in dy] &= p(t;x,y)dy, \\ \mathbf{P}_0[\sigma_y \in dt] &= g(t;0,y)dt, \\ \mathbf{P}_x[B(t) \in dy, \sigma_0 > t] &= q(t;x,y)dy. \end{split}$$

for t > 0 and xy > 0. It follows that for $t_n > r$

$$\mathbf{P}_{0}[B(\gamma(r)+t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, L(r) > r] \\
= \sqrt{\frac{2r}{\pi}}g(t_{1}; 0, x_{1})q(t_{2}-t_{1}; x_{1}, x_{2}) \cdots q(t_{n}-t_{n-1}; x_{n-1}, x_{n})dx_{1} \cdots dx_{n}.$$

hence

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}_0[V_1(t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{2r}{\pi}} g(t_1; 0, x_1) q(t_2 - t_1; x_1, x_2) \cdots q(t_n - t_{n-1}; x_{n-1}, x_n) dx_1 \cdots dx_n. \end{split}$$

This formula enables us to calculate some important quantities.

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{IP}_0[T_1 < \infty] &= \int \mathrm{IP}_0[V_1(r) \in dx] \\ &= 2\sqrt{2\pi r} \int_0^\infty g(r; 0, x) dx = 1 \end{split}$$

and

$$\mathrm{IP}_{0}[T_{1} - D_{1} > r + s] = \sqrt{\frac{r}{r+s}}.$$

Let $(r_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a strictly decreasing sequence of positive real numbers, such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} r_k = 0$. Let $(U_k, V_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be defined as in the proof of theorem (3.2.4), i.e. V_k is the sequence of excursions from 0 of length greater than

84

.

4.2. BROWNIAN MOTION WITH DRIFT

 r_k and U_k is the set of functions $u \in U = D_{[0,\infty[}(\mathbb{R})$ for which $\zeta_u > r_k$. Then

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}p_k = \lim_{k\to\infty}\mathbb{P}_0(V_{k1}\in U_1) = \lim_{k\to\infty}\sqrt{\frac{r_k}{r_k+r_1}} = 0,$$

so there is an Itô-Poisson point process N on U whose $[\zeta > l]$ -subsequence is the sequence of excursions of B of length greater than l. The characteristic measure ν of N is given by

$$\nu[u(t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, \dots, n]$$

= $\sqrt{\frac{\pi r_1}{2}} g(t_1; 0, x_1) q(t_2 - t_1; x_1, x_2) \cdots q(t_n - t_{n-1}; x_{n-1}, x_n) dx_1 \cdots dx_n$

where $0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n > 0$. Taking $r_1 = \frac{8}{\pi}$ we get the same normalization of ν as in Ikeda & Watanabe [22]. With our notations it is more convenient to take $r_1 = \frac{2}{\pi}$.

4.2 Brownian motion with drift

With the results of section (4.1) for standard Brownian motion, it is not very difficult to write down a formula for the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero of Brownian motion with constant drift. The passage from Brownian densities to densities of Brownian motion with drift is done by adjunction of a Radon-Nikodym factor, see for instance Imhof & Kummerling [23]. Let $Y = (Y_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be Brownian motion with constant drift δ , i.e.

$$Y(t) = \delta t + B(t), t \ge 0.$$

A straightforward calculation yields

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}_x[Y(t_i) \in dy_i, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ &= \exp[\delta(y_n - x) - \frac{1}{2}\delta^2 t_n] \mathbb{P}_x[B(t_i) \in dy_i, i = 1, \dots, n], \end{split}$$

for $0 \leq t_1 \leq \cdots \leq t_n$ and $y_1, \ldots, y_n \in \mathbb{R}$. It follows that the Radon-Nikodym derivatives $\bar{p}(t; x, y), \bar{g}(t; 0, y)$ and $\bar{q}(t; x, y)$ of the measures $\mathbb{P}_x[Y(t) \in dy], \mathbb{P}_0[\sigma \in dt]$ and $\mathbb{P}_x[Y(t) \in dy, \sigma_0 > 0]$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure are given by

$$egin{array}{lll} ar{p}(t;x,y) &= \exp[\delta(y-x) - rac{1}{2}\delta^2 t]p(t;x,y), \ ar{g}(t;0,y) &= \exp[\delta y - rac{1}{2}\delta^2 t]g(t;0,y), \ ar{q}(t;x,y) &= \exp[\delta(y-x) - rac{1}{2}\delta^2 t]q(t;x,y), \end{array}$$

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

for t > 0 and xy > 0. Let $]\bar{\gamma}(r), \bar{\beta}(t)[$ be the excursion interval of Y containing r with length $\bar{L}(r) = \bar{\beta}(r) - \bar{\gamma}(r)$ and let $]\bar{D}_1, \bar{T}_1[$ resp. \bar{V}_1 be the first excursion interval resp. the first excursion of the process Y with length greater than r, then a simple calculation yields

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{IP}_{0}[Y(\bar{\gamma}(r)+t_{i})\in dy_{i}, i=1,\ldots,n,\bar{L}(r)>t_{n}] \\ & = \quad \{\int_{0}^{r}\sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi s}}\exp(-\frac{1}{2}\delta^{2}s)ds\} \\ & \quad \times \bar{g}(t_{1};0,y_{1})\times\prod_{i=1}^{n}\bar{q}(t_{i+1}-t_{i};y_{i},y_{i+1})dy_{1}\cdots dy_{n} \end{split}$$

for $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$, $y_1, \ldots, y_n > 0$ and $t_n > r$. It follows that

$$\mathbb{P}_0[\bar{L}(r) > r] = \int_0^r \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi s}} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\delta^2 s) ds \int_{-\infty}^\infty \bar{g}(r;0,x) dx$$

and

$$\mathbb{IP}_0[\bar{V}_1(t_i), i = 1, \dots, n] \\ = \frac{1}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{g}(r; 0, x) dx} \bar{g}(t_1; 0, y_1) \times \prod_{i=1}^n \bar{q}(t_{i+1} - t_i; y_i, y_{i+1}) dy_1 \cdots dy_n.$$

 \mathbf{So}

$$\mathbb{P}_0[\bar{T}_1 < \infty] = 1$$

 \mathbf{and}

$$\mathrm{IP}_0[ar{T}_1-ar{D}_1>r+s]=rac{\int_{-\infty}^\inftyar{g}(r+s;0,x)dx}{\int_{-\infty}^\inftyar{g}(r;0,x)dx}.$$

Since

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{g}(r;0,x) dx = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r}} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\delta^2 r) \mathbb{E}_0(\mid B(1) \mid e^{\delta B(1)\sqrt{r}})$$

we get

$$\lim_{r\downarrow 0} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{g}(r+s;0,x)dx}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{g}(r;0,x)dx}$$
$$= \lim_{r\downarrow 0} \sqrt{\frac{r}{r+s}} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\delta^2 r) \frac{\operatorname{IE}_0(|B(1)| \exp(\delta B(1)\sqrt{r+s})}{\operatorname{IE}_0(|B(1)| \exp(\delta B(1)\sqrt{r})} = 0$$

So in the same way as for standard Brownian motion it follows that there exists an Itô-Poisson point proces \bar{N} on U whose $[\zeta > l]$ -subsequence is the

86

.

4.3. FELLER'S BROWNIAN MOTIONS

sequence of excursions of Y of length greater than l. An appropriate choice for r_1 yields the following formula for the characteristic measure $\bar{\nu}$ of \bar{N} :

87

$$ar{
u}[u(t_i) \in dy_i, i = 1, \dots, n] = ar{g}(t_1; 0, y_1) imes \prod_{i=1}^n ar{q}(t_{i+1} - t_i; y_i, y_{i+1}) dy_1 \cdots dy_n$$

for $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$ and $y_1, \ldots, y_n > 0$.

4.3 Feller's Brownian motions

Let $B = (B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a standard one-dimensional Brownian motion on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}_0)$. The process $Y = (Y_t)_{t\geq 0}$ defined by $Y_t = |B_t|$ is called reflecting Brownian motion. Let r > 0 be given and let V^Y (resp. V^B) be the first excursion from zero of the process Y (resp. B) with length greater than r. Then, for $n \geq 1$, $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{P}_{0}[V^{Y}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ &= \mathbb{P}_{0}[V^{B}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] + \mathbb{P}_{0}[-V^{B}(t_{i}) \in dx_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n] \\ &= 2\sqrt{\frac{\pi r}{2}}g(t_{1}; 0, x_{1}) \times \prod_{i=1}^{n} q(t_{i+1} - t_{i}; x_{i}, x_{i+1}) dx_{1} \cdots dx_{n} \end{split}$$

since g(t; 0, x) = g(t; 0, -x) and q(t; x, y) = q(t; -x, -y), see section (4.1). It is now clear that the characteristic measure ν of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero of reflecting Brownian motion is given by

$$u[u(t_i) \in dx_i, i = 1, ..., n] = g(t_1; 0, x_1) \times \prod_{i=1}^n q(t_{i+1} - t_i; x_i, x_{i+1}) dx_1 \cdots dx_n,$$

 $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$. The characteristic measures of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero of Brownian and reflecting Brownian motion corresponds to the same semigroup $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ which is defined by

$$K_t(x,dy) = q(t;x,y)dy.$$

The entrance laws $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ are given by

 $\eta_s(dy) = g(s; 0, y)dy$ for Brownian motion

and by

$$\eta_s(dy) = 1_{]0,\infty[}(y)g(s;0,y)dy$$
 for reflecting Brownian motion.

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

Each strong Markov process Y which behaves like Brownian motion until the first hitting τ_0^Y of 0, i.e.

$$\mathbb{P}_{x}[Y(t_{i}) \in dy_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, \tau_{0}^{Y} > t] = \mathbb{P}_{x}[B(t_{i}) \in dy_{i}, i = 1, \dots, n, \tau_{0} > t],$$

where $0 \leq t_1 < \cdots < t_n \leq t$, has a characteristic measure (for the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero), which correspond to the same semigroup (K_t) . It is clear from the construction of these processes from Itô-Poisson point processes that the converse also holds. A problem extensively studied is to describe all the Ray processes on $[0, \infty]$, which behave like Brownian motion until the first hitting or approach of 0, see for example Feller [11], Itô-McKean [26] and Rogers [45]. It follows from an application of the strong Markov property that the resolvent $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ of such a process satisfies the following formula for $f \in C_0([0,\infty])$ and $x \ge 0$:

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = G_{\lambda}f(x) + e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}}V_{\lambda}f(0)$$

where

$$G_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t f(x) dt = \mathbb{E}_x \int_0^{\tau_0} e^{-\lambda t} f(B_t) dt$$

Rogers gives in [45] the following characterization of $V_{\lambda} f(0)$:

$$\exists p_1, p_2, p_3 \ge 0, \exists p_4 \in \mathcal{M}_+(]0, \infty[)$$

such that

$$\int_{]0,\infty[} p_4(dx)(1-e^{-x}) < \infty$$

and such that

$$V_{\lambda}f(0) = \frac{2p_2 \int_0^\infty e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}} f(x)dx + p_3 f(0) + \int_{]0,\infty[} p_4(dx)G_{\lambda}f(x)}{p_1 + p_2\sqrt{2\lambda} + \lambda p_3 + \int_{]0,\infty[} p_4(dx)(1 - e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}})}$$

Actually we should have considered these processes on the one-point compactification $[0, \infty]$ of $[0, \infty]$, the point ∞ playing the role of a cemetery, where the process is sent to when killed. We have left this out to avoid annoying technicalities. Rogers' derivation of this characterization is based on the resolvent equation. He remarks that the parameters p_1, p_2, p_3 and p_4 have natural interpretations in excursion theory. To see this, let for s > 0and $n \ge 0$ the measure ϵ_{xs} on $[0, \infty]$ be defined by

$$\epsilon_{xs}(dy) = \left\{egin{array}{cc} q(s;x,y)dy & ext{if } x>0\ g(s;0,y)dy & ext{if } x=0. \end{array}
ight.$$

4.3. FELLER'S BROWNIAN MOTIONS

The families $(\epsilon_{xs})_{s>0}$, $x \ge 0$, of finite measures on $[0, \infty]$ are entrance laws for the semigroup (K_t) . According to theorem (3.2.6), the semigroup (K_t) and the entrance law $(\epsilon_{xs})_{s>0}$ determine a unique σ -finite measure ν_x on the excursion space $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$ satisfying property (i), (ii) and (iii) of theorem (3.2.4) such that

$$\epsilon_{xs}(dy) = \nu_x([\zeta_u > s, u(s) \in dy]).$$

It is clear that ν_0 is the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero of standard Brownian motion. For x > 0the measure ν_x is identical to the distribution α_x on $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$ of standard Brownian started from x, which is absorbed in state 0. Let p be a nonnegative measure on $[0, \infty]$ such that

$$\forall x > 0 : p([x,\infty[)).$$

Define the measure ν on $(U_{\infty}, \mathcal{U}_{\infty})$ by

$$\nu = \int_{[0,\infty[} p(dx)\nu_x.$$

Then the family $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ defined by

$$\eta_s(dy) = \nu([\zeta_u > s, u(s) \in dy]) = \int_{[0,\infty[} p(dx)\epsilon_{xs}(dy)$$

is an entrance law for the semigroup (K_t) . For $\lambda > 0$ and bounded, measurable functions f on $[0, \infty]$ we have

$$\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) = \int_{0}^{\infty} ds e^{-\lambda s} \int \eta_{s}(dy) f(y)$$

$$= p(\{0\}) \int_{0}^{\infty} f(y) e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy + \int_{[0,\infty[} p(dx) G_{\lambda} f(x).$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_{U} (1 - e^{-\zeta_{u}})\nu(du) &= \hat{\eta}_{1}(1) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}p(\{0\}) + \int_{[0,\infty[} p(dx)(1 - e^{-x\sqrt{2}}). \end{split}$$

Let P be the Itô-Poisson point process on $[0, \infty]$ with characteristic measure ν . As in section (3.3) we assume that

$$\int_U (1 - e^{-\zeta_u})\nu(du) < \infty$$

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

to guarantee that the sum $A(\tau)$ of the lengths of the excursions up to time τ is finite. This condition is equivalent to the following condition on the measure p:

$$\int_{[0,\infty[} p(dx)(1-e^{-x\sqrt{2}}) < \infty.$$

Let $\gamma \geq 0$ and define as in section (3.3)

$$B(\tau,\omega) = \sigma_0(\omega) + A(\tau,\omega) + \gamma\tau.$$

Finally, let $\delta \ge 0$ be the killing-rate in local time at state 0. If $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ is the resolvent of the strong Markov process attached to P then by theorem (3.3.10) we have

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = \begin{cases} G_{\lambda}f(x) + V_{\lambda}f(0)e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}} & \text{for } x \neq 0\\ \frac{p(\{0\})\int_{0}^{\infty}f(y)e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}}dy + \int_{[0,\infty[}p(dx)G_{\lambda}f(x) + \gamma f(0)]}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \frac{1}{2}p(\{0\})\sqrt{2\lambda} + \int_{[0,\infty[}p(dx)(1 - e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}}))} & \text{for } x = 0. \end{cases}$$

It follows that p_1 is the killing-rate in local time at state 0. The parameter p_3 corresponds to γ , which is a measure for the stickiness at state 0. Further, it is easy to see that ν_x is concentrated on the set of excursions $\{u \in U_{\infty} : u(0) = x\}$, so $p_4(dx)$ is the rate in local time at 0 by which there appear excursions starting at x. The parameter $2p_2$ is the rate in local time at 0 by which the process exits 0 continuously.

4.4 Brownian motion on an *n*-pod

In this example we will construct Markov processes on an *n*-pod E_n . As a set E_n is defined by

$$E_n =]0, \infty[\times\{1, \ldots, n\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Let

$$d_n: E_n \times E_n \mapsto \mathrm{I\!R}$$

be defined by

$$d_n[(x,i),(y,j)] = \begin{cases} x+y & \text{for } i \neq j \\ |x-y| & \text{for } i = j, \end{cases}$$
$$d_n[0,(x,i)] = x,$$
$$d_n[0,0] = 0.$$

4.4. BROWNIAN MOTION ON AN N-POD

The function d_n is a metric on E_n and the topological space (E_n, d_n) is a locally compact, second countable Hausdorff space. The topological space E_n is called an *n*-pod. Denote by \mathcal{E}_n the Borel σ -algebra on E_n and by $A_k, k = 1, \ldots, n$, the subset

91

$$A_{k} = \{ e \in E_{n} : e = 0 \text{ or } \exists x > 0 : e = (x, k) \}$$

of E_n , which is called the k^{th} axis of E_n . It is clear that E_2 is homeomorphic to the real line IR and that A_i is homeomorphic to $[0, \infty]$. We want to consider strong Markov processes Y on E_n , which behave like Brownian motion until the first hitting or approach σ_0 of state 0, i.e.

$$\mathbb{P}_{(x,i)}[Y_t \in (y, y + dy) \times \{j\}, \sigma_0 > t] = \begin{cases} q(t; x, y)\lambda_i(dy) & \text{for } j = i\\ 0 & \text{for } j \neq i \end{cases}$$

where λ_i is the image of the Lebesgue measure on $[0,\infty[$ under the map $\phi_i:[0,\infty[\mapsto A_i \text{ defined by}$

$$\phi_i(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{cc} (x,i) & ext{ for } x>0 \ 0 & ext{ for } x>0 \end{array}
ight.$$

and where q(t; x, y) is defined as in section (4.1). Define for t > 0 the kernel P_t^n on (E_n, \mathcal{E}_n) by

$$P_t^n((x,i),F) = \int_0^\infty 1_F((y,i))q(t;x,y)\lambda_i(dy) + 1_F(0)\{1 - \int_0^\infty q(t;x,y)\lambda_i(dy)\}$$
$$P_t^n(0,F) = 1_F.$$

The family of kernels $(P_t^n)_{t\geq 0}$, where P_0^n is the identity kernel on (E_n, \mathcal{E}_n) , is a Markov semigroup of kernels which corresponds to a Feller-Dynkin semigroup on $C_0(E_n)$, see Williams [59]. Let $\alpha_e, e \in E_n$, be the measure on the function space $U^{(n)} = D_{E_n}([0, \infty[)$ whose finite-dimensional distributions are given by

$$\alpha_e[u(t_i \in de_i, i = 1, \dots, m] = P_{t_1}^n(e, de_1) \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} P_{t_{i+1}-t_i}^n(e_i, de_{i+1})$$

where $m \ge 1, 0 \le t_1 \le \cdots \le t_m$ and $e_1, \ldots e_m \in E_n$. The measure α_e is concentrated on the set

$$\{u \in U^{(n)} : \forall t \ge \zeta_u : u(t) = 0\}$$

where ζ_u is the lifetime

$$\zeta_u = \inf\{t > 0 : u(t) = 0 \text{ or } u(t-) = 0\}.$$

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

Let $(K_t^n)_{t\geq 0}$ be the sub-Markov semigroup of kernels on (E_n, \mathcal{E}_n) defined by

$$\begin{array}{rcl} K^n_t(e,dy) &=& \alpha_e[u(t) \in dy, \zeta_u > t] \\ &=& \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} q(t;x,y)\lambda_i(dy) & \text{for } e = (x,i) \\ 0 & \text{for } e = 0. \end{array} \right. \end{array}$$

Let Y be a strong Markov process on E_n , which behaves like Brownian motion until the first hitting or approach of 0, and let ν be the characteristic measure of the Itô-Poisson point process of excursions from zero of the process Y. The measure ν is determined by an entrance law $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ for the semigroup (K_t^n) with $\forall s > 0 : \eta_s(\{0\}) = 0$. We have

$$\int \eta_s(de) K_t^n(e, dy) = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^\infty \eta_s^i(dx) q(t; x, y) \lambda_i(dy) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(y) \eta_{s+t}(dy)$$

where $\eta_s^i = \phi_i^{-1}[1_{A_i}\eta_s]$ is the ϕ_i^{-1} -image of the restriction of η_s to the axis A_i . It follows that for $i = 1, \ldots, n$

$$(\int_0^\infty \eta^i_s(dy)q(t;x,y))dy=\eta^i_s(dy).$$

As in section (4.3) there exist measures $p^{(i)}, i = 1, ..., n$ on $[0, \infty]$ such that

$$\int_0^\infty p^{(i)}(dx)(1-e^{-x}) < \infty$$

and

$$\eta^i_s(dy) = \int_{[0,\infty[} p^{(i)}(dx) \epsilon_{xs}(du)$$

where ϵ_{xs} is defined as in section (4.3). It follows that the resolvent $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ of the strong Markov process Y is given by

$$V_\lambda f(x,i) = \int_0^\infty G_\lambda(x,dy) f(y,i) + V_\lambda f(0) e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}}$$

with

$$\begin{split} V_{\lambda}f(0) \\ &= \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} p^{(i)}(0) \int_{0}^{\infty} f(y,i) e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} p^{(i)}(0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{]0,\infty[} p^{(i)}(dx)(1 - e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}})} \\ &+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{]0,\infty[} p^{(i)}(dx) \int_{0}^{\infty} G_{\lambda}(x,dy) f(y,i) + \gamma f(0)}{\delta + \lambda\gamma + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} p^{(i)}(0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{]0,\infty[} p^{(i)}(dx)(1 - e^{-x\sqrt{2\lambda}})} \end{split}$$

4.4. BROWNIAN MOTION ON AN N-POD

where γ and δ are nonnegative constants and $f \in b\mathcal{E}_n$. As a special case take $n = 2, \delta = \gamma = p^{(1)}(]0, \infty[) = p^{(2)}(]0, \infty[) = 0$ and $\alpha + \beta > 0$, where $\alpha = p^{(1)}(0)$ and $\beta = p^{(2)}(0)$. Then we get

$$V_{\lambda}f(0) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\lambda}} \frac{1}{\alpha + \beta} \{ \alpha \int_0^\infty f(y, 1) e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy + \beta \int_0^\infty f(y, 2) e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy \}.$$

Mapping E_2 on IR by the map ψ :

.

$$egin{array}{rl} \psi(y,1) &= y \ \psi(y,2) &= -y \ \psi(0) &= 0 \end{array}$$

and writing f for the composed map $f \circ \psi$, we get after some straightforward calculation that

$$V_{\lambda}f(0) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\lambda}} \frac{1}{\alpha + \beta} \{ \alpha \int_{0}^{\infty} f(y)e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy + \beta \int_{0}^{\infty} f(-y)e^{-y\sqrt{2\lambda}} dy \}$$

and

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda}} [e^{-\sqrt{2\lambda}|x-y|} + \operatorname{sign}(y) \frac{\alpha - \beta}{\alpha + \beta} e^{-\sqrt{2\lambda}(|x|+|y|)}] f(y) dy$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$, where

$$ext{sign}(y) = \left\{ egin{array}{ccc} -1 & ext{for } y < 0 \ 0 & ext{for } y = 0 \ 1 & ext{for } y > 0 \end{array}
ight.$$

This is the resolvent of skew Brownian motion, see Itô and McKean [27]. The numbers $\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\beta}$ and $\frac{\beta}{\alpha+\beta}$ may be interpreted as the probabilities for an excursion on the right- resp. the left hand side of 0, see Harrison and Shepp [21]. In [12] Frank and Durham give an intuitive description of symmetric Brownian motion on a 3-pod, which corresponds to the case

$$\delta = \gamma = 0 ext{ and } p^{(1)} = p^{(2)} = p^{(3)} = rac{1}{3}\delta_0.$$

We end this section by remarking that a similar construction is possible for processes which behave outside zero like Brownian motion with constant drift.

CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

4.5 Blumenthal's construction

In [2] Blumenthal constructs for a given characteristic measure and entrance law the extension of the original process whose entrance law is the given one, claiming that this construction is the one that Itô was referring to in [25]. Let E be a compact metric space and let $a \in E$ be a fixed point. Let $X = (X_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a Ray process with state space E. Blumenthal considers the case $E = [0, \infty[, a = 0 \text{ and } X \text{ is a standard Markov process. By a$ standard construction for Markov processes, <math>X can be considered as a Ray process on the one-point compactification $[0, \infty]$, see Getoor [15]. Denote as in section (3.2) by α_x the distribution on $U = D_E([0, \infty[) \text{ of the process} X \text{ starting at } x \text{ and absorbed in } a \text{ after the first hitting or approach } \sigma_a \text{ of}$ the point a and by $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ the sub-Markov semigroup of kernels on (E, \mathcal{E}) defined by

$$K_t(x, dy) = \alpha_x[u(t) \in dy, \zeta_u > t].$$

Blumenthal's construction is based on an approximation with Markov processes of the following type. Starting at a point $x \in E \setminus \{a\}$ the process evolves according to the transition probabilities of the process X until reaching the state a where it waits a length of time having an exponential distribution with mean $\alpha > 0$ after which time it jumps independently to a new position in $E \setminus \{a\}$ according to a given probability distribution η and so on. The measure η is called the jumping in measure and α is called the holding parameter. For the existence of such a Markov process Blumenthal refers to Meyer [41]. A simple calculation using the strong Markov property yields for the resolvent $(U_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ of this process the formula

$$U_{\lambda}f(x) = G_{\lambda}f(x) + \mathbb{E}_{a}(e^{-\lambda\sigma_{a}})\frac{\frac{1}{\alpha}f(a) + \int \eta(dy)G_{\lambda}f(y)}{\frac{1}{\alpha}\lambda + \int \eta(dy)\mathbb{E}_{y}(1 - e^{-\lambda\sigma_{a}})}$$

where

$$G_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} K_t f(x) dt \text{ and } f \in b\mathcal{E}.$$

It is not difficult to construct this process with the methods of section (3.3). Define the family of finite measures $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ on (E, \mathcal{E}) by

$$\eta_s(dy) = \int \eta(dx) K_s(x,dy).$$

The family $(\eta_s)_{s>0}$ is an entrance law for the semigroup (K_t) satifying the property $\forall s > 0 : \eta(\{a\}) = 0$. Let ν be the σ -finite measure on (U, \mathcal{U}) corresponding to the entrance law (η_s) and the semigroup (K_t) , see theorem (3.2.6), and let P be the Itô-Poisson point process on U with characteristic

4.5. BLUMENTHAL'S CONSTRUCTION

measure ν . Let Y be the Markov process attached to P as in section (3.3). Then by theorem (3.3.10) the resolvent $(V_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$ of Y is given by

$$V_{\lambda}f(x) = G_{\lambda}f(x) + \mathbb{E}_{a}(e^{-\lambda\sigma_{a}})rac{\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) + \gamma f(a)}{\lambda\gamma + \lambda\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(1)}, f \in b\mathcal{E}.$$

Since

$$\hat{\eta}_{\lambda}(f) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt e^{-\lambda t} \int \eta(dx) K_{t}f(x) = \int \eta(dx) G_{\lambda}f(x)$$

and, for $x \neq a$,

.

$$\begin{split} \lambda G_{\lambda} 1(x) &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda t} K_{t} 1(x) dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda t} \mathbb{E}_{x} (1_{[\sigma_{a} > t]}) dt \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{x} \int_{0}^{\sigma_{a}} \lambda e^{-\lambda t} dt \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{x} (1 - e^{-\sigma_{a}}), \end{split}$$

the process Y with $\gamma = \frac{1}{\alpha}$ is the above described Markov process. The strong Markov property for Y follows from the assumptions in Blumenthal [2] about the resolvent $(G_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$.

96 CHAPTER 4. APPLICATIONS

Appendix A

.

A.1 The existence of an S-finite base for the topology

Let X be a polish space and let S be a collection of open subsets of X. Denote by S' the family of all Borel subsets of X contained in some element of S.

Proposition A.1.1 If S covers X, then there exists a countable base for the topology consisting entirely of open subsets with closure in S'.

Proof. Let D be a dense subset of X and let d be a metric on X compatible with the topology of X. For each $x \in D$ there is an $A \in S$ containing x. Let

$$\delta = d(x, A^c) = \inf\{d(x, y) : y \neq A\}.$$

Then $\delta > 0$, since A^c is closed and $x \notin A^c$. Let $r \in (0, \delta)$. The closure $\overline{B}_x(r)$ of the ball with center x and radius r is contained in A:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} y \in \bar{B}_x(r) & \Longrightarrow & d(x,y) \leq r \\ & \Longrightarrow & d(y,A^c) \geq d(x,A^c) - d(x,y) \geq \delta - r > 0 \\ & \Longrightarrow & y \notin \overline{A^c} \\ & \Longrightarrow & y \in A. \end{array}$$

So $\bar{B}_x(r) \in \mathcal{S}'$. Define for $x \in D$

$$I_x = \{ q \in \mathbb{I} \mathbb{Q} : \bar{B}_x(q) \in \mathcal{S}' \}.$$

Claim: $\mathcal{U} = \{B_x(q) : x \in D, q \in I_x\}$ is a countable base for the topology of X. To see this, let $O \subset X$ be open. It is clear that

$$O \supset \bigcup \{B_x(q) : B_x(q) \in \mathcal{U}, B_x(q) \subset O\}$$

APPENDIX A.

Let $y \in O$. Choose $A \in S$ such that $y \in A$. Then

$$\epsilon = \min(d(y, O^c), d(y, A^c)) > 0.$$

For $x \in D \cap B_y(\frac{1}{4}\epsilon)$ and $q \in \mathbb{IQ} \cap]\frac{1}{4}\epsilon, \frac{3}{4}\epsilon$ [we have

$$d(x, A^c) \ge d(y, A^c) - d(x, y) \ge \epsilon - \frac{1}{4}\epsilon > q.$$

So $q \in I_x$ and $y \in B_x(q)$. Hence

$$O \subset \bigcup \{B_x(q) : B_x(q) \in \mathcal{U}, B_x(q) \subset O\}.$$

It follows that each open set can be covered by elements of \mathcal{U} .

A.2 The Skorohod topology

Let (X, ρ) be separable metric space. Let for $t_0, T \in \mathbb{R}, t_0 < T$, the space of functions $u : [t_0, T] \mapsto X$ which are right continuous on $[t_0, T[$ and have left limits on $]t_0, T]$ be denoted by $D_X([t_0, T])$. Let $\Lambda([t_0, T])$ be the class of strictly increasing, continuous maps $\lambda : [t_0, T] \mapsto [t_0, T]$, such that $\lambda(t_0) = t_0$ and $\lambda(T) = T$. For $u, v \in D_X([t_0, T])$, define $d_1(u, v)$ to be the infimum of those positive real numbers ϵ for which there exists a map $\lambda \in \Lambda([t_0, T])$ such that

$$\sup\{|\lambda(t) - t| : t \in [t_0, T]\} \le \epsilon$$

 and

$$\sup\{\rho(u(t)), v \circ \lambda(t)) : t \in [t_0, T]\} \le \epsilon$$

The fuction d_1 is a metric on $D_X([t_0, T])$. The topology on $D_X([t_0, T])$ induced by d_1 is called Skorohod's J_1 topology. Equipped with the J_1 topology, $D_X([t_0, T])$ is a polish space, see Billingsley [1]. Let U be the space of càdlàg functions of $[0, \infty[$ in X. There are several papers about the extension of the J_1 topology to U, see among others Lindvall [37] and Whitt [57]. We will summarize the theory of Whitt [57]. Let for 0 < b < c, $r_{bc} : U \mapsto D_X([b,c])$ be the restriction to [b,c] defined by $(r_{bc}x)(t) = x(t), t \in [b,c]$. For any $x, y \in U$, let d be defined by

$$d(x,y) = \int_0^\infty dt e^{-t} \min[d_{0t}(r_{0t}x,r_{0t}y),1]$$

where d_{0t} is the metric on $D_X([0,t])$ as defined above. The function d is a metric on U. The topology induced by d is called the Skorohod topology on U. Note that a sequence $(x_n) \subset U$ converges to $x \in U$ iff $d_{0t}(r_{0t}x_n, d_{0t}x) \to 0$ for almost all t. The basic properties of the Skorohod topology are:

A.2. THE SKOROHOD TOPOLOGY

- (i) U equipped with the Skorohod topology is a polish space,
- (ii) the Borel σ -algebra on U coincides with the σ -algebra generated by the coordinate evaluations,
- (iii) if $(P_n)_{n\geq 1}$, P are probability measures on U, then

$$\begin{split} P_n &\to P \Longleftrightarrow \\ \exists \text{ a sequence } [s_k, t_k]_{k \ge 1} : \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} [s_k, t_k] = [0, \infty[\\ \text{ and } \forall k : r_{s_k t_k}(P_n) \Longrightarrow r_{s_k t_k}(P) \text{ on } D_X([s_k, t_k]). \end{split}$$

Fix $a \in X$ and define the map $\zeta : u \in U \mapsto \zeta_u \in [0, \infty]$ by

$$\zeta_u = \inf\{t > 0 : u(t) = a \text{ or } u(t-) = a\}.$$

Lemma A.2.1 The map ζ is lower semi-continuous.

Proof. It is sufficient to show that the sets $\{u \in U : \zeta_u \leq k\}, k > 0$, are closed sets. So let k > 0 be fixed and let (u_n) be a sequence in $\{u \in U : \zeta_u \leq k\}$ converging to u. Let $\epsilon > 0$. If the restrictions of the u_n to [0, k] converge in $D_X([0, k])$ to the restriction of u to [0, k], there exists for every n sufficiently large a function $\lambda \in \Lambda([0, k])$ such that

$$\sup\{|\lambda(t) - t| : t \in [0, k]\} \le \epsilon$$

and

$$\sup\{\rho(u_n(t)), u \circ \lambda(t)) : t \in [0, k]\} \le \epsilon.$$

So

$$\rho(u \circ \lambda(t), a) \le \rho(u_n(t)), u \circ \lambda(t)) + \rho(u_n(t)), a) \le 2\epsilon$$

for some $t \in [0, k]$. It follows that

$$\forall \epsilon > 0, \exists s \in [0, k] : \rho(u(s), a) < \epsilon$$

and this implies that $\zeta_u \leq k$. If the restrictions of u_n to [0,k] do not converge in $D_X([0,k])$ to the restriction of u, then there exists a sequence (k_m) decreasing to k, such that

$$\forall m \ge 1 : \lim_{n \to \infty} r_{0k-m} u_n = r_{0k-m} u.$$

As above we may conclude that $\forall m \geq 1 : \zeta_u \leq k_m$ and it follows that $\zeta_u \leq k$.

APPENDIX A.

A.3 Some results on real functions

A.3.1 Result 1

Lemma A.3.1 (Greenwood & Pitman). For each n > 0 let $f_n(t)$ be a positive, nondecreasing function of $t \in [0, \infty[$ and let $S \subset [0, \infty[$. If

$$\forall s \in S : \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(s) = f(s) \ exists,$$

and

$$\{f(s):s\in S\}$$
 is dense in $[0,\infty[,$

then there is a continuous, nondecreasing function f defined on [0, a], where $a = \sup S$, such that uniformly on bounded sub-intervals of [0, a]

 $\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(t) = f(t).$

Proof. For every n > 0 and $s \in S$ we have $0 \le f_n(0) \le f_n(s)$. So

$$0 \le \underline{\lim} f_n(0) \le \overline{\lim} f_n(0) \le \inf\{f(s) : s \in S\} = 0$$

and

$$\lim f_n(0) = 0.$$

Let $x \in]0, a[$. If $S \cap [0, x] = \emptyset$, then $\lim f_n(x) = 0$. In the remaining case we have

$$\sup\{f(s): s \in S \cap [0,x]\} \le \underline{\lim} f_n(x) \le \overline{\lim} f_n(x) \le \inf\{f(s): s \in S \cap [x,\infty[\}.$$

Since $\{f(s) : s \in S\}$ is dense in $[0, \infty[$, $\lim f_n(x)$ exists. Define the function $f : [0, a[\mapsto [0, \infty[$ as the pointwise limit of the sequence functions (f_n) . It is clear that f is a nondecreasing, continuous function on [0, a[. If the convergence of the sequence (f_n) is not uniform on bounded sub-intervals of [0, a[, then there exists an M < a and an $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \exists t_n \in [0, M]; \mid f_n(t_n) - f(t_n) \mid > \epsilon.$$

Let $(t_{n'})$ be a convergent subsequence of $(t_n), t_{\infty} = \lim t_{n'}$. Choose $x_1, x_2 \in [0, a]$ such that

$$x_1 < t_{\infty} < x_2$$
 and $f(x_2) - f(x_1) < \frac{1}{4}\epsilon$.

If $t_{\infty} = 0$, take $x_1 = 0$. Then for n' sufficiently large

$$f_{n'}(x_1) - f(t_{n'}) < f_{n'}(t_{n'}) - f(t_{n'}) < f_{n'}(x_2) - f(t_{n'}),$$

A.3. SOME RESULTS ON REAL FUNCTIONS

and it follows by letting $n' \to \infty$ that

$$-\frac{1}{4}\epsilon \leq \overline{\lim}[f_{n'}(t_{n'}) - f(t_{n'})] \leq \frac{1}{4}\epsilon$$

which is a contradiction. So the convergence of the sequence (f_n) is uniform on bounded sub-intervals of [0, a].

A.3.2 Result 2

.

Let A be a function on $[0, \infty[$ which is nonnegative, nondecreasing and right continuous. Denote by λ the Lebesgue measure on $[0, \infty[$, and let ϕ be the distribution function of the measure $\nu = A(\lambda)$ on $[0, \infty[$. Then for $t \ge 0$

$$egin{array}{rll} \phi(t)&=&\int 1_{[0,t]} dA(\lambda)\ &=&\lambda(\{x:A(x)\leq t\})\ &=&\sup\{x:A(x)\leq t\}). \end{array}$$

The function ϕ is nonnegative, possibly infinite valued, nondecreasing and right continuous.

$$\begin{split} \phi(t) &\leq y \implies y \text{ is an upperbound of } \{x : A(x) \leq t\} \\ &\implies \forall \epsilon > 0 : A(y + \epsilon) > t \\ &\implies A(y) = A(y + \epsilon) \geq t \\ &\implies A(y) \text{ is an upperbound of } \{t : \phi(t) \leq y\}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand

$$\begin{array}{ll} u \text{ is an upperbound of } \{t: \phi(t) \leq y\} & \Longrightarrow & \forall \epsilon > 0: \phi(u+\epsilon) > y \\ & \Longrightarrow & \forall \epsilon > 0: A(y) \leq u+\epsilon. \end{array}$$

 So

$$A(y) = \sup\{t : \phi(t) \le y\}$$

is the distribution function of the measure $\phi(\lambda)$. We call ϕ the right continuous inverse of A. We have shown that A is the right continuous inverse of ϕ . Let $F \in L^1(\nu)$, then

$$\int F \circ A(x)\lambda(dx) = \int F dA(\lambda) = \int F(y)d\phi(y).$$

APPENDIX A.

A.3.3 Result 3

Let f be a nondecreasing, right continuous function on $[0, \infty[$, such that f(0) = 0 and $\lim_{n\to\infty} f(x) = +\infty$. Define

$$J = \{t \in]0, \infty[: f(t-) < f(t)\}$$

and

$$R = \operatorname{range}(f) = \{s \in [0, \infty[: \exists t \ge 0 : s = f(t)]\}$$

Lemma A.3.2 If f is strictly increasing, the

$$[0,\infty[=R+\sum_{t\in J}[f(t-),f(t)[$$

where the union is a union of disjoint intervals.

Proof: Let $t \in R$, say t = f(r). Assume that there is an $s \in J$ such that $t \in [f(s-), f(s)]$. Then

$$f(s-) \le f(r) < f(s).$$

It follows that r < s, so f(r) = f(s-). This can only be the case when f is constant on [r, s]. This is impossible since f is strictly increasing. So

$$R \cap \sum_{t \in J} [f(t-), f(t)] = \emptyset.$$

Let $t \in [0, \infty[\backslash R.$ Then $\forall s \in [0, \infty[: f(s) < t \text{ or } f(s) > t.$ Define

$$u = \inf\{s : f(s) > t\} = \sup\{s : f(s) < t\}$$

Then $f(u) \ge t$, so f(u) > t and $f(u-) \le t$. It follows that

$$t \in [f(u-), f(u)] \subset \bigcup_{t \in J} [f(t-), f(t)],$$

which completes the proof of the lemma.

102

.

- Billingsley, P.: Convergence of Probability Measures. Wiley, New York 1968.
- [2] Blumenthal, R.M.: On Construction of Markov Processes. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 63 (1983) 433-444.
- [3] Blumenthal, R.M. and Getoor, R.K.: Markov Processes and Potential Theory. Academic Press, New York 1968.
- [4] Bochner, S.: Harmonic Analysis and the Theory of Probability. Univ. of California Press, Berkeley, California, 1955.
- [5] Bourbaki, N.: Eléments de mathématique. Intégration, chapitre IX, 2nd edition, Act. Sci. et Industr. 1343, Hermann, Paris 1969.
- [6] Chung, K.L.: Excursions in Brownian Motion. Ark. Math. 14 (1976) 155-177.
- [7] Dellacherie, C. and Meyer, P.A.: Probabilities and Potential. North Holland, Amsterdam 1978.
- [8] Dynkin, E.B.: Markov Processes I. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1965.
- [9] Dynkin, E.B.: On extensions of a Markov Process. Theor. Probability 13 (1968) 672-676.
- [10] Dynkin, E.B.: Wanderings of a Markov Process. Theor. Probability 16 (1971) 401-428.
- [11] Feller, W.: Generalised second order differential operators and their lateral condititons. Illinois J. of Math. 1 (1957) 459-504.
- [12] Frank, H.F. and Durham, S.: Random motion on binary trees. J. Appl. Prob. 21 (1984) 58-69.

- [13] Fristedt, B. and Taylor, S.J.: Constructions of Local Time for a Markov Process. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 62 (1983) 73-112.
- [14] Geman, D. and Horowitz, J.: Occupation Densitites. Ann. Probability 8 (1980) 1-67.
- [15] Getoor, R.K.: Markov Processes: Ray Processes and Right Processes. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1975.
- [16] Getoor, R.K.: Excursions of a Markov process. Ann. of Probability 7 (1979) 244-266.
- [17] Greenwood, P. and Pitman, J.: Construction of Local Time and Poisson point processes from nested arrays. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 22 (1980) 182-192.
- [18] Halmos, P.R.: Measure Theory. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1974.
- [19] Harris, T.E.: Counting Measures, Monotone Random Set Functions.Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 10 (1968) 102-119.
- [20] Harris, T.E.: Random Measures and Motions of Point Processes. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 18 (1971) 85-115.
- [21] Harrison, J.M. and Shepp, L.A.: On skew Brownian Motion. Ann. Prob. 9 (1981) 309-313.
- [22] Ikeda, N. and Watanabe, S.: Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes. North Holland/Kodansha, Amsterdam 1981.
- [23] Imhof, J.P. and Kummerling, P.: Operational derivation of some Brownian results. Intern. Statist. Review 54 (1986) 327-341.
- [24] Itô, K.: Stochastic processes. Aarhus Universitet Lecture Notes Series No. 16 1969.
- [25] Itô, K.: Poisson point processes attached to Markov processes. Proceedings of the sixth Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability. 19 255-329. University of California Press, 1970.
- [26] Itô, K. and McKean, H.P.: Brownian motions on a half line. Illinois J. Math. 7 (1963) 181-231.
- [27] Itô, K. and McKean, H.P.: Diffusion Processes and their Sample Paths. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1974.

- [28] Jagers, P.: On Palm Probabilities. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 26 (1973) 17-32.
- [29] Jagers, P.: Random measures and point processes. In: Advances in Probability, Vol. 3 (P. Ney and S. Port ed.) 179-239, M. Dekker, New York 1974.
- [30] Kaspi, H.: Excursions of Markov Processes: An Approach Via Markov Additive Processes. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 64 (1983) 251-268.
- [31] Kaspi, H.: On In variant Measures and Dual Excursions of Markov Processes. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 66 (1984) 185-204.
- [32] Kato, T.: Perturbation Theory for Linear OPerators. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1966.
- [33] Kelley, J.L.: General Topology. Van Nostrand, New York 1970.
- [34] Krickeberg, K.: Fundamentos del analisis estadistico de procesos puntuales. Mimeographed notes of the university of Santiago, Chili, 1973.
- [35] Lévy, P.: Sur certain processus stochastiques homogènes. Comp. Math. 7 (1939) 283-339.
- [36] Lévy, P.: Processus stochastiques et mouvement Brownien. Paris 1948.
- [37] Lindvall, T.: Weak Convergence of Probability Measures and Random Functions in the Function Space D[0,∞). J. Appl. Prob. 10 (1973) 109-121.
- [38] Maisonneuve, B.: Systèmes régénératifs. Astérisque no 15. Soc. Math. de France, 1974.
- [39] Maisonneuve, B.: Exit systems. Ann Probability 3 (1975) 399-411.
- [40] Matthes, K., Kerstan, J. and Mecke, J.: Infinitely Divisible Point Processes. Wiley, New York 1978.
- [41] Meyer, P.A.: Processus de Poisson ponctuels, d'après K. Itô. Sem. de Prob. V. Lecture Notes in Math 191, Springer Verlag, Heidelberg 1971.
- [42] Meyer, P.A.: Renaissance, recollements, mélanges, ralentissement de processus de Markov. Ann. Inst. Fourier 25 (1975) 465-497.

- [43] Neveu, J.: Discrete-parameter Martingales. North-Holland, Amsterdam 1975.
- [44] Neveu, J.: Processus ponctuels. Ecole d'Eté de Prob. de Saint-Flour VI-1976. Lecture Notes in Math. 598, 250-445. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- [45] Rogers, L.C.G.: Itô Excursion Theory Via Resolvents. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 63 (1983) 237-255.
- [46] Rogers, L.C.G.: Addendum to "Itô Excursion Theory Via Resolvents." Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 67 (1984) 473-476.
- [47] Salisbury, T.S.: Construction of Right Processes from Excursions. Prob. Th. Rel. Fields 73 (1986) 351-367.
- [48] Salisbury, T.S.: On the Itô Excursion Process. Prob. Th. Rel. Fields 73 (1986) 319-350.
- [49] Schwartz, L.: Radon Measures on arbitrary Topological Spaces and Cylindrical Measures. Oxford University Press, Oxford 1973.
- [50] Topsoe, F.: Topology and Measure. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 1970.
- [51] Trooter, H.F.: Approximation of Semi-groups of Operators. Pac. J. Math. 8 (1958) 887-919.
- [52] Walsh, J.: A diffusion with a discontinuous local time. Astérisque no 52-53, 37-47, Soc. Math. de France, 1978.
- [53] Walsh, J.: Excursions and local time. Astérisque no 52-53, 159-192, Soc. Math. de France, 1978.
- [54] Watanabe, S.: Poisson point processes of Brownian excursions and its applications to diffusion processes. Proc. Symp. in Pure Math. AMS, 31 (1977) 153-164.
- [55] Watanabe, S.: Point processes and Martingales. Stochastic Analysis (A. Friedman and M. Pinsky eds.), 315-326, Academic Press, 1978.
- [56] Watanabe, S.: A limit theorem for sums of i.i.d. random variables with slowly varying tail probability. Multivariate Analysis-V (P.R. Krisniah ed.), 249-261. North Holland, Amsterdam 1980.

.

- [57] Whitt, W.: Some useful Functions for Functional Limit Theorems. Math. of Op. Res. (5) 1980 No. 1.
- [58] Williams, D.: Path decomposition and continuity of local time for one-dimensional diffusions, I. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 28 (1974) 739-768.
- [59] Williams, D.: Diffusions, Markov Processes and Martingales, Volume 1: Foundations. Wiley, New York 1979.

Index

.

 (\mathcal{G}_t) -adapted, 28 \mathcal{S} -finite, 14 \mathcal{S} -finite point measure, 19 \mathcal{S} -finite point process, 26

Campbell measure, 25 canonical realisation of a Ray process, 44 characteristic measure, 28 cofinal, 14 Cox process, 27

entrance law, 53 excursion interval, 44

filtering to the right, 14 finite-dimensional distribution, 24 free from after-effects, 26

holding point, 48

intensity measure, 25 Itô-Poisson point process, 28

Lusin space, 14

nested array, 36

Palm formula, 25 Palm measure, 25 Poisson point process, 26

Ray resolvent, 42 recurrent, 32

renewal property, 30

simple, 19 simple point process, 26 Suslin space, 12

MATHEMATICAL CENTRE TRACTS

1 T. van der Walt. Fixed and almost fixed points. 1963.

2 A.R. Bloemena. Sampling from a graph. 1964.

3 G. de Leve. Generalized Markovian decision processes, part 1: model and method. 1964.

4 G. de Leve. Generalized Markovian decision processes, part II: probabilistic background. 1964.

5 G. de Leve, H.C. Tijms, P.J. Weeda. Generalized Markovian decision processes, applications. 1970.

6 M.A. Maurice. Compact ordered spaces. 1964.

7 W.R. van Zwet. Convex transformations of random variables. 1964.

8 J.A. Zonneveld, Automatic numerical integration, 1964.

10 E.M. de Jager. Applications of distributions in mathematical physics. 1964. 9 P.C. Baayen. Universal morphisms. 1964.

11 A.B. Paalman-de Miranda. Topological semigroups. 1964.

12 J.A.Th.M. van Berckel, H. Brandt Corstius, R.J. Mokken, A. van Wijngaarden. Formal properties of newspaper Dutch.

1965

13 H.A. Lauwerier. Asymptotic expansions. 1966, out of print; replaced by MCT 54.

14 H.A. Lauwerier. Calculus of variations in mathematical physics. 1966.

15 R. Doornbos. Slippage tests. 1966.

16 J.W. de Bakker. Formal definition of programming languages with an application to the definition of ALGOL 60. 1967.

17 R.P. van de Riet. Formula manipulation in ALGOL 60, part 1. 1968.

18 R.P. van de Riet. Formula manipulation in ALGOL 60, part 2. 1968.

19 J. van der Slot. Some properties related to compactness. 1968

20 P.J. van der Houwen. Finite difference methods for solving partial differential equations. 1968.

21 E. Wattel. The compactness operator in set theory and topology. 1968.

22 T.J. Dekker. ALGOL 60 procedures in numerical algebra, part 1. 1968.

23 T.J. Dekker, W. Hoffmann. ALGOL 60 procedures in numerical algebra, part 2. 1968.

24 J.W. de Bakker. Recursive procedures. 1971.

25 E.R. Paërl. Representations of the Lorentz group and projec-tive geometry. 1969.

26 European Meeting 1968. Selected statistical papers, part 1. 1968.

27 European Meeting 1968. Selected statistical papers, part 11. 1968

28 J. Oosterhoff. Combination of one-sided statistical tests. 1969.

29 J. Verhoeff. Error detecting decimal codes. 1969.

30 H. Brandt Corstius. Exercises in computational linguistics. 1970.

31 W. Molenaar. Approximations to the Poisson, binomial and hypergeometric distribution functions. 1970.

32 L. de Haan. On regular variation and its application to the weak convergence of sample extremes. 1970.

Weak convergence of sample extremes. 1910.
33 F.W. Steutel. Preservation of infinite divisibility under mixing and related topics. 1970.
34 I. Juhász, A. Verbeek, N.S. Kroonenberg. Cardinal functions in topology. 1971.
35 M.H. van Emden. An analysis of complexity. 1971.

36 J. Grasman. On the birth of boundary layers. 1971.

37 J.W. de Bakker, G.A. Blaauw, A.J.W. Dujvestijn, E.W. Dijkstra, P.J. van der Houwen, G.A.M. Kamsteeg-Kemper, F.E.J. Kruseman Aretz, W.L. van der Poel, J.P. Schaap-Kruseman, M.V. Wilkes, G. Zoutendijk. MC-25 Informatica Symposium, 1971.

38 W.A. Verloren van Themaat. Automatic analysis of Dutch compound words. 1972. 39 H. Bavinck. Jacobi series and approximation. 1972.

40 H.C. Tijms. Analysis of (s,S) inventory models. 1972.

A. Verbeek. Superextensions of topological spaces. 1972.
 W. Vervaat. Success epochs in Bernoulli trials (with applications in number theory). 1972.

43 F.H. Ruymgaart. Asymptotic theory of rank tests for independence, 1973.

44 H. Bart. Meromorphic operator valued functions. 1973. 45 A.A. Balkema. Monotone transformations and limit laws. 1973.

46 R.P. van de Riet. ABC ALGOL, a portable language for formula manipulation systems, part 1: the language. 1973.

AT R.P. van de Riet. ABC ALGOL, a portable language for formula manipulation systems, part 2: the compiler. 1973.
48 F.E.J. Kruseman Aretz, P.J.W. ten Hagen, H.L. Oudshoorn. An ALGOL 60 compiler in ALGOL 60, text of the MC-compiler for the EL-X8. 1973.

49 H. Kok. Connected orderable spaces. 1974. 50 A. van Wijngaarden, B.J. Mailloux, J.E.L. Peck, C.H.A. Koster, M. Sintzoff, C.H. Lindsey, L.G.L.T. Meertens, R.G. Fisker (eds.). Revised report on the algorithmic language ALGOL 68, 1976.

51 A. Hordijk. Dynamic programming and Markov potential theory. 1974.

52 P.C. Baayen (ed.). Topological structures. 1974.

53 M.J. Faber. Metrizability in generalized ordered spaces. 1974.

54 H.A. Lauwerier. Asymptotic analysis, part 1. 1974.

55 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 1: theory of designs, finite geometry and coding theory. 1974.

56 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 2: graph theory, foundations, partitions and combinatorial geometry. 1974.
57 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 3: combinatorial group theory. 1974.

58 W. Albers. Asymptotic expansions and the deficiency concept in statistics. 1975.

59 J.L. Mijnheer. Sample path properties of stable processes. 1975.

60 F. Göbel. Queueing models involving buffers. 1975 63 J.W. de Bakker (ed.). Foundations of computer science. 1975.

64 W.J. de Schipper. Symmetric closed categories. 1975.

65 J. de Vries. Topological transformation groups, 1: a categorical approach. 1975.

66 H.G.J. Pijls. Logically convex algebras in spectral theory and eigenfunction expansions. 1976.

68 P.P.N. de Groen. Singularly perturbed differential operators of second order. 1976.

69 J.K. Lenstra. Sequencing by enumerative methods. 1977. 70 W.P. de Roever, Jr. Recursive program schemes: semantics and proof theory. 1976.

71 J.A.E.E. van Nunen. Contracting Markov decision processes. 1976.

72 J.K.M. Jansen. Simple periodic and non-periodic Lamé functions and their applications in the theory of conical waveguides. 1977.

73 D.M.R. Leivant. Absoluteness of intuitionistic logic. 1979. 74 H.J.J. te Riele. A theoretical and computational study of generalized aliquot sequences. 1976.

75 A.E. Brouwer. Treelike spaces and related connected topo-logical spaces. 1977.

76 M. Rem. Associons and the closure statement. 1976.

77 W.C.M. Kallenberg. Asymptotic optimality of likelihood ratio tests in exponential families. 1978.

78 E. de Jonge, A.C.M. van Rooij. Introduction to Riesz spaces. 1977.

79 M.C.A. van Zuijlen. Emperical distributions and rank statistics. 1977.

80 P.W. Hemker. A numerical study of stiff two-point boundary problems. 1977.

81 K.R. Apt, J.W. de Bakker (eds.). Foundations of computer science 11, part 1. 1976.

82 K.R. Apt, J.W. de Bakker (eds.). Foundations of computer science II, part 2, 1976.

83 L.S. van Benthem Jutting. Checking Landau's "Grundlagen" in the AUTOMATH system. 1979.

84 H.L.L. Busard. The translation of the elements of Euclid from the Arabic into Latin by Hermann of Carinthia (?), books vii-xii, 1977.

85 J. van Mill. Supercompactness and Wallman spaces. 1977. 86 S.G. van der Meulen, M. Veldhorst. Torrix I, a program ming system for operations on vectors and matrices over arbi-trary fields and of variable size. 1978.

88 A. Schrijver. Matroids and linking systems. 1977.

89 J.W. de Roever. Complex Fourier transformation and analytic functionals with unbounded carriers. 1978.

90 L.P.J. Groenewegen. Characterization of optimal strategies in dynamic games. 1981. 91 J.M. Geysel. Transcendence in fields of positive characteris-

tic 1970

92 P.J. Weeda. Finite generalized Markov programming. 1979. 93 H.C. Tijms, J. Wessels (eds.). Markov decision theory. 1977.

94 A. Bijlsma. Simultaneous approximations in transcendental number theory. 1978.

95 K.M. van Hee. Bayesian control of Markov chains. 1978. 96 P.M.B. Vitányi. Lindenmayer systems: structure, languages, and growth functions. 1980.

97 A. Federgruen. Markovian control problems; functional equations and algorithms. 1984.

98 R. Geel. Singular perturbations of hyperbolic type. 1978. 99 J.K. Lenstra, A.H.G. Rinnooy Kan, P. van Emde Boas (eds.). Interfaces between computer science and operations research. 1978.

100 P.C. Baayen, D. van Dulst, J. Oosterhoff (eds.). Proceed-ings bicentennial congress of the Wiskundig Genootschap, part 1. 1979.

101 P.C. Baayen, D. van Dulst, J. Oosterhoff (eds.). Proceed-ings bicentennial congress of the Wiskundig Genootschap, part 2, 1979.

102 D. van Dulst. Reflexive and superreflexive Banach spaces. 1978.

103 K. van Harn. Classifying infinitely divisible distributions by functional equations. 1978.

104 J.M. van Wouwe. Go-spaces and generalizations of metri-zability. 1979.

105 R. Helmers. Edgeworth expansions for linear combinations of order statistics. 1982.

106 A. Schrijver (ed.). Packing and covering in combinatorics. 1979.

107 C. den Heijer. The numerical solution of nonlinear opera-tor equations by imbedding methods. 1979.

108 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science III, part 1. 1979.

109 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science III, part 2. 1979.

110 J.C. van Vliet. ALGOL 68 transput, part I: historical review and discussion of the implementation model. 1979.

111 J.C. van Vliet. ALGOL 68 transput, part 11: an implemen-tation model. 1979.

112 H.C.P. Berbee. Random walks with stationary increments and renewal theory. 1979.

113 T.A.B. Snijders. Asymptotic optimality theory for testing problems with restricted alternatives. 1979.

114 A.J.E.M. Janssen. Application of the Wigner distribution to harmonic analysis of generalized stochastic processes. 1979. 115 P.C. Baayen, J. van Mill (eds.). Topological structures 11, part 1. 1979.

116 P.C. Baayen, J. van Mill (eds.). Topological structures II, part 2. 1979.

117 P.J.M. Kallenberg. Branching processes with continuous state space. 1979.

118 P. Groeneboom. Large deviations and asymptotic efficiencies. 1980.

119 F.J. Peters. Sparse matrices and substructures, with a novel implementation of finite element algorithms. 1980.

120 W.P.M. de Ruyter. On the asymptotic analysis of large-scale ocean circulation. 1980.

121 W.H. Haemers. Eigenvalue techniques in design and graph theory. 1980.

122 J.C.P. Bus. Numerical solution of systems of nonlinear equations. 1980.

123 I. Yuhász. Cardinal functions in topology - ten years later. 1980.

124 R.D. Gill. Censoring and stochastic integrals. 1980

125 R. Eising. 2-D systems, an algebraic approach. 1980. 126 G. van der Hoek. Reduction methods in nonlinear pro-gramming. 1980.

127 J.W. Klop. Combinatory reduction systems. 1980. 128 A.J.J. Talman. Variable dimension fixed point algorithms and triangulations. 1980.

129 G. van der Laan. Simplicial fixed point algorithms. 1980. 130 P.J.W. ten Hagen, T. Hagen, P. Klint, H. Noot, H.J. Sint, A.H. Veen. *ILP: intermediate language for pictures*. 1980

131 R.J.R. Back. Correctness preserving program refinements. proof theory and applications. 1980.

132 H.M. Mulder. The interval function of a graph. 1980. 133 C.A.J. Klaassen. Statistical performance of location estiators, 1981

134 J.C. van Vliet, H. Wupper (eds.), Proceedings interna-tional conference on ALGOL 68, 1981.

135 J.A.G. Groenendijk, T.M.V. Janssen, M.J.B. Stokhof (eds.). Formal methods in the study of language, part 1. 1981.

136 J.A.G. Groenendijk, T.M.V. Janssen, M.J.B. Stokhof (eds.). Formal methods in the study of language, part II. 1981.

137 J. Telgen. Redundancy and linear programs. 1981.138 H.A. Lauwerier. Mathematical models of epidemics. 1981.

139 J. van der Wal. Stochastic dynamic programming, succes-sive approximations and nearly optimal strategies for Markov decision processes and Markov games. 1981.

140 J.H. van Geldrop. A mathematical theory of pure exchange economies without the no-critical-point hypothesis. 1981.

141 G.E. Welters. Abel-Jacobi isogenies for certain types of Fano threefolds. 1981.

142 H.R. Bennett, D.J. Lutzer (eds.). Topology and order structures, part 1. 1981.

143 J.M. Schumacher. Dynamic feedback in finite- and infinite-dimensional linear systems. 1981.

144 P. Eijgenraam. The solution of initial value problems using interval arithmetic; formulation and analysis of an algorithm. 1981.

145 A.J. Brentjes. Multi-dimensional continued fraction algo-rithms. 1981.

146 C.V.M. van der Mee. Semigroup and factorization methods in transport theory. 1981.

147 H.H. Tigelaar. Identification and informative sample size. 1982

148 L.C.M. Kallenberg, Linear programming and finite Mar-kovian control problems. 1983.

149 C.B. Huijsmans, M.A. Kaashoek, W.A.J. Luxemburg, W.K. Vietsch (eds.). From A to Z, proceedings of a symposium in honour of A.C. Zaanen. 1982.

150 M. Veldhorst. An analysis of sparse matrix storage schemes. 1982.

151 R.J.M.M. Does. Higher order asymptotics for simple linear rank statistics. 1982.

152 G.F. van der Hoeven. Projections of lawless sequences. 1982.

153 J.P.C. Blanc. Application of the theory of boundary value problems in the analysis of a queueing model with paired services. 1982.

154 H.W. Lenstra, Jr., R. Tijdeman (eds.). Computational methods in number theory, part I. 1982.

155 H.W. Lenstra, Jr., R. Tijdeman (eds.). Computational methods in number theory, part 11. 1982.

156 P.M.G. Apers. Query processing and data allocation in distributed database systems. 1983.

157 H.A.W.M. Kneppers. The covariant classification of two-dimensional smooth commutative formal groups over an alge-braically closed field of positive characteristic. 1983.

158 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science IV, distributed systems, part 1. 1983.

159 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science IV, distributed systems, part 2. 1983. 160 A. Rezus. Abstract AUTOMATH. 1983.

161 G.F. Helminck. Eisenstein series on the metaplectic group, an algebraic approach. 1983.

162 J.J. Dik. Tests for preference. 1983.

163 H. Schippers. Multiple grid methods for equations of the second kind with applications in fluid mechanics. 1983.

164 F.A. van der Duyn Schouten. Markov decision processes with continuous time parameter. 1983.

165 P.C.T. van der Hoeven. On point processes. 1983.

166 H.B.M. Jonkers. Abstraction, specification and implemen-tation techniques, with an application to garbage collection. 1983.

167 W.H.M. Zijm. Nonnegative matrices in dynamic program-ming. 1983.

168 J.H. Evertse. Upper bounds for the numbers of solutions of diophantine equations. 1983.

169 H.R. Bennett, D.J. Lutzer (eds.). Topology and order structures, part 2. 1983.

1 D.H.J. Epema. Surfaces with canonical hyperplane sections.

2 J.J. Dijkstra. Fake topological Hilbert spaces and characterizations of dimension in terms of negligibility. 1984.

3 A.J. van der Schaft. System theoretic descriptions of physical systems, 1984

4 J. Koene. Minimal cost flow in processing networks, a primal approach. 1984.

5 B. Hoogenboom. Intertwining functions on compact Lie groups. 1984. 6 A.P.W. Böhm. Dataflow computation. 1984.

7 A. Blokhuis. Few-distance sets. 1984.

8 M.H. van Hoorn. Algorithms and approximations for queueing systems. 1984.

9 C.P.J. Koymans. Models of the lambda calculus. 1984.

10 C.G. van der Laan, N.M. Temme. Calculation of special functions: the gamma function, the exponential integrals and error-like functions. 1984.

11 N.M. van Dijk. Controlled Markov processes; time-discretization. 1984.

12 W.H. Hundsdorfer. The numerical solution of nonlinear stiff initial value problems: an analysis of one step methods. 1985.

13 D. Grune. On the design of ALEPH. 1985.

14 J.G.F. Thiemann. Analytic spaces and dynamic program-ming: a measure theoretic approach. 1985.

15 F.J. van der Linden. Euclidean rings with two infinite primes. 1985.

R.J.P. Groothuizen. Mixed elliptic-hyperbolic partial dif-ferential operators: a case-study in Fourier integral operators. 1985.

17 H.M.M. ten Eikelder. Symmetries for dynamical and Hamil-

18 A.D.M. Kester. Some large deviation results in statistics. 1985

19 T.M.V. Janssen. Foundations and applications of Montague grammar, part 1: Philosophy, framework, computer science. 1986.

20 B.F. Schriever. Order dependence. 1986.

21 D.P. van der Vecht. Inequalities for stopped Brownian motion. 1986.

22 J.C.S.P. van der Woude. Topological dynamix. 1986.

23 A.F. Monna. Methods, concepts and ideas in mathematics: aspects of an evolution. 1986.

24 J.C.M. Baeten. Filters and ultrafilters over definable sub-sets of admissible ordinals. 1986.

25 A.W.J. Kolen. Tree network and planar rectilinear location theory. 1986.

26 A.H. Veen. The misconstrued semicolon: Reconciling imperative languages and dataflow machines. 1986.

27 A.J.M. van Engelen. Homogeneous zero-dimensional abso-lute Borel sets. 1986.

28 T.M.V. Janssen. Foundations and applications of Montague grammar, part 2: Applications to natural language. 1986. 29 H.L. Trentelman. Almost invariant subspaces and high gain

feedback. 1986. 30 A.G. de Kok. Production-inventory control models: approximations and algorithms. 1987.

31 E.E.M. van Berkum. Optimal paired comparison designs for factorial experiments. 1987.

32 J.H.J. Einmahl. Multivariate empirical processes. 1987.

33 O.J. Vrieze. Stochastic games with finite state and action spaces. 1987. 34 P.H.M. Kersten. Infinitesimal symmetries: a computational approach. 1987.

35 M.L. Eaton. Lectures on topics in probability inequalities.

198 36 A.H.P. van der Burgh, R.M.M. Mattheij (eds.). Proceedings of the first international conference on industrial and applied mathematics (ICIAM 87). 1987.

37 L. Stougie. Design and analysis of algorithms for stochastic integer programming. 1987. 38 J.B.G. Frenk. On Banach algebras, renewal measures and regenerative processes. 1987.

39 H.J.M. Peters, O.J. Vrieze (eds.). Surveys in game theory and related topics. 1987.

40 J.L. Geluk, L. de Haan. Regular variation, extensions and Tauberian theorems. 1987.

41 Sape J. Mullender (ed.). The Amoeba distributed operating system: Selected papers 1984-1987. 1987.

42 P.R.J. Asveld, A. Nijholt (eds.). Essays on concepts, for-malisms, and tools. 1987.

43 H.L. Bodlaender. Distributed computing: structure and

nplexity. 1987. 44 A.W. van der Vaart. Statistical estimation in large parame-

ter spaces. 1988 . 45 S.A. van de Geer. Regression analysis and empirical processes. 1988.

46 S.P. Spekreijse. Multigrid solution of the steady Euler equations. 1988.

47 J.B. Dijkstra. Analysis of means in some non-standard situations. 1988.

48 F.C. Drost. Asymptotics for generalized chi-square goodness-of-fit tests. 1988.

49 F.W. Wubs. Numerical solution of the shallow-water equa-tions. 1988.

50 F. de Kerf. Asymptotic analysis of a class of perturbed Korteweg-de Vries initial value problems. 1988.

51 P.J.M. van Laarhoven. Theoretical and computational aspects of simulated annealing. 1988.

52 P.M. van Loon. Continuous decoupling transformations for linear boundary value problems. 1988. 53 K.C.P. Machielsen. Numerical solution of optimal control

problems with state constraints by sequential quadratic pro-gramming in function space. 1988.

54 L.C.R.J. Willenborg. Computational aspects of survey data processing. 1988.

55 G.J. van der Steen. A program generator for recognition, parsing and transduction with syntactic patterns. 1988.

56 J.C. Ebergen. Translating programs into delay-insensitive circuits. 1989. 57 S.M. Verduyn Lunel. Exponential type calculus for linear delay equations, 1989.

58 M.C.M. de Gunst. A random model for plant cell popula-

tion growth, 1989. 59 D. van Dulst. Characterizations of Banach spaces not con-taining l^{1} . 1989.

60 H.E. de Swart. Vacillation and predictability properties of low-order atmospheric spectral models. 1989. 61 P. de Jong. Central limit theorems for generalized multil-inear forms. 1989.

62 V.J. de Jong. A specification system for statistical software. 1989.

63 B. Hanzon. Identifiability, recursive identification and spaces of linear dynamical systems, part I. 1989.

64 B. Hanzon. Identifiability, recursive identification and spaces of linear dynamical systems, part II. 1989.

65 B.M.M. de Weger. Algorithms for diophantine equations. 1989

66 A. Jung. Cartesian closed categories of domains. 1989. 67 J.W. Polderman. Adaptive control & identification: Conflict or conflux?. 1989.

68 H.J. Woerdeman. Matrix and operator extensions. 1989.

69 B.G. Hansen. Monotonicity properties of infinitely divisible distributions. 1989.

70 J.K. Lenstra, H.C. Tijms, A. Volgenant (eds.). Twenty-five years of operations research in the Netherlands: Papers dedi-cated to Gijs de Leve. 1990.

71 P.J.C. Spreij. Counting process systems. Identification and stochastic realization. 1990.

72 J.F. Kaashoek. Modeling one dimensional pattern formation by anti-diffusion. 1990.

73 A.M.H. Gerards. Graphs and polyhedra. Binary spaces and cutting planes. 1990.

74 B. Koren. Multigrid and defect correction for the steady Navier-Stokes equations. Application to aerodynamics. 1991. 75 M.W.P. Savelsbergh. Computer aided routing. 1992.

76 O.E. Flippo. Stability, duality and decomposition in general mathematical programming. 1991.

.

77 A.J. van Es. Aspects of nonparametric density estimation. 1991.

78 G.A.P. Kindervater. Exercises in parallel combinatorial computing, 1992.

79 J.J. Lodder. Towards a symmetrical theory of generalized functions. 1991.

80 S.A. Smulders. Control of freeway traffic flow. 1993. 81 P.H.M. America, J.J.M.M. Rutten. A parallel object-oriented language: design and semantic foundations. 1992.

82 F. Thuijsman. Optimality and equilibria in stochastic games. 1992.

83 R.J. Kooman. Convergence properties of recurrence sequences. 1992.

84 A.M. Cohen (ed.), Computational aspects of Lie group representations and related topics. Proceedings of the 1990 Computational Algebra Seminar at CWI, Amsterdam. 1991.

85 V. de Valk. One-dependent processes. 1994. 86 J.A. Baars, J.A.M. de Groot. On topological and linear equivalence of certain function spaces. 1992.
87 A.F. Margar, 77

87 A.F. Monna. *The way of mathematics and mathematicians*. 1992.

88 E.D. de Goede. Numerical methods for the three-dimensional shallow water equations. 1993.

89 M. Zwaan. Moment problems in Hilbert space with applica-tions to magnetic resonance imaging. 1993.

90 C. Vuik. The solution of a one-dimensional Stefan problem. 1993.

91 E.R. Verheul. Multimedians in metric and normed spaces. 1993.

92 J.L.M. Maubach. Iterative methods for non-linear partial differential equations. 1993.

93 A.W. Ambergen. Statistical uncertainties in posterior pro-babilities. 1993. 94 P.A. Zegeling. Moving-grid methods for time-dependent partial differential equations. 1993.

95 M.J.C. van Pul. Statistical analysis of software reliability models. 1993.

96 J.K. Scholma. A Lie algebraic study of some integrable systems associated with root systems. 1993.

97 J.L. van den Berg. Sojourn times in feedback and processor sharing queues. 1993.

98 A.J. Koning. Stochastic integrals and goodness-of-fit tests. 1993.

99 B.P. Sommeijer. Parallelism in the numerical integration of initial value problems. 1993.

100 J. Molenaar. Multigrid methods for semiconductor device simulation. 1993.

101 H.J.C. Huijberts. Dynamic feedback in nonlinear synthesis problems. 1994.

102 J.A.M. van der Weide. Stochastic processes and point processes of excursions. 1994.